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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREM|E

On behalf of the Board of Huscoke Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Huscoke Resources Holdings Limited), | am pleased to present the annual
report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The PRC macroeconomy continued to maintain its stable growth and
favorable development trend in 2018, with its gross domestic product
exceeded RMBAO trillion for the first time, representing a year-on-year
increase of 6.6%. Among which, its gross industrial product increased by
6.1% year-on-year, showing a steady trend amid moderate growth. Along
with the continuous intensifying supply-side structural reforms and the
issuance of various government environmental policies throughout the year,
the restriction on production for environmental protection became normalized
and coke production capacity demonstrated an overall downward trend,
which resulted a concussion rise in coke prices. In addition, owing to
the policies on limiting production as well as the demand recovery in the
downstream sector, the coke and steel prices sustained at a relatively high
level, which also boosted the coke prices at the high level.

However, due to high coke prices, tightening environmental protection
policies and de-capacity policies, the coke inventory level recovered in
downstream steel factories, which reduced the coke purchasing volume.
On the other hand, the government paid high attention to environmental
protection and issued policies such as the “Three-year Action Plan for
Winning the Battle for a Blue Sky”, and tightened the environmental index of
production in the industry, which led to an increase in industry production
operating costs. The management strived to improve the operation
performance of the Group, strengthened cost control and risk management
and overcame the aforesaid market adverse factors successfully. We also
leveraged the advantages of the coke price and was able to maintain the

profit for the year that approximates to last year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE®|E

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

The Group recorded total revenue of approximately HK$1,478,049,000
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“FY2018"), representing a growth
of approximately 11.1% as compared to the same of approximately
HK$1,330,791,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017 (“FY2017").
Operating profit before interest and tax was approximately HK$178,132,000
in FY2018, representing a growth of approximately 32.3% as compared to
the operating profit before interest and tax of approximately HK$134,674,000
in FY2017. Profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$128,391,000 in FY2018, representing a growth of
approximately 8.9% as compared to the profit attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$117,898,000 in FY2017. Basic earnings per
share was 4.92 Hong Kong cents in FY2018, as compared to basic earnings
per share of 4.54 Hong Kong cents in FY2017.

PROSPECTS

The year of 2019 will be the inaugurated year of “de-capacity” in the coke
industry. Whilst the efforts on policies such as restricting production for
environmental protection may sustain, augmented by the policy that Shanxi
Province encourages coke enterprises to “Close the Small and Upgrade to
the Large”, it is expected to adjust the balance between supply and demand
in the market effectively. Nevertheless, along with the capacity optimization
in the coke industry, the concentration of overall industry chain will improve
significantly. Along with the improvement of capacity utilization, the Group’s
operation will also improve. The Group will pay close attention to the coke
market condition both domestically and abroad and will adjust our operation
and development strategy as appropriate in response to the challenges and
grasp the opportunities. Looking forward into 2019, it is full of prospects
despite hidden dangers.

Meanwhile, the PRC government has implemented a series of environmental
protection policies such as the “Three-year Action Plan for Winning the Battle
for a Blue Sky” to solve the air pollution problem. It is expected to put more
pressure on environmental governance of the coke industry. In response
to such tougher challenges exposed to our operation and production as
well as meeting the environmental standard imposed on the coke industry,
the Group will further upgrade its existing equipment and facilities so as to
achieve cleaner emissions.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREM|E

The Group will explore collaborative opportunities relating to the exiting
business and will integrate upstream and downstream assets and advanced
technologies that provide synergies to the current coke production business.
GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Limited (L % & M= 82 )R & R 2 A]), the joint
venture subsidiary under the Group (the “JV Subsidiary”) entered into a
debt transfer and conversion right agreement (the “Agreement”) with Shanxi
Jinyan Energy Technology Company Limited (IL 7% A 8RR BR D A))
(“Energy Technology”) and other companies and the personal guarantor on
31 December 2018. Pursuant to which, the JV Subsidiary shall be entitled to
convert the indebtedness into shares of not more than 12% of the enlarged
issued share capital of Energy Technology. Energy Technology is a project
entity of a coke project with annual capacity of 5 million tons of coke in Xiaoyi
City, Shanxi Province in the PRC. Meanwhile, the Group also entered into a
framework agreement with Energy Technology on 18 March 2018, planning
to take up the interests and control of Energy Technology gradually, so as
to expand the Group’s business scale, enhance production technology
and environmental standard in order to maintain the Group’s sustainable
development. At the same time, the Group will seek to broaden its business
horizons by pursuing other suitable investment opportunities to initiate the
growth point of new profit. We are confident that the Group will have a better
development in the future and expand investment opportunities to bring
long-term and stable returns for all our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere appreciation
to all Shareholders, for their continuous support and sincerely thank the
Directors and staff for their dedication and diligence. | also wish to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to the business cooperation partners,
long-term customers, banker and convertible bonds holders for their ongoing

support.

ZHAO Xu Guang

Chairman

28 March 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The PRC macro-economy continued to maintain a moderate growth in 2018
with the economic sentiment remained stable and optimistic. China’s coke
market first showed a stagnation and then an upswing, with frequent price
adjustments and broad volatility. Due to the frequent occurrence of pollution
incidents from coke enterprises throughout the year, the government paid
high attention to environmental protection, promulgating as well as propelling
various policies such as the “Three-year Action Plan for Winning the Battle
for a Blue Sky” which makes the restrictions of coke industry production for
environmental protection to become regular. The capacity utilization in the
coke industry kept at a low-level, which resulted a relatively intense situation
in overall coke supply and drove the coke price upwards.

On the other hand, due to the consistency of pricing trend in both the
upstream and downstream coke industry, the coal price continued to
increase under the influence of de-capacity policy and rising coke price, and
gross profit margin in coke industry became thinner and thinner accordingly.
At the same time, due to the frequent promulgation of various government
environmental policies throughout the year, the production environmental
standard was tightened. In response to market price fluctuation and
higher production costs, the management through measures in improving
production and operating efficiency and strengthened cost control, therefore
maintained similar profit of the Group for the year when compare with last

year.

In addition, the management has always attached great importance to
production safety and environmental protection, places huge efforts
in developing as an enterprise embracing safety and treasures the
environment, strictly complies with production safety and environment
related laws and regulations, as well as complying with national emission

standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRIN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue, gross profit margin, net profit, profit attributable to owners of
the Company and earnings per share

Total revenue of the Group for the year was approximately HK$1,478,049,000
(2017: HK$1,330,791,000), representing an increase of approximately
11.1% as compared to the same period of last year. The Group recorded
gross profit margin of approximately 16.6% for the year as compared to
approximately 16.0% in 2017. Profit for the year and profit attributable to
owners of the Company amounted to HK$145,981,000 and HK$128,391,000
respectively, as compared to the profit and profit attributable to owners
of the Company of approximately HK$131,913,000 and HK$117,898,000
respectively for the corresponding period in 2017. Basic earnings per share
for the year was 4.92 Hong Kong cents, as compared to the basic earnings
per share of 4.54 Hong Kong cents in 2017.

The Group is principally engaged in three business segments, namely: (i)
trading of coke (the “Coke Trading Segment”); (ii) washing of raw coal into
refined coal for sale and for further processing, and the sale of electricity and
heat which are generated as by-products that produced during the washing
of raw coal (the “Coal-related Ancillary Segment’); and (iii) processing
of refined coal into coke for sale, and sale of coke by-products that are
generated during coke production (the “Coke Production Segment”).

Coke Trading Segment

The Group is engaged in coke and coal trading business and principally
operates such business through Herong Resources Limited, a wholly-
owned company incorporated in Hong Kong, and a PRC subsidiary. The
PRC subsidiary operating the raw coal trading recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$35,884,000 in the coke trading business in 2018, whilst it
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$32,130,000 in 2017, an increase of
approximately 11.7%. The Group will still continue to explore the direct coke
trading business opportunities in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

Coal-related Ancillary Segment

The coal-related ancillary segment relates to the washing of raw coal to
produce refined coal for sale and for further processing, and the sale of
electricity and heat that are being generated as by-products during the
washing process of raw coal.

The de-capacity policy in the coal industry largely eliminated the old,
small-scale, inefficient and high carbon emissions domestic coal miners
and caused a decrease supply. Thus, the Group closely monitored the
market demands, and strived to improve the high-quality supply capacity.
However, the overall business declined slightly due to the supervision
of environmental protection issues, and led to the decrease in external
sales from approximately HK$109,619,000 in 2017 to approximately
HK$91,119,000 in 2018, representing a decrease of approximately 16.9%.
The segment loss of approximately HK$232,904,000 in 2018 (2017: segment
profit of approximately HK$33,935,000) was mainly due to the provision of
impairment loss on items of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$268,943,000 (2017: Nil).

Coke Production Segment

Given coke prices had sustained at a high level in 2018, the coke
production segment recorded an increase in revenue from approximately
HK$1,189,042,000 in 2017 to approximately HK$1,351,046,000 in 2018,
representing an increase of 13.6%. With raw material prices of the Group
relatively stable, the coke market and price also made segmented profit
in 2018, which increased from approximately HK$171,015,000 in 2017
to approximately HK$504,755,000 in 2018, including the reversal of
impairment loss on items of property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$367,996,000 (2017: HK$84,977,000).

Selling and Distribution Costs

The selling and distribution costs of the Group were mainly from the
Coke Production Segment. It decreased slightly from approximately
HK$146,429,000 in 2017 to approximately HK$137,637,000 in 2018,
representing a decrease of approximately 6.0%, which was due to the
similar long-distance transportation costs incurred to the customers in 2018
as compared to 2017.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$103,301,000 in 2018, representing an increase of 23.3% from
approximately HK$83,804,000 in 2017. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly attributable to the increase in professional fees and
staff costs for expanding potential investment business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRIN

Finance Costs

Finance costs of the Group mainly represented interest expenses of the
convertible bonds. The finance costs recorded by the Group decreased to
approximately HK$2,200,000 in 2018 from approximately HK$8,015,000 in
2017, which was mainly due to the restructure in relation to the convertible
bond issued in November 2016.

CHARGES OVER ASSETS
The Group had no pledged assets, including pledged deposit, as at 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize Shareholders’

value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light
of the changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Group may
adjust dividend payments to Shareholders, return capital to shareholders
or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or

processes for managing capital during the year ended 31 December 2018.

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise convertible bonds
and other borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, amounts due from non-controlling shareholder, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, and other payables and accruals, which arise

directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are foreign

currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees the

various policies for managing these risks and they are summarized below.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

The Group uses gearing ratio to monitor its capital conditions regularly,
which is being computed as net debts divided by the adjusted capital plus
net debts. Net debts include trade payables, other payables, accruals and
deposits received, other borrowings, convertible bonds, net of cash and
bank balances. Capital include the convertible bonds issued in 2016 and
equity attributable to owners of the Company. The gearing ratio as at 31
December 2018 was 64% (2017: 62%).

As at 31 December 2018, the equity attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to HK$513,001,000 (2017: HK$376,868,000). The equity
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately HK$0.19 per
share for the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$0.15 per share).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net current liabilities and current ratio were HK$74,822,000 (2017:
HK$26,541,000) and 0.92 (2017: 0.96) respectively as at 31 December
2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted to
HK$18,894,000 (2017: HK$69,655,000). The Group’s total other borrowings
and convertible bonds amounted to HK$18,188,000 (2017: HK$18,188,000)
and HK$43,526,000 (2017: HK$41,427,000) respectively.

As of 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no bills payable.

In order to improve the Group’s liquidity and cash flows to sustain the Group
as a going concern, the Group has adopted the following measures:

(a) On 13 February 2019, the Group and Rontac Resources Company
Limited, the holder of the 2017 Convertible Bonds with principal amount
of HK$43,277,000, entered into an agreement to extend the maturity
date of the 2017 convertible bonds for one year to 31 August 2020 with
all other terms and conditions remain unchanged. The extension is
subject to approval of Shareholders at a special general meeting held
on 9 April 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRIN

(b) The directors will consider to improve the financial position of the
Group (i) enlarge the capital base of the Company by conducting fund
raising exercises such as share placement or (i) obtain bank facilities
when necessary.

(¢) Management has used its best endeavor to improve the Group’s
operating results to attain positive operating cash flows. The Group’s
operation has been recovering in light of continuous improved market
demand for coke production in the PRC during the year. A gross
profit of approximately HK$245,821,000 (2017: HK$212,983,000)
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2018. The Group
continued to generate net cash inflows from its operations during the
year ended 31 December 2018. The directors of the Company believe
that the recovery momentum will continue and the operation will keep
contributing positive cash inflows to the Group in the foreseeable
future.

(d) Included in the current liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2018 is an amount of approximately HK$214,700,000 (2017:
HK$199,108,000) in relation to contract liabilities from contracts with
customers within HKFRS 15, majority of which will be recognised as
revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied. Taking into
account the estimated costs to be incurred in generating such revenue
with reference to gross profit ratio of around 16% for current year, the
management considered there is no other cash outflow impact to the
Group for such amount in the foreseeable future.

OPERATING LEASE AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had operating lease commitments of
HK$34,123,000 (2017: HK$10,579,000).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group didn't have any authorised, contracted,
but not provided for capital commitments (2017: HK$3,355,000) in respect
of plant and equipment acquisitions.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognizes its responsibility to ensure the Company maintains
a sound and effective risk management and internal control system. The
Group’s internal control system is designed and established to ensure that
assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal, relevant rules
and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable financial and
accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant accounting
standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may
have impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately identified and
managed. The review of the Group’s internal controls covers major financial,
operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management functions.
The internal control system can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure in achieving business
objectives.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

The Group's risk management framework includes risk identification, risk
assessment, risk treatment and monitoring and reviewing of the effectiveness
of the measures. This risk management framework is guided by the three-
tier risk management approach. At the first line of defence, business units
are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated
with each business or transaction. The management, as the second line of
defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical support, develops
new systems and oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are
within the acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the final line of defence, the audit committee of the Company, with the
professional advices and opinions from external professional consultant
by whom internal audit work of the Group was conducted on annual basis,
ensures that the first and second lines of defence are effective through

constant inspection and monitoring.

INTEREST RATE RISK

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to the changes in market interest rates. Cash flow interest
rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of the changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to short term cash
and bank balances. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
through the impact of interest rate changes on deposits. To minimize the fair
value interest rate risk, the Group keeps its borrowings with a fixed rate of
interest. The management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider

hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need arises.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are principally
denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from the monetary
assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than functional
currencies of the respective group entities.

The Group does not have any hedging instruments outstanding. The Group
will constantly review the economic situation and its foreign currency risk
profile, and will consider appropriate hedging measures in the future as may

be necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRIN

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities which have not been provided for in the financial statements (2017:
Nil).

TREASURY POLICIES
The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding
policies, with a focus on risk management and transactions that are directly

related to the underlying business of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had approximately 1,400 employees
(2017: approximately 1,500 employees), with 20 staff stationing in Hong
Kong and the rest are senior management and workers in Mainland China.
The Group’s staff costs amounted to approximately HK$95,317,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and approximately HK$73,999,000 was
recorded in 2017.

Employees are remunerated according to job nature and market trends, with
built-in merit component incorporated in annual increment and year-end
performance bonus to reward and motivate individual performance. As at 31
December 2018, there are 10,400,000 share options outstanding under the
share option scheme. Particulars and details of the movement of the share
option schemes of the Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at the date of this report, there are 6,400,000 share
options outstanding.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward into 2019, the potency of policies such as production
restriction for environmental protection may sustain. Affected by
environmental protection policies, capacity utilization in the coke industry will
continue to keep the operation at a low level. And at the same time, Shanxi
province encourages the coke enterprises to either “Close the Small and
Upgrade to the Large” and supports using advanced capacity to replace
outdated capacity. The gradual release of new capacity may lead to a
phased mismatch of coke supply. The continuous demands of downstream
steel industry will give a strong support to coke price. At the same time, the
series of policies such as industrial optimization of coke industry and ultra-
low emission restriction will significantly increase capacity elimination in
the coke industry, improve restriction industry concentration and capacity
utilization, in which it will offer favorable support in cost control and profit
distribution.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

On the other hand, owing to the promulgation of various government
environmental policies, restriction on production for environmental protection
to be regular in coke industry and amid increasing regulation requirements
from the PRC government towards the coke industry, the Group will face
tougher challenges and pressure in its production operation. We may
continue to increase our effort in environmental protection and production
safety and respond to the call for “the Battle for a Blue Sky” to ensure

domestic environmental and production requirements are complied with.

In order for the Group to achieve sustainable development and business
growth, the management has been actively exploring investment
opportunities related to its existing businesses, so as to expand our
production scale, upgrade production technology and enhance
environmental standard. In addition, we will commence new businesses that
have competitive advantages and development potentials in other sectors,
S0 as to improve business competitiveness and create a stable profit stream
in the long-run and generates long-term investment return for Shareholders.

REMARKS ON THE ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE EDB AUDIT ISSUES
The Company only first became aware of that EDB Holding might not be
able to complete the audit of its consolidated financial statements prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
for the year ended 31 December 2018 (“EDB Audited F/S”) before the
publication of the Company’s 2018 annual results on or around 14 February
2019 and was not aware of such incident at the time of the acquisition.
Based on the Company’s understanding, the main reasons why EDB Holding
could not complete its audit for the year ended 31 December 2018 before
the Company’s 2018 annual results was published were: the main operating
entities of EDB Holding and its subsidiaries (collectively the “EDB Group”)
were established in the PRC and did not prepare financial statements in
accordance with HKFRSs. The EDB Group has not prepared its audited
PRC accounts since it is not mandatory statutory requirements for the EDB
Group to prepare audited PRC accounts. As such, the EDB Group did not
have experience or expertise in preparing relevant financial statements and
the EDB Group also took time to engage its appropriate auditors (“EDB
Auditors”). Moreover, there were staff changes in finance department of the
EDB Group, which further caused delay for the audit.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWRIN

The Company has been through its board representative in EDB Holding
to urge EDB Holding to engage suitable auditors, i.e. EDB Auditors and
complete its audit in time. In order to resolve the issue in respect of
completion of audit of EDB Holding before the publication of the Company’s
2018 annual results, after the meeting between the Company and the
auditors on 26 February 2019, the financial controller of the Company did
arrange the auditor to attend the office of EDB Holding in Beijing during
the period from 4 March 2019 to 5 March 2019 with an objective to perform
necessary audit procedures on EDB Holding by the auditor. However, EDB
Holding was not able to provide the financial statements of the EDB Group
in time and the auditors could not perform the required audit procedures for
the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has engaged Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) to
perform financial analysis of the EDB Group for the year ended 31 December
2015, 2016 and 2017 before completion of the acquisition. The management
account(s) for the above financial years of the EDB Group have been
provided by the EDB Group and reviewed by Deloitte and the Company. The
scope of works by Deloitte was summarized as below:

(a) Analysis of financial information for the year ended 2015, 2016 and
2017

(b) Internal financial controls for the year ended 2017
(c) Tax compliance review for the year ended 2017

There are terms with sufficient protective measures for the Company
contained in the relevant agreements. Under the Subscription Agreement
(as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 20 July 2018),
EDB Holding shall be obliged to provide the Company the audited
financial statements on or before 45 days after the financial year ended 31
December. The provision of audited financial statements of the EDB Group
prepared under HKFRSs is one of the post-acquisition obligations on the
part of EDB Holding under the SPA (as defined in the announcement of the
Company dated 20 July 2018) and the Subscription Agreement. Otherwise
the Company can request for the exercise of the right as stipulated under the
relevant agreements, amongst others, such as Redemption Right which has
been disclosed in sections heading “Repurchase of Subscription Shares”
and “Repurchase of Sales Shares” in the announcement of the Company
dated 20 July 2018. The Company can exercise the Redemption Right in
the event that the aggregate audited consolidated after-tax net profits of the
EDB Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2018 be less than
RMB30,000,000. The Company will determine whether or not to exercise the
Redemption Right after receipt of the EDB Audited F/S. The Consideration
Shares (as defined in the announcement of the Company dated 20 July
2018) are still pledged to the Company as at the date hereof. The Group will
consider whether or not to enforce the share charge of the Consideration
Shares after receipt of the EDB Audited F/S. Meanwhile, the Company
has not yet settled the outstanding consideration of RMB40 million of the
acquisition. The Board will determine as to when to settle the outstanding
consideration after EDB Holding has provided the EDB Audited F/S to the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWRTN

Pursuant to the fact that EDB Holding had not yet completed its audited
consolidated financial statements before publishing the 2018 annual
results of the Company which led to the lack of reliable and relevant
financial information of EDB Holding for incorporating into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
Company’s interest in EDB Holding had not been accounted for using the
equity method. The audit committee originally believed that the investments
in EDB Holding (the “Investment”) could alternatively be accounted for
at cost method because of the relatively short period of time between the
acquisition and the financial year-end (i.e. approximately one month). The
issue of not adopting the equity method to account for the Investment was
brought to discussion with the auditor by the Board and the audit committee
and it was concluded that the equity method should be adopted to account
for the Investment in accordance with HKFRSs. However, due to lack of
reliable financial information from EDB Holding, the Investment was stated
at cost, for which the auditor issued a qualified opinion accordingly. The
audit committee of the Company has reviewed and agreed with the Board'’s
position on the qualified opinion.

The Company has urged EDB Holding to complete its audit works soon
and based on the reply from EDB Holding, Zhongxinghua Certified Public
Accountants LLP is the EDB Auditor in order to prepare EDB Audited F/S
and it is expected that such audit works and EDB Audited F/S can be
completed in or around May 2019. The Company will provide the EDB
Audited F/S, along with other relevant financial information of EDB Holding
for the equity accounting of the Investment to the auditor.

The Company has nominated its representatives as two of the directors
of EDB Holding, who will take measures to monitor and ensure that EDB
Holding would provide its audited financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs and other financial information for the equity accounting of the
Investment to the Company in a timely manner in the future. Provided that
the EDB Audited F/S is acceptable to the Board, the Board believes that
EDB Holding should also be able to provide its HKFRS audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019 to the Company.
The Board believes that the qualified opinion for financial year ending 31
December 2019 shall not recur in this respect if the auditor could obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on accounting for the Investment
and related items at the date of the acquisition and subsequently. The
auditor is in agreement with the Board'’s view in this regard. Alternatively,
the Board may also consider the option of exercising its rights as stipulated

under the relevant agreements.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEEECBEFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 55, was appointed as an executive
Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 17 November 2016 and was appointed as
Chief Executive Officer on 2 May 2017. Mr. Zhao has more than 20 years of
experience in business executive and management. Mr. Zhao worked for the
Ministry of Foreign Trade and Economic Cooperation of the PRC. Mr. Zhao
also acted as chairman, general manager and director of various enterprises
specializing in trading, investment, property and in the energy field. Mr.
Zhao served as chairman and executive director of Titan Petrochemicals
Group Limited (“Titan Petrochemicals”), the shares of which are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1192) from July 2012 to
September 2015. Mr. Zhao graduated from Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies with a Bachelor of Economics degree.

Mr. SO Chiu Fung (“Mr. So”), aged 40, has been appointed as an executive
Director since 7 September 2018. Mr. So is acting deputy general manager
of Fruitful International Investment Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
and responsible for investment business of the Group. He also holds other
positions in subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. So has extensive experience in
finance and investment, including but not limited to industries of information
technology and natural resources. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. So served
as vice president at China Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited for
private equity investments and fund management. Mr. So also worked at
Ricco Capital Holdings Limited during which he participated in international
and domestic direct investments and served as index analyst at Morgan
Stanley Capital International Inc.. Mr. So holds a bachelor of engineering in
information systems engineering from Imperial College, London and also a

master degree of finance from the University of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENREEECBEFE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Hung, Patrick (“Mr. Wong”), aged 63, was appointed as an
executive Director and served as director of subsidiaries of the Group with
effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Joint General
Manager and Authorized Representative on 17 November 2016 and re-
designated as General Manager on 25 November 2016 and subsequently
re-designated as non-executive Director and resigned as Authorized
Representative on 9 April 2018. Mr. Wong has more than 30 years of working
experience in banking, finance, commodity trading and project development.
Mr. Wong was an executive director of Titan Petrochemicals between 2008
and 2015. Mr. Wong was the senior vice president of Commodity and Trade
Finance at Societe Generale Singapore and the chief executive officer in
the China Division of Louis Dreyfus Group, a global commodity trading firm.
Mr. Wong has been an associate member of Chartered Institute of Bankers,
United Kingdom, fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
since 1 April 2017 and member of the Institute of Management Consultants
Hong Kong since 1 August of the same year and qualified as Certified
Management Consultant. Mr. Wong holds a Master's degree in Applied
Finance from Macquarie University, Australia and completed the Executive
Diploma in Management Consulting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University on 12 October 2017.

Mr. HUANG Man Yem (“Mr. Huang”), aged 44, was appointed as a non-
executive Director with effect from 3 November 2016. Mr. Huang is a member
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Huang has
more than 15 years of working experience in corporate development and
restructuring, corporate establishment and M&A projects, and capital market
transactions (i.e. equities and bonds/debts) on the stock exchanges of
Hong Kong and Singapore respectively. Mr. Huang is currently the general
manager of the Shanghai branch office of Expert Systems IVR (Asia) Co.
Ltd., a Hong Kong based subsidiaries of Asia-Pacific Region Unified
Communications solution provider engaged in Unified Communications
solutions development and corporate establishment consultant business.
Mr. Huang was also a former member of the senior management of
Titan Petrochemicals from April 2002 to May 2014. Mr. Huang holds a
Master’s degree of Corporate Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and a Bachelor of Engineering in Electronic Engineering from City
University of Hong Kong.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEEECBEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TO Wing Tim, Paddy (“Mr. To”), aged 66, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since October 2009. Mr. To is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. To obtained his Diploma
in Accountancy from the University of Hong Kong in 1991 and has over 30
years of experience in auditing, accounting and finance industry. Mr. To
has been practicing as a certified public accountant in Hong Kong since
1980. Mr. To is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate member of the Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and an associate member of the Association of Certified General
Accountants in Canada.

Mr. LAM Hoy Lee, Laurie (“Mr. Lam”), aged 60, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director since September 2008. Mr. Lam
is a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, and
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Lam has 30 years of
experience in legal field working as a solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Lam is a
practicing solicitor of Hong Kong and non-practicing solicitor of Singapore
and a non-practicing solicitor and non-practicing counsel of Australia.

Dr. WANG Wei Hsin (“Dr. WANG”), aged 53, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 19 December 2018. Dr.
Wang is a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Wang has extensive management
experience in the financial services industry. Dr. Wang served as the chief
executive officer of South China Financial Holdings Limited (“South China
Financial’), a company the issued shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 619), and certain subsidiaries of South China
Financial from May 2016 to October 2018, and served as executive director
of South China Financial from March 2017 to October 2018. Dr. Wang served
as the chairman and chief executive officer of SinoPac Securities (Asia)
Limited and was responsible for the business development and operations in
Asia from 2009 to 2016. Dr. Wang also served as the chief investment officer
of Japan CDW Group and the chief financial officer of its Taiwan subsidiary,
as well as co-founder of Yes-Asia.com and played significant role in China
Development Industrial Bank. Dr. Wang held a PhD in Management Science
(Financial Engineering) from Imperial College London and researched
artificial intelligence and financial big data. Dr. Wang was the fellow of Royal
Society of Statistics during 1999 to 2000.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREERCEBREHE

COMPANY SECRETARY DEAWE

Mr. LI Chi Chung (“Mr. Li”), aged 50, was appointed as the Company ZEHEEE ((ZEX4E])  BF50m AT
Secretary on 25 November 2016. Mr. Li is a solicitor practising in Hong —AFE+—F -+ RABEZTARARME - T4
Kong and the founder partner of Michael Li & Co. He obtained the bachelor & A& B H £ R & AT R EMER 2 &l
degree in laws from University of Sheffield in England in 1990 and was A& A - FR— NN EERSEEHFRELE
admitted as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in 1993. Mr. Li has ARBLTEf EER—NWN=FEEBERA
more than 25 years of experience in legal field, extensive experience in AR E AR TR LEBEZ N B FAEER
advising corporate governance of listed companies, compliance of Listing EfA LT AGRECEERER  FALMmA
Rules and other applicable Laws of Hong Kong. In addition to acting as BIREEHMERZEZAELALELH - Th4
company secretary and legal adviser of various listed companies, Mr. Lialso ~ BRETZE LM AR Z A RMEMEARZBRN
acts as major speaker in public forums relating to listing matters in Hong ~ MAZE LT EEHBEZ AR TENTEEE -
Kong.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report, the CG Report and the
ESG Report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in coke trading business, coal-related ancillary business and coke
production business. The activities of each of its principal subsidiaries are
set out in note 1 of the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Overview and Financial Performance

The review of the Group’s business and financial performance for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are provided in the section “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS" in this annual report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

1. Risk arising from fluctuating prices of coke and coal
A large portion of our revenue is derived from the sale of coke. The
coke is primarily priced based on prevailing market prices and by
reference to various other factors that are applicable to individual
customers. Historically, market prices for coke have fluctuated
substantially and the average selling price of the Group’s coke
declined which was in line with the declining trend of the market price
of coke. Therefore, the coke price of the Group and the market price
may not be stable.

The Group’s main production costs are the coking coal and the
manufacturing costs is relatively stable. The Group has closely
monitored the market price of coke and coking coal and the changes
in the spread of between these prices is highly sensitive. Trends in the
market price of the coking coal and the coke may not correlate to one
another. When the coke market price has declined, the Group may
not able to lower its cost of production on the same pace as the rate
of decline in coal price. Vice versa, the increase in coal market price
may not have a corresponding increase in the coke price of the Group.
The underlying situation could adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and operations.

In response to this risk factor, the management of the Group will closely
monitor the economic environment and adopt corresponding measures
such as adjustment of production plans and enhancement of cost

monitoring.
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Risks in association with changes in the Chinese government
policies and regulations

Coke production in China is subjected to extensive laws, regulations
and government policies. The obligations and requirements associated
with these laws, regulations, responsibilities of government policies,
relevant fees and social responsibilities may have a major impact
on the Group’s operation. In particular, the Chinese government in
recent years has been strengthening its environmental control and
enforcement which include implementing a series of measures to
reduce production capacity, tightening environmental standard and
delay the time period for coking coal to curb overcapacity which may
adversely affect the production, business, operation of the Group.
Furthermore, the Group will be responsible for the clean-up if the
operation results in contamination at the production facilities. Such
clean-up may impose substantial costs.

In response to this risk factor, the management regards environmental
protection and control as one of its principal responsibilities and if
necessary, the Group shall invest and upgrade its existing equipment
and facilities to achieve the domestic environmental standards.

Risk arising from safety management

The Group’s businesses are all of high hazardous nature and of
complex uncertainties which is potentially destructive and explosive.
The Group stores, handles and transports volatile, flammable,
hazardous liquid and gaseous chemical products, such as benzene,
tar, sulphuric acid and coal gas. Improper handling of these materials
and products can cause danger such as fires, explosions which lead

property loss, personal injuries, death and possible legal liabilities.

In response to this risk factor, the management will adopt stringent
safety management policy and control system, reinforcement of
installing safety warnings, and reinforcement safety education, promote

safety skills training and improve employees’ safety awareness.
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Future Business Development

Looking ahead at 2019, with stability China’s infrastructure development,
the demand for coke in the steel industry shall remain stable. The coking
industry faces Chinese government’s policies of restrict production capacity,
environmental protection controls and the government of Shanxi Province
which encourages coking enterprises to “Close the Small and Upgrade to
the Large”, it is expected to adjust the balance between supply and demand
in the market effectively. The Group shall closely monitor the domestic and
international market of coke industry, adjust its business strategy in a timely
manner to overcome challenges and seize potential opportunity. In addition,
the Group shall consolidate its relationship with existing customers, further
develop new markets and expand the customer bases.

In addition, the Group places major emphasis and commitment to social
responsibilities, embraces production safety and environmental protection
controls. Attributable to environmental protection measures such as the
“Three-Year Action Plan for Winning the Battle for a Blue Sky” to speed up
the improvement of air quality, these measures have inevitably escalated the
pressure of the Group in meeting the relevant environmental standards as
required in the coking industry. The Group shall further invest and upgrade
its existing equipment and facilities in the future to meet the domestic
environmental standards as well as to achieve cleaner emissions.

To achieve a sustainable business operation and development for the Group,
management will not only seek cooperation and investment opportunities
in line with the exiting business but also to develop new businesses with
competitive advantages and development potential. The Group plans to
gradually acquire the interests and control of Energy Technology to expand
the scale of the Group’s business, enhance its production technology whilst
meeting the environmental standards. Energy Technology represents a
coke production project located in Xiaoyi City of Shanxi Province, China with
targeted annual production capacity of 5 million tons.

The Group shall constantly identify other potential investment opportunities

in the course of expanding its business activities, enhance profitability and
ultimately generate a long-term stable and positive returns to Shareholders.
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Key Relationships with our Stakeholders
The Group strives to maintain harmonious relationship with its stakeholders,

including but not limited to, its customers, suppliers and employees.

1. Customers
The Group continuously pays attention to strengthen and sustain the
relationship with its major customers and ensure customer satisfaction
by providing quality products and services to customers.

2. Suppliers
The Group has established long-term, effective and mutual beneficial
working relationships with the major suppliers to ensure stable and

sustainable supplies for the businesses of the Group.

3. Employees

Employees are regarded as one of the most important and valuable
assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resource
management is to reward and recognize performing staff by providing
a competitive remuneration package and implementing a sound
performance appraisal system with appropriate incentives, and to
promote career development and progression by appropriate training
and providing opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
periodically reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. The
principle of the Group’s remuneration policy is fairness, motivating,
performance-oriented and market-competitive. Apart from salaries,
medical insurance, discretionary bonuses and retirement benefit
scheme, the Group has also adopted share option schemes for its
employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
with reference to their contributions.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s key business operation
in Shanxi Province strictly complied with applicable regulations, laws,
and standards related to environmental and social aspects. The Group
continues to invest in state-of-the-art facilities and implement emission
control schemes to further reduce on-site emissions. At a broader societal
scale, the Group has been providing 31% of heating demand for the local
residents and indirectly reduced the air emissions from burning crude coal
as a heating source by local farmers. Engagement with stakeholders has
resulted in raised concerns on key material issues, including, air emissions,
wastewater, energy and water consumption, occupational health and
safety, employment, training and development. The Group will continue to
identify areas of improvement for the concerned aspects and keep close
communication with its stakeholders for advancing environment, social and

governance management.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiary
in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our
establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with all applicable
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report, the Board considers the
Group has complied with all the applicable laws and regulations in the PRC
and Hong Kong.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 195.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
The Company’s reserves available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31
December 2018 were as follows:
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Under the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the contributed surplus account
of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus
if (a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they
become due; or (b) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts. As at 31 December 2018, the Company had no reserve
available for distribution to Shareholders (2017: Nil).

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company committed to provide stable and sustainable returns to
Shareholders and endeavours to maintain stable dividend policy whilst
maintaining an equitable balance between returns to Shareholders and
investment for sustaining growth. In recommending a dividend, the
Company shall take into account the expected future capital requirements,
growth opportunities available to the Group, net earnings of the Group,
and in compliance with all applicable laws, rules and regulations and in
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company who were in office during the year ended 31
December 2018 and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. So Chiu Fung (appointed on 7 September 2018)

Mr. Li Baogi (appointed on 9 April 2018 and resigned on 7 September 2018)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick (re-designated from executive Director to
non-executive Director on 9 April 2018)

Mr. Huang Man Yem

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin (appointed on 19 December 2018)
Mr. Lau Ka Ho (resigned on 14 December 2018)

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr.
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick and Mr. Huang Man Yem will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Pursuant to bye-law 102(B) of the Bye-Law of the Company and subsequent
to their appointments on 7 September 2018 and 19 December 2018
respectively, Mr. So Chiu Fung and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin will hold office until
the following AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section heading
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT”
on pages 18 1o 21 of this annual report.

UPDATES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B (1) of the Listing Rules and the Companies
(Directors’ Report) Regulation, Chapter 622D of Hong Kong Laws, the
updates of information of the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2018 and up to the date of this report are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Updates

RIBEARQ B AL AARRISE 102(B) ik - B R T
ARTHRFELAINR_F-NFAALARZ
E-N\E+-_ATNBEZERZEHEEET
ERRBEFAGRL ERENAEABLEES
BEL
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RMESEN

B E W8 BIE 13.51B(1) 15 R &8I E 622D
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Y B
Mr. Li Baoqi e Appointed as executive Director on 9 April 2018 and entitled to receive a monthly director fee
FEREE of HK$110,000

o RIZE-N\FNANBEZTANTEZTUERUNEZFEELE A 10,0008 7T

o Resigned as executive Director on 7 September 2018 due to other personal commitment

s RIZF\FNAALRASHFEMEAZBMEEIRTES

Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick e

Re-designated from executive Director to non-executive Director and adjusted monthly salary

s RNITF-\FEHANBHATEFHEIAENTES  HAFAEE150008T

Appointed as executive Director on 7 September 2018 and entitled to receive a monthly

s RIF-\FNALREZERATESTTARKNEZHEEEAB2000/8T

Resigned as independent non-executive Director on 14 December 2018 due to personal

Appointed as independent non-executive Director on 19 December 2018 and entitled to

HOMWEE to HK$15,000 on 9 April 2018
Mr. So Chiu Fung o
BB EE director fee of HK$82,000
Mr. Lau Ka Ho o
ARTRE employment issue
o RIZ-NEF-ATHBRBEARBHEMHEBLIENTES
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin o
FTHIEL receive a monthly director fee of HK$10,000

e RIFE-\EF+-ATNREZERBUFNTEZLARUMESEEE A 10,0008 T
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors will retire and offer themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM
do not have an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation. All other
Directors are not appointed for specific terms and are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considered all of the independent non-
executive Directors are independent for the year ended 31 December 2018
and up to the date of this report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company has in force
the permitted indemnity provisions in the Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance maintained for the Group to indemnify the Directors against all
losses and liabilities which may sustain or incur while acting in his capacity
as Director in accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company and the
Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED SECURITIES
During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities on the Stock Exchange, any other stock exchange, by
private arrangement or by general offer.

SHARE CAPITAL

In July 2018, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered
into sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party and
the Company allot 129,831,263 ordinary shares to Massive Light Limited at
the market price of HK$0.26 each. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 29 March 2018, 20 July 2018, 6
August 2018 and 30 November 2018.

Saved as disclosed above, there was no issue nor other change in the
share capital of the Company. Details of movements in the share capital of
the Company and share issued during the year, together with the reasons
therefore, are set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

EEZRBEH
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BEEE s ESHBERRQRSATMAMEAF
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EETEREEFHRE  HARARAZR
RBFAG LWESRY o] ERET-

g

Bt 2w

ARACEERBUIFRTESRREMARAE
SIBGBELEMABYUZ FEER - AARR
B ERAVHHTEENEE_T-N\Ft=
A=T-RULFEREEAHEAHHEEL -

BEFRERX
BE_Z-\5+_A=+—-RLFE 1’EE
ERBIEZRRAABEERRT 2BEFR
BHRXEEEM  UBARABEESTHENES
SR EBARR 2 DR ANREERRGOTTE
BRI I BR—NBERRAE -

BE HEIBELTES
BE-_T-\E+_A=Z+—HALFE AQ7F
ok E A ] B 2 A AR 4B R Bt A2 BT s (A oA 3B 5
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R-ZE-N\FLtH ARA-HEE2EMNEB
ARIE-RBUE=NAILEEHE LD

EEekRo26BTMEMRBER A AIEEARA
129,831,263 L@ - R H 2 FIFEH M B H
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DEBENTURES

The Company issued two tranches of zero coupon convertible bonds, each
with a principal amount of HK$1,100,000,000, to Mr. Wu Jixian on 16 May
2008 (the “Tranche 1 Bonds”) and on 31 October 2008 (the “Tranche 2
Bonds”) (collectively, the “2008 Convertible Bonds”). On 20 January 2017,
the remaining Tranche 2 Bonds had a carrying amount of HK$550,050,000
with principal amount of HK$386,000,000 were converted into 193,000,000
shares of the Company.

On 2 November 2016, the Company issued convertible bonds in principal
amount of HK$43,277,000 to Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co.,
Limited with interest at 2.5% per annum and mature 1 year from issue date
and extended to 2 May 2018 per agreement on 30 December 2016 (the
“2016 Convertible Bonds”). On 22 December 2017, an amendment letter
was made to alter certain terms of the 2016 Convertible Bonds (the “2017
Convertible Bonds”), amongst others, extend the maturity date to 31 August
2019 (the “Amendment’). The Amendment was approved respectively by
the Stock Exchange and by the Shareholders on 5 February 2018.

On 8 March 2018, Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co., Limited transferred
the convertible bonds to Rontac Resources Company Limited, being the
direct holding company of Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co., Limited.
As at the date of this report, Rontac Resources Company Limited is
deemed to be interested in 144,256,976 conversion shares of the Company,
representing approximately 5.29% of the total issued share capital of the
Company, under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

On 13 February 2019, the Group and Rontac Resources Company
Limited, the holder of the 2017 Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$43,277,000, entered into an agreement to extend the maturity date of the
2017 convertible bonds for one year to 31 August 2020 with all other terms
and conditions remain unchanged. The extension is subject to approval of

Shareholders at a special general meeting held on 9 April 2019.
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The 2017 Convertible Bonds carrying amount as at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately HK$43,526,000 (carrying amount of the 2017
Convertible Bonds at 31 December 2017: HK$41,427,000). Details of the
movement of the convertible bonds of the Company issued during the year
ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) which
became effective on 31 May 2002 for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible employees, and was already expired on
30 May 2012. On 28 March 2013, a new share option scheme (the “2013
Scheme”) was passed by way of an ordinary resolution in a special general
meeting. The 2013 Scheme lasts for a period of ten years and will expire on
27 March 2023. Under the 2002 Scheme and the 2013 Scheme, the Board
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors of the Group, to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

Particulars and details of the movement of the share option schemes of the
Company are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

—tENBAREEFR _T-NE+_A
=+ —BZIREEYA43,526,0008 L (ZF
—+EURRELFR _T—+E+_A=1+—H
Zmﬁﬁfﬁ 141,427,000/ 7T) © AN A B AT AR (B
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B %Wﬁ/\ﬁﬁ%#&ﬂﬁﬂu o
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FEA=TREM R-Z-—=F=A-tN\RA~
HBRAER S ([ Z2-=F5t 8 CRBRRE
AIAE LREEBRERBE  — T =F585
B+ IH#B’\_v__i AZ+tLRE#® -
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As at year ended 31 December 2018, movement of share options granted to

REE-_Z-N\F+A=+—HUEFE BT

certain Directors and eligible employees are set out below: EERAERREBER T ERBEZDFEH
FlanR
Number of share options
BRAEHE
Exercise price
Date of grant At1 Exercised Lapsed At31 on share
of share January during during December  Exercise period of options
options 2018 the year the year 2018  share options HKS per share
RZB-N& BREE
BRI RZB-NF tZA EREE ke
it A8 -A-8 ERfTE EREN =t-B &8 ghiEn
Li Baogi 5 September 2014 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 6 September 2014 - 0.66
(appointed on ZE-MENATA 5 September 2019
9 April 2018 and ZE-MENARRZE
resigned on 7 —E-NENATA
September 2018)
28R
(RZZ-N\EHEA
NBERETR_F
—“\ENALRRE)
4,000,000 - - 4,000,000
Other employees 5 September 2014 6,400,000 - - 6,400,000 6 September 2014 - 0.66
EfhES “Z-MEAATR 5 September 2019
ZZ-MEAARBEE
ZZ-NFENATR
6,400,000 - - 6,400,000
10,400,000 - - 10,400,000
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES” and convertible bonds under
“DEBENTURES” as disclosed above and in notes 28 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing shares nor require the Company to enter
into an agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares
was entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted as at 31
December 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws of the
Company or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group and Directors is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to
Directors and eligible employees. Details of the scheme are set out in
section heading “SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES” in this report and in note 28
to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all of its employees employed in Hong Kong.

MATERIAL INTERESTS IN SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a
Director or the substantial Shareholder of the Company nor their respective
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors of the Company had any interest in any competing
business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended
31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections heading “DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS” and “SHARE OPTION SCHEMES” in this report,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the directors of the
Company or their spouse or minor children had any rights to subscribe for
the securities of the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the

year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)

contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

EECHREBES
BEALNFEEREBE T \F+_A=1—
AIEFERERAARARISEEMMERRFER
F AT RS 2 s

EEBARGEES 2T
BAREEEREIBTHAR | KB
B BHMBEEIN  RFREAER-
ARBHEAMIE R R ES B EM R -
SESAHBAALAREAEMEAERZR
aErmEs  ARARAEFARF 2 RBIAR
W N\BRZFRIRER B EM ] RBARRE
FZEMEERFERTTREMZFER -

EERFETBAEZHES

RZE-NF+ZA=+—H FEFRAD
AEETHRABRARAIREERZE (EER
B NHBEGOIFEXVE) ZBH - HERD RE
FH - BARRARRAREE 7RG GRS
2R AT HFEZERM  HRE LA RIAH
IMETAESETESRHOEETA([RE
FR) EHEARARBR A BEIARIT

Long positions in shares of the Company RADERGB2I1FR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of issued share
Name of Director Nature of interest shares held capital
HEBRTRA
N RmtE FrisRMEE BMABDE
Zhao Xu Guang Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 1,400,000,000 51.35%

B THEB 2 S (Fita)

To Wing Tim, Paddy Beneficial owner and Interest of spouse (Note b) 232,000 0.01%

HAGR EnBB AN BES (Hitb)

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHE

Notes: B -

(a) As at 31 December 2018, the interests were held by Shun Wang Investments — (a) RZ-ZE—/\F+-A=+—H ZZEzdIBIH

Limited which in turn was wholly owned by Mr. Zhao Xu Guang. Accordingly, REFRAAIFFE  MIEFREFR L A/
Mr. Zhao was deemed to be interested in 1,400,000,000 shares of the Company HIEELEHE - Bt IRIEFFRBENEGIE
under the Part XV of the SFO. XVES #8554 # 47 FE R 1,400,000,000 2 & 12 7]

(b) As at 31 December 2018, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, an independent non-  (b) R-FE—NE+-HA=+—H BUHHTEE
executive Director, together with his spouse, respective holding of 60,000 HAGRE 4 B U5 7 FIIF5 B 60,0008 7 2 A1 R
Shares and 172,000 Shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. To Wing Tim, R 172,000 K 2 alfR (7 o Bt - RIFEFEH K
Paddy is deemed to have interest in 232,000 Shares of the Company under Part BB EPIEXVED - 1K IE 4 4 (ER 232,000
XV of the SFO. RAELGIRA P HEF#m -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors B EXFIEEZEN RZT—N\F+-_A=+—
nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an interest or short B @ SEHERART T BTHABMER KA T
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company sk EE(AHEHEZE (T& LESH XBEEHEXV
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the ~ 2f) 2% - BER MO LEHT  BLHERE
SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, &% & EIE 140155 352 (K78 Frosr 2l gUA R -
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuantto  S(ARBIZE ST BIE M@ AR 5] R B <2 7 2 BERS 3k
the Model Code. R o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS’

INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of each person,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions in which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the
register kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, were as follows:

(A) Long positions in shares of the Company:

FERRREMAL z#EZ

R-_ZE—N\F+-A=+—H8 &AL (EEK
RREEETHABRIN RARF] 2B k8
BROT  BERBEESRBAEHKIEXVIHE?
REIDBENGARA BRIz BEmRAR
(AEREREESF RPRERIZFERIHEE
SRIEEAZRERAR) KL ARARIRIE
FH LB KAIE 336 KT E 2 B2 @R
KEWT

(A) RADARBZER:

Approximate
Percentage of

Number of issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest shares held capital

e BT

iR BRAHL

BRI A BamtE #E BOt

Substantial Shareholders: FTERF:

Shun Wang Investments Limited Beneficial owner (Note) 1,400,000,000 51.35%
JERE #2 & AR 2 A BEEEBAHZ)

Zhao Xu Guang Interest of a controlled corporation (Note) 1,400,000,000 51.35%

HE AR 2 s (i)
Note: As at 31 December 2018, the interests were held by Shun Wang Wiet -

Investments Limited which in turn was wholly owned by Mr. Zhao
Xu Guang. Accordingly, Mr. Zhao was deemed to be interested in
1,400,000,000 shares of the Company under the Part XV of the SFO.
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(B) Long positions in underlying shares of the Company:

(B) RAELQAHBBARMGBZIFA

Approximate
Number of Percentage of

underlying issued share

Name of holder Nature of interest shares held capital

EE BT

AR BRABE A

BFEARSE EHRMEE ROEE BAt

Rontac Investment Company Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note a) 144,256,976 5.56%
THEE 2 s (fita)

Rontac Resources Company Limited Interest of a controlled corporation (Note b) 144,256,976 5.56%
MRERERATA] T EE 2 s (Hatp)

Notes: Wit -
(a)  On 8 March 2018, the 2016 Convertible Bonds in aggregate principle (8 RZFE-NF=ZANH X2#HEH

amount of HK$43,277,000 were transferred from Kailuan (Hong Kong)
International Co., Limited to Rontac Resources Company Limited. As at
31 December 2018, Rontac Resources Company Limited held the 2016
Convertible Bonds in aggregate principal amount of HK$43,277,000.
Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the convertible bonds, the
current conversion price of HK$0.3 per ordinary share, Rontac Resources
Company Limited is entitled to subscribe for 144,256,976 ordinary shares
of the Company upon exercise of conversion right in full. Accordingly,
Rontac Resources Company Limited is beneficial interests in 144,256,976
underlying shares of the Company.

(b) At as 31 December 2018, Rontac Resources Company Limited is wholly
owned by Rontac Investment Company Limited. Accordingly, Rontac
Investment Company Limited is deemed to be interested in 144,256,976
underlying shares of the Company under the Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, so far as is known to
the Directors or chief executive of the Company, no person (other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position
in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which had been notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company or its subsidiaries were
entered into or existed during the year.

43,277,000 w2 = F— NF A BRIE
FRHER (BE)EEERAAEREZH
TERERAG - R-_E—)\FE+_-H
=t+—H BEERERAGFELALAE
8843077000/ 70,2 = FE— NF A R E
F o RFATBRRERZ KA RN B
BRERAFIEEDETIELIBELIZE
TTHIBEGREBRG0IETAELR
7] 144,256,976 [k ZB R R 17 » Bt - B FE
BRHR A 7] 144,256,976 8 7K 7 &) 1
BROFHE T -

b) R-F-N\E+-A=+—H BFLE
B IR 2 & # Rontac Investment Company
Limited 2 E# H - Bt - REZE 5 R
HEFE G EXVE - Rontac Investment
Company Limited # 1% (£ 144,256,976 %
AR AR A % o

BREXPBRBEEN R_T-N\F+_A=1—
A REFIAQAEETHABMM  HEA
T (EFAADAERTHRABRIN RAAF
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year 2018, there were no connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions which were required to be disclosed in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

None of the related party transactions as set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements falls under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The total loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2018
amounted to HK$18,188,000 (2017: HK$18,188,000). Particulars of loans
and other borrowings are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The property, plant and equipment of the Group as at 31 December 2018
amounted to approximately HK$570,644,000 (2017: HK$495,154,000).
Details of movements of property, plant and equipment are set out in note 12
to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately
64.1% of the Group’s total turnover and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 22.1% of the Group’s total turnover.

The five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 76.3% of
the Group’s total purchases for the year and the largest supplier accounted
for approximately 51.8% of the Group’s total purchases.

At no time during the year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a
Shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in any of the
Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
our employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing
cooperation with its business partners.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, the
Company has complied with the sufficiency of public float requirement under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2018.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) In February 2019, the Group and Rontac Resources Company Limited
as the holder of the Convertible Bond in the principal amount of
HK$43,277,093 entered into a Conditional Extension Letter. Pursuant
to Extension letter, the Maturity Date of the 2016 Convertible bond
be further extended for one year to 31 August 2020. The extension is
subject to approval of Shareholders at a special general meeting held
on 9 April 2019.

(b) On 24 December 2018, the Group entered into the non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with Energy Technology in respect of
a possible investment in the Energy Technology through acquisition
or subscription of not more than 30% of its share capital. On 31
December 2018, the JV Subsidiary has entered into the Agreement
with the Energy Technology, Z&m &5 & N THR A F (“Jinyan
Electricity’), ZE M E R BB X AT E E AR 2 7 (“Xiaoyi ILNG”)
and J& 7% /&, pursuant to which the Energy Technology shall replace
Jinyan Electricity to repay all outstanding indebtedness owned by
Jinyan Electricity to the JV Subsidiary. The outstanding indebtedness
shall be the Outstanding Sums which amount RMB402,303,023 as at
30 June 2018. Under the Agreement, the Conversion Right is granted
to the JV Subsidiary. Upon full exercise of the Conversion Right, the
JV Subsidiary shall be entitled to convert the indebtedness into not
more than 12% of the enlarged issued share capital of the Energy
Technology. The Group will seek the required Shareholder approval
at the special general meeting in accordance with Rule 14.76(2) of
the Listing Rules for the exercise of the conversion rights of the JV
Subsidiary. On 18 March 2019, the Group entered into a framework
agreement with the JV Subsidiary and the Energy Technology,
pursuant to which the Group, the JV Subsidiary and/or designated
company within the Group intend to gradually invest in the Energy
Technology through a series of acquisition or subscription such that
the Group will be interested in not less than 51% of the enlarged share
capital of the Energy Technology or having significant control of the
Energy Technology.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to support sustainability of the environment and
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding environmental
protection and to adopt measures to achieve efficient use of resources,
energy saving and waste reduction. The details of environmental, social and
governance information of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the ESG Report on pages 58 to 74 to this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. The Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the operations of the Group.
The Company is subject to the Listing Rules, the Codes on Takeovers
and Mergers and Share Buy-backs, the Bermuda Companies Law, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and/or the rules and regulations of the jurisdictions where the shares of
the Company are listed and traded. Details of the corporate governance
practices of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in

the CG Report on pages 41 to 57 to this annual report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 31 May
2019 (Friday) to 5 June 2019 (Wednesday), both days inclusive. In order
to qualify for the attendance of the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on 5 June 2019 (Wednesday), share transfer
forms accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 May 2019 (Thursday).

AUDITOR

Mazars CPA Limited has been appointed as the external auditor of the Group
with effect from 15 November 2018, to fill the casual vacancy following the
resignation of Ernst & Young and to hold office until the conclusion of the

next annual general meeting of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018
have been audited by Mazars CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming 2019 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Zhao Xu Guang

Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board is committed to upholding high standard of corporate
governance. The Directors believe that effective corporate governance
practices emphasised on accountability and transparency are the keys to
protect the interest of our Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders,
enhance the confidence in the Group business and fulfil its social
responsibility.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board regularly reviews the corporate governance practices which
have applied the principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) in Appendix 14, under the Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange together with all other applicable rules under Listing Rules,
the SFO, the Companies Ordinance and other applicable laws, rules and
guidelines.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and up to the date of this report,
except for the code provisions A.2.1, A.6.7 and D.1.4 with reasons for each
deviation explained hereunder, the Company has complied with the code
provisions as set out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

Compliance with the Model Code
The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as the codes of conduct regarding securities transactions by
Directors. All Directors have confirmed in writing, following specific enquiry
by the Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Company has designed an appropriate corporate governance structure
for the Group which is headed by an effective board of directors. To assist
the Board in discharging its duties and facilitate effective management,
the Board has established three Board committees (each, a “Board
Committee”), including Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. The Board undertakes the corporate governance
function and is lead by the Chairman. The majority of the members of each
Board Committee are independent non-executive Directors, and each Board
Committee has its own defined and written terms of reference approved by
the Board covering its duties, powers and functions. Their terms of reference

are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board comprises seven Directors, including two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Zhao Xu Guang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) and Mr,
So Chiu Fung, two non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Hung,
Patrick and Mr. Huang Man Yem, and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy and Dr.
Wang Wei Hsin.

Directors’ Retirement at 2019 AGM

In accordance with the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, Mr.
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick and Mr. Huang Man Yem will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to bye-law 102(B) of the Bye-Law of the Company and subsequent
to their appointments on 7 September 2018 and 19 December 2018
respectively, Mr. So Chiu Fung and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin will hold office until
the following AGM of the Company and will retire at the 2019 AGM, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under section heading
“BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT”

on pages 18 to 21 of this annual report.

Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for the
leadership. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s operations,
strategies, financial performance and compliance. The following outlined the

key matters that are reserved to the Board for approval:

e set Group's overall objectives and business strategies

e establish Board Committees, define the role and duties of each Board
Committee

e authorise delegation of power to the management for implementation
of its decisions

e  direct and supervise management performance

e oversee the Group’s compliance with statutory and regulatory
obligations

° review financial statements, announcements and reports; and

e recommend on of dividends and its distribution
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Delegation to the Management

The Board has delegated its power to the executive Directors to act on its
behalf. The executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of operations, implement the decisions approved by the Board, conduct
regular meetings with the senior management of the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies, at which operational issues and
financial performance are evaluated. The executive Directors are required
to report and provide an updated information to the Board on a regular
basis on business development, financial positions, market updates, risk
management, compliance and corporate governance issues.

Code Provision D.1.4

Pursuant to code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal letters
of appointment for Directors setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment.

Reason for Deviation

As disclosed in the Report of the Directors and explained in respective
appointment announcement published, the Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors shall be subject
to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-Laws. Besides, the
Directors are required to comply with the requirements under statute and
common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang, being the Chairman of the Board, also acts as Chief
Executive Officer since 2 May 2017.

Code Provision A.2.1

Code provision A.2.1 of CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

Reason for Deviation

Mr. Zhao Xu Guang is the Chairman of the Board and also serves as Chief
Executive Officer since 2 May 2017. The deviation is noted by the Board
and the Directors consider the dual role is essential as Mr. Zhao provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the
implementation and execution of the business strategies while the Group
re-build and develop its business with his leadership in Board, and thus
achieves the Company's objectives efficiently and effectively in response to
the constantly changing environment.
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The Board considers that the Company has established a strong corporate
governance structure in place to ensure effective management, Mr.
So Chiu Fung, the executive Director is responsible for daily operation
management of the Group while Mr. Zhao is more focused on business
strategic development. In addition, the three independent non-executive
Directors in Board which ensure there is a strong independent element
on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgement and
oversee the business management in major decision making. The Board
shall nevertheless review the structure from time to time in light of prevailing
circumstances.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board comprises five non-executive Directors including independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Partrick, Mr. Huang
Man Yem, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy and Dr. Wang
Wei Hsin. According to the bye-law 99 of the Bye-Laws, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors at the time being shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. All non-executive Directors also
subject to retirement by rotation requirement under the Bye-Laws and shall
retire from office at least once every three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board comprises of three members out of seven Board members in
total, representing over 40% of Board, independent non-executive Directors.
The Board is satisfied that current composition of independent non-
executive Directors is in compliance with the requirement of independent
non-executive Directors under Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rule.

Most of the independent non-executive Directors are professionals with
recognised qualifications, either being certified public accountant or lawyer,
who possess extensive experience in their own professions. The biography
details of the independent non-executive Directors are set out on page 20
of this annual report. During the year 2018, all independent non-executive
Directors contributed impartial view to the Board members and made
independent judgements on issues discussed at the Board meetings.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
each independent non-executive Director for the financial year ended 31
December 2018 pursuant to the independence guidelines as set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considered each of the independent
non-executive Directors fulfilled the independence requirement throughout
the year and up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors had been identified in all corporate communications of the

Company that disclose the names of Directors.
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RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BOARD MEMBERS

Saved as disclosed under section heading “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS
OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” on pages 18 to 21 under
this annual report, none of the members of the Board has any relationship,
neither financial, business, family nor other material/relevant relations,
among each other.

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal
action against the Directors and management of the Group.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

All Board members have separate and independent access to the Company
Secretary and management of the Group to fulfil their duties. Independent
professional advice can be sought to assist the relevant Directors to
discharge their duties at the Group’s expense upon their request.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company engaged an external service provider as its Company
Secretary. The executive Director, Mr. So Chiu Fung is the contact person of

the external service provider.

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and the Board is fully briefed on all legislative,
regulatory and corporate governance developments and that it has regard
to them when making decisions.

The Company Secretary of the Company, Mr. Li Chi Chung, undertakes to
ensure a good information flow within the Board and between the Board and
senior management, provides advice to the Board in relation to Directors’
obligations under the Listing Rules and applicable laws and regulations
and assists the Board in implementing the corporate governance practices.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company Secretary finished
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training and in compliance

with the training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND PROCEEDINGS

Regular Board meetings were held four (4) times during the financial year
ended 31 December 2018. The Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary and company secretarial team for
ensuring that the Board procedures, all applicable rules and regulations are
followed.

The chairman of the meeting set the meeting agenda in consultation with
other Board members and with assistance of the company secretarial
team. Board meeting notice is sent to the Directors at least 14 days prior to
each regular Board meeting and reasonable notice is given for other Board
meetings. Board papers and meeting materials with sufficient information
details are sent to Board and Committee members at least 3 days before
each meeting to enable the Directors to make informed decisions.

Minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are drafted by
the Company Secretary of the meetings and recorded in sufficient details of
the matters discussed and decisions reached and have been circulated to
the Directors for comments and record in a timing manner. Originals of all
minutes of the Company are kept by the company secretarial team and open

for inspection by Directors.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, that Director will be
abstained from voting on the relevant resolutions with conflict of interest
and that he/she shall not be counted in the quorum present at such Board

meeting.
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TRER/RE
Attendance of Board Meeting and General Meeting during FY2018

The attendance of Board meetings and general meeting during the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

R-B-N\EHBFEZEETTRERRRAT
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Board Meetings Attendance
Attended/Held and at 2018
Capacity and Name of Director Eligible to Attend general meetings
EEZEER —E-N\F
HEREY,BITRE BEXE
EERATRMR REELFERE HEER
Executive Directors HiTES
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang W E (EERTHAER) 12/12 3/3
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. So Chiu Fung HRBRE 77 1Al
(appointed on 7 September 2018) (RZE-NFNLAtHEZMTE)
Mr. Li Baogi TERLE 1/1 11
(appointed on 9 April 2018 and (RZE-NFRANLBEZER
resigned on 7 September 2018) RZE-NFNALBET)
Non-executive Directors kHTES
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick BEOHEEE 11/11 3/3
(re-designated from executive Director (R =Z— \FEWN AL HH
to non-executive Director on 9 April HITESATAIENTES)
2018)
Mr. Huang Man Yem BEXELEE 12/12 1/3
Independent non-executive Directors BV FHTES
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie RIS & 11/12 3/3
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MR EE 12/12 2/3
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin T@EHEL 11 0/0
(appointed on 19 December 2018) (RZE-NF+ATNLBEZE)
Mr. Lau Ka Ho ARZAEE 99 0/3

(resigned on 14 December 2018)

MZF-NF+ZRTHHEHE)
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Code Provision A.6.7

Code provision A.6.7 of CG Code stipulates that independent non-executive
Directors and other non-executive Directors should attend general meeting
and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.

Reason for Deviation

Some individual Directors were unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 5 June 2018 and/or the special general meetings
held on 5 February 2018 and 7 November 2018 due to other business
engagements. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.6.7 of the
CG Code.

The Company Secretary had reminded the Directors the non-compliance
consequence and the Company will remind the Directors to attend general
meetings in future.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To encourage Directors in continuous professional development (the
“CPD”) to refresh their acknowledge and skills, the Company have provided
the Directors with updates on the development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulations and laws in connection to their duties and
responsibilities of being a Director. The Company also provided to the
Directors the monthly business performance and position updates of the
Group to ensure the Board discharges their duties under Rule 13.08 and
code provision A.6.5 of CG Code under the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, all Directors had provided to
the Company a record of their CPD training by attending seminars and
conferences, taking courses and reading materials. A summary of training
topics covered is as follow:

FRRXFA67IR
BECEERTAZTAGRIEALTER B
FRTEEREMIRTESREFRRRE
HERNERERENTH# -

kIR &

RENEZERARBES  REHFEARFRZ
Z-NFRARRETHRRBFRE R &5
AR —Z-NF_ARER-ZE-N\F+—-At
ARTHBRERAE - limE T 2EERTA
TR EALT -

ARRECRBZEFTIETARNER  MA
NAHRESEENARHERRAS -

BESERRE

RBBEER2EREZXRER ((HEETER
RNEHEMB LG ARAEHEESZYZ
BERBE REFEEEN EHRALEMGE
BRI AR R BRER - ARBTCAE
FREAGSEZBAXRBRAREGIRER -
NEREFSHRRELMMAE13.08HKRLED
MADREIRSTRIZ T RIS A.6.5 IR TR °

BE-_Z-\F+_A=+—HLFE 28E
EHEMARARHREZEFEZXEEREI
2 BIRRELERTERARE  BER
12 R BIREEEHIM R o SRR E 2 REBSI T -

Topics of Training
BEHIRRE

Legal/ Group

Accounting/ Corporate Business/

Name of Director Financial Governance Directors Duties
3 SEER

B a3t/ % TEER BEERK
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang Bk EE v v/ v
Mr. So Chiu Fung BRBRLE 4 4 4
Mr. Wong Siu Hung, Patrick HOMWEE v v/ v
Mr. Huang Man Yem BEXELE v v/ v
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie M F L& v v v
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy FEAORE & v v/ v
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin T@EHELT v v/ v
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy who also acts as Chairman of the
committee, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr. Wang Wei Hsin, and one non-
executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviews and supervises the Group’s
accounting policies and financial reporting, risk management and internal
control practices, maintains an appropriate relationship with the external
auditors and ensures the regulatory compliance of the Group.

During the review of financial statements, management reported liquidity
position of the Group and measures taken/to be taken to enable the Group
to sustain as a going concern. The audit committee was aware of the matter
as one of key audit matters and to be included in the section under material
uncertainty related to going concern in the Independent Auditor’s Report for
2018 consolidated financial statements. The audit committee did not express
any disagreement with management’s assessment concerning of the going
concern assumptions in the preparation of 2018 consolidated financial
statements.

The attendance of Audit Committee meetings during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:

ENEET

B%E A@EE BB IFNTEER—RIENT
BERARK DRI BB IERITEEHKRTEL
E(EAZESER)  MAMNTEREENEL
RIERTEETEXELLE -

EVZBEERARNYEEAREZE quB(%ﬁDA
EHBRR - RRERLABERESR BEE
FEINEZEM 2 AR - ARBRIEEEESH -

EEMVBHRENE EEECRASEC ES
REMARERE/ BREZEmELRE - A
FAEEEASELE EREZESRARER

REREGERZ— YBAA-T-N\F&HAE
PBEBRRBUZBMRSNERBLEERL

BAMBERZ—HRN - BERZEEVERER
WE—T—\FiFA Eﬂ%iﬁi‘%Zﬁﬁ*mMF“
EREFGERTNEMBER D -

BE_Z-N\E+-_A=1T—RLFE EKZ
E@@%thf/\%@@m"l—-

Audit Committee

Meetings Attended/Held

Capacity and Name of Director and Eligible to Attend

BEREEEE:

HERE,BITRER

EERHRTS BREERH
Chairman of Audit Committee EREEEER

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MR & 5/5

Mr. Lau Ka Ho WARFEE 5/5

(resigned on 14 December 2018) (RZE-NF+ZATHEHHEBT)
Members K&

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MR F 54 4/5

Mr. Huang Man Yem BEXNBLEE 5/5

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin T@mEL 0/0

(appointed on 19 December 2018)

A summary of work performed during the year ended 31 December 2018 is
set out as follows:

o reviewed the interim and annual financial statements and reports and
recommended to the Board for adopt and approval;

o reviewed the performance and independence of the external auditor
and recommended the Board on the re-appointment of external auditor
at the AGM,;

(R=Z—\E+-A+hREZE)

EREEERBE_T—/\F+-A=t+—HL
F TZTEHIMT -

EHTHREEMBERERRE  LAE
EEFHEM R ERE

o RASMNERBMIERRRBILE YRR
BREFAG LERIEZBMANESS
fEHEE
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e reviewed and approved the annual audit plan for the financial year;

e  reviewed the independence of external auditors and its engagement
letter and approved the engagement;

o reviewed and approved engagements of respective independent
external professionals to assess the effectiveness of risk management
and internal control system and compliance of environmental and
social regulations of the Group; and

e reviewed the respective compliance and risk and internal control
assessment reports, and the corporate governance review report of the
Group.

The Audit Committee had recommended to the Board on consideration
of the re-appointment of Mazars CPA Limited as external auditors of the
Company at the forthcoming 2019 AGM of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie who also acts as Chairman of
the committee, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, Dr. Wang Wei Hsin and one non-
executive Director, Mr. Huang Man Yem.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviews and recommends to
the Board on the overall remuneration structure and policy for all Directors
and senior management, reviews specific remuneration packages, ensures
a formal and transparent process in place to develop remuneration policy
and no Director takes part in decisions of his own remuneration.

The attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018 is set out below:

o EHAUBEASMBFE 2 FEERE

s BENEREMIBUIMNRENEZENR
o UREBHRE

s BMEYHESBUIMNMEEREALZBEHZ
B REERFEAKELAREERA
HEZZRABEREUARREERETFIR
BEMBERTEZARER &

. ERAEEEARRERREADEST
HREUR DL ERBITRS -

ENZEGCEREFTERARARE SN
FRREFAGZRERDEIR (BE) 5
MEBAERLDFRARRRINEZEA -

FWEEE
FMEBEEm-RBUFRTEST R —HIENT
ESMAK - DRI RBIUIFMITEEMEFISE
EREEEF) HAREERTAFELRIFE
WTESENELE -

FMEZEeRAERNYNEFEEZAHERE
ERERERABRZERBTMRBLER &
EERFMETE  BRIEFHERZBEALE
REABRAE URBREEEE2EETAY
# -

BE_Z-)\F+_A=1t—HILFE  FMZE
BeeRZHEARFIIMT

Remuneration Committee

Meetings Attended/Held

Capacity and Name of Director and Eligible to Attend

FHZEEEEE

HERE, BITRER

EEHMTRMS BREERE
Chairman of Remuneration Committee FMZzEEExR

Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie WA 5 & 213

Members BE

Mr. Huang Man Yem BEXBEE 3/3

Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MAGREE 3/3

Dr. Wang Wei Hsin THEL 0/0

(appointed on 19 December 2018) (RZZE-N\F+ZA+NLHEZE)
Mr. Lau Ka Ho ARTEE 33

(resigned on 14 December 2018)
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A summary of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the
year ended 31 December 2018 is set out as follows:

e reviewed the Directors’ fee for the year and recommended to the Board

for approval;

o reviewed and assessed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Group; and

e reviewed the appointment of Chief Executive Officer and recommended
to the Board the adjustment of monthly salary considered his dual
capacity as Chairman and the responsibilities undertaking.

Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the financial year are
set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements. The remuneration
of the members of the senior management of the Group by band for the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out below:

Remuneration Band

FHERENBE-T\Ft-A=t-A1
EFREFZ THRENINT :

s RIFEESFHRYAESSELMERER:

o BERMEREEZHFMRELRE R

s BETHRAMZIRIT IREEEIFRE
FREEGHRRAARRAESSRZE
RAEHLAH -

BRESERPHFE 2 FMFEHERNGA M BRE
MEs-BE-_T—\F+_A=1t—-RLFE
REMERNE D 2 SRERASHMEMT -

Number of Persons as
Senior Management

AR BREEABAY
Nil to HK$2,000,000 T £ 2,000,000 7T 6
HK$2,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 2,000,001 78 7T % 5,000,000 & 7T 1

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy, Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie and Dr.
Wang Wei Hsin, and one executive Director, Mr. Zhao Xu Guang who also

acts as Chairman of the committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for review of the composition of
the Board in terms of board structure, size and diversity, reviews the board
diversity policy, determines the policy for the nomination of Directors and
identification of potential candidates for directorship, recommends to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment, re-election or re-designation of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, assesses the independence
of independent non-executive Directors and reviews the time commitment
of each Director. The selection criteria and procedures for the selection and

nomination of Directors are set out in the Nomination Policy, which is also
published on the Company’s website.

REZEE
REZBEM-RBUFATEE R —RNTE
AR DR RBILFMTESHIOREE - M
FAEERTEFB LI RQTESHB L (F
ERZBEXRF)

IF:

REZECAEMIESEARE  ABRKE
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ErRAEFHRUNEEEEENE RERET
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AIAULER] o
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The attendance of Remuneration Committee meetings during the year ended
31 December 2018 is set out below:

Capacity and Name of Director

“E-N\FF_A=t—HLFE REZ
SR ZMEAZFIMT :

BE
=R
Nomination Committee

Meetings Attended/Held and

Eligible to Attend

REZEEEE
HEREBITRER
EEHA MR BRELERE
Chairman of Nomination Committee REZEEXRE
Mr. Zhao Xu Guang B EE 3/3
Members 59 =]
Mr. Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie MEF L& 213
Mr. To Wing Tim, Paddy MAGREE 3/3
Dr. Wang Wei Hsin THEEL 0/0
(appointed on 19 December 2018) (RZE-N\F+ZA+NBEZHE)
Mr. Lau Ka Ho WARFEE 3/3
(resigned on 14 December 2018) (RZE-NF+ZATEAET)

A summary of work performed by the Nomination Committee during the year
ended 31 December 2018 is set out as follows:

e reviewed the composition of the Board in terms of board structure, size
and diversity policy;

e reviewed the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

e reviewed the time commitment of each Director to discharge their
responsibilities as Director;

e reviewed the retirement by rotation requirement and nominated the
Directors for re-election; and

e reviewed the Group’s business plan and recommended to the Board to
appoint the Chairman of the Board to act as Chief Executive Officer to
ensure the business plan can be effectively implemented.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board undertakes the corporate governance function for the Group with
assistance of Audit Committee, which (1) develops and reviews the policies
and practices on corporate governance of the Group, (2) reviews and
monitors legal and regulatory compliance of the Group and (3) reviews the
training and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, (4) reviews and monitors the code of conduct applicable to
employees and directors and (5) reviews the issuer's compliance with the
code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledged that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness. The internal
controls of the Group are designed to provide reasonable assurance
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. It is designed for assurance of the Group's assets and
that Shareholders’ investments are safeguarded against unauthorised use or
disposition, transactions are executed in accordance with the management’s
authorisation, internal audit, proper accounting records are maintained, and

the relevant legislation and regulations are being complied with.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework

The risk management and internal control framework of the Group are
developed and reviewed annually based on Integrated Framework released
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(collectively the “COSO Framework”) which includes the following
procedures:

e identify risks of the Group’s and evaluate the level of the risks and
impacts on regular basis;

o report the high risks to the management to discuss the approach and
measures to manage those risks;

o implement the measures to manage the risks as management advised;
o review regularly whether the measures have been implemented and
appropriate at current situation;

e review annually the whole risk management and internal control
practices;

e report the effectiveness of the measures and the risk management and
internal control systems;

e adjust the risks approach and measures if consider appropriate; and

e monitor the risks on regular basis.
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Independent Assessment

To ensure the independent review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, the Group engaged independent
external professionals to perform annual review and assessment of the
risk management and internal control system of the Group covering the
financial year ended 31 December 2018 to ensure the compliance of
relevant regulations and rules. The review report was submitted to the Audit
Committee.

Review of the Effectiveness

The Audit Committee reviewed the relevant report and considered the
Group’s risk management and internal control system based on COSO
Framework is adequate and the practice is effective that the Group had
complied with the provisions on risk management and internal controls as
set out in the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCY AND REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the independence
of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process
of the financial statements. The Audit Committee were of the view that the

Company’s auditor, Mazars CPA Limited is independent.

During the Year, Mazars CPA Limited had rendered audit services to the
Group and the remuneration paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as

follows:

B
REREHRAREENABEZRR 2 AMIENE
HEY R ARECERBUNMNEEEALY
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Service Rendered Fees Paid/Payable
Pir iR L AR 75 2/ ERER
HK$
BT
Audit Services BRRS 1,050,000
Non-Audit Services FEBEZRY Nil £
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2018 and other financial disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and applicable regulatory and law requirement. The Board, having
made appropriate enquiries, considers that the Company has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the “going concern”
basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements. The Statements
of the Auditor on its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 75 to 82
in this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the Bye-Laws of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to exercise certain rights pursuant to the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, Bye-Laws of the Company and the CG Code under
Listing Rules.

Convene Special General Meeting

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-laws of the
Company, on requisition of Shareholders holding at the date of the deposit
of the requisition (the “Request Submission Date”) not less than 10% of
the paid-up capital of the Company as at the Request Submission Date
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, Directors
shall proceed duly to convene a special general meeting of the Company (a
“SGM").

The requisition, may consist of several documents in like form each signed
by one or more Shareholders, must (1) state the purposes of the SGM, (2)
be signed by the Shareholders and (3) deposited at the registered office of
the Company for attention of Company Secretary. Such requisitions will be
subject to verification by the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
and upon its confirmation that the requisition is in order, the Company
Secretary shall inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all Shareholders under the Bye-Laws. If requisition be verified as
not in order, Shareholder(s) will be notified of such results and accordingly,

a SGM will not be convened as requested.
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If Directors do not within 21 days from the Request Submission Date
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the Shareholders or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of 3 months from the Request Submission Date. A SGM
convened on requisition of Shareholders shall be convened in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings are to be convened
by Directors.

Put Forward Proposals at General Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any number of
Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, or not less
than 100 Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give to
Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general meeting notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any
general meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt
with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the requisitionists, or two or more copies
which between them contain the signatures of all the requisitionists, must
be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong with
deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient
to meet the company’s expenses in giving effect thereto (i) in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than 6 weeks before
the meeting or (ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one
week before the meeting. Provided that if after a copy of the requisition
requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the principal office of
the Company, an AGM is called for a date within 6 weeks or less after the
requisition has been deposited, such requisition though not deposited within
the time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the

purposes thereof.
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Shareholders Enquires and Investor Relations
Shareholders are welcome to make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

For enquiries about your shareholdings on the Company, registered
Shareholders may at any time direct contact the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar of the Company:

Tricor Secretaries Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: 2980 1333

E-mail: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

For any other enquiries, Shareholders may at any time send enquiries to the
Company:

Investor Relations

Huscoke Holdings Limited

Room 2301, 23rd Floor

Tower One, Lippo Centre

89 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong
Telephone: 2861 0704

E-mail: ir@huscoke.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE - -HERERRE

SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the third ESG report by the Group, highlighting its Environmental,
Social, and Governance (the “ESG”) performance, with disclosure reference
made to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules and Guidance set out by the Stock Exchange.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two subject areas,
namely, Environmental and Social of the business operations in Mainland
China including coal washing plant, coking plant, power plant, and heating
plant in Xiaoyi, Shanxi Province from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018,
unless otherwise stated.

Same to the last reporting period, the above operational sites in Xiaoyi have
been identified as those causing major environmental and social impacts
during the reporting period thus included in the scope of this ESG report.

The group’s office space in Hong Kong was not included in the scope,
due to 1) its limited environmental and social impacts; and 2) the group
leases the office space and has sustainable managerial control on the daily
operation and maintenances of the building and its consequences.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

The Group engages with key internal and external stakeholders such
as Board members, managers, supervisors, frontline workers, business
partners, and regulators to understand their needs and concerns. The Group
communicates with key stakeholders via various communication channels.

In order to identify the most significant ESG aspects, the Group distributed
quantitative surveys to stakeholders. Through the stakeholder surveys
carried out during this reporting period, key material issues raised by the
stakeholders all focused on environmental aspects, social aspects, on the
other hand, were considered less material for the Group. This finding closely
aligns with the business nature of the Group.

Among environmental topics, following issues were identified as the most
important by stakeholders, in descending order of significance:

e Air emissions

o Environmental protection measures
o Water

e Waste and Effluent

o Energy
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The Group has strictly complied with the statutory requirements in respect
of the identified material aspects. Corresponding management practices
were formulated and/or implemented, such as extensively promoting
environmental protection projects during this reporting period. The Group
will continue to identify areas of improvement for the concerned aspects
and keep close communication with its stakeholders to share and exchange

ideas for advancing the Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please give your suggestions

or share your views with us via email at ir@huscoke.com.

HUSCOKE’S SUSTAINABILITY MISSION AND VISION

The overall sustainability commitment of the group reinforces the concept of
creating an “ecological Shanxi” promoted by the central, regional, and local
government. Huscoke's business value and management approaches focus
on serving people, homeland and the society. Huscoke aims to become fully
vertical integrated along the coal industry supply chain, from downstream
trading to midstream processing and upstream ancillary businesses.

During the reporting period, key challenges identified by the Group
included meeting more stringent environmental standards set by the local
government. Correspondingly, the Group continues to invest in upgrading
environmental protection facilities. The Group also continues to focus on
reducing emissions and resource consumption through the adoption of
cleaner production facilities, recycling all wastewater, recycling and reusing
by-products either on-site or to downstream processors to the maximum
extent.

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders for
advancing economic benefits while improving ESG performance and
managing ESG-related risks, and to be prepared for future business
development and challenges.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws and
regulations concerning environmental protection and pollution control,
including but not limited to the followings: Environmental Protection
Law of the PRC; Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution; Cleaner Production Promotion Law; Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC; Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste.

Top-down, policy-driven, and performance-based environmental
protection activities had been reinforced during this reporting period,
as the local government issued several new policies to further improve
environmental performance in the city, with a special focus on
improving performance from coal industry:

e General Office of Shanxi Provincial People’s Government issued
Document No. 98 [2018]: Notice on Publishing and Issuing the
Implementing Plan of Reinforcing Pollution Prevention and Control
and Promoting Industry Transformation and Upgrading for Shanxi
Coking Industry

e General Office of Shanxi Provincial People’s Government issued
Document No. 52 [2018]: Action Plan for the Prevention and
Control of Air Pollution in Shanxi Province in 2018

e General Office of Xiaoyi Municipal People’'s Government issued
Document No. 60 [2018]: Action Plan for the Prevention and
Control of Air Pollution in Xiaoyi City in 2018

The Group considers 2018 as a milestone year for environmental
protection as it has successfully implemented and initiated various
environmental protections projects (Table 1).

No non-compliance with above-mentioned laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste had been identified during the
reporting period.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R HERES §ﬁ¢

RR
ASEERETER T BHERERE
ERRERERIER  BRETER
UTEE: REARANBERFREE
HEAREKMBERRSERRE: BEE
EREE P EARANBKSERRE
HEE A R E B RE )5 RRIR I A ¢

AEERABRERAMAEE EMT - KK
RREM NEMBAZRRED  JIE
IR M S AR AE — PR EZ
MZRERE  BRHBEINHERRITE
KRR

e LABARBRBLABEMSE
98[2018] 5% X 1 - AR EN & LR H &
CEZETIT SN AN BE T ER
FHRE R EH B

o UAAARBFHABERMES2
[2018] 55 314« IUTRA KRS A
—N\F178:TE

s ZEWMARBINBAEZEMEG60
[2018] 5 > 1 : EE T AR AMA
—N\F11E)ETE

REERE-_S—N\FNREEENER
B 5 FRNEBERTHEZERRIER
(£1) o

RFEHA HEZRTET LEARA
RIOBRERBHN  MARMLHEES
EXBEERBEEN AR RERME AR
SEBEEAFEZER-



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R -HERES ﬁ%t

RILH-FE—\EERR BEEZIRER

Table 1. Environmental protection projects implemented and/or

started in 2018 EHH
ltem# Starting time Environmental protection project Project progress
B  BRER RRER HEEE
Coking plant
BB
1 June 2016 Low emission and cleaner production project Implemented
ZE-RERA BHEREBRFEERR EEE
2 October 2017 Upgrading for biochemical wastewater treatment Implemented
—tF+A  EBEKEER 2B
3 January 2018 Technical service fee for the cleaner production project Implemented
—N\F—A BREFLEEEBZRMREE EEE
4 June 2018 Shelter construction for dust suppression Implemented
—NEFRA  HEREBRRE EEE
5 June 2018 Industry dust collector Implemented
—E-N\FRA IERESR 2B
6 July 2018 Coke quenching water treatment facility Implemented
—NFtA BEKEERE EEE
7 August 2018 Portable dust suppressor for coal stabilization Implemented
—N\FEN\A BESEEIHRERD 2B
8 August 2018 Enclosed belt transportation Implemented
—NENA  HEAKG@EX 2B
9 September 2018 Leak detection and repair (LDAR) for volatile organic compounds (VOCs)  Implemented
—N\FLA BREUHERLEMIERRASEE 2B
10 June 2018 Continuous Emission Monitoring System (CEMS) and particulate matter- Implemented
Continuous Emission Monitoring System (PM-CEMS) for desulfurization
—NERA BRFESFRENRG IR RHERNERNRS 2B
11 August 2018 Enclosed belt transportation Implemented
—NENA  HEAAKGEX 2B
12 November 2018 treatment facility for VOCs Implementing
—N\F+—A BEUERIEMERERE yiiles
Heating plant
E0
13 March 2010 Low emission and cleaner production project Implemented
—E-TFZH BHREBRFEERR EEE
14 April 2018 LDAR for VOCs Implemented
—N\FOA BFEREUHERLCAMIERRASEE 2B
Power plant
TR
15 July 2015 Low emission and cleaner production project Implemented
—hF+A EHERERBRFEERR EEE
16 November 2018  Shelter construction for dust suppression Implemented
—N\F+— R HEREMEE EEE
17 December 2018  Rain-water collection pond construction Implementing
—N\F+Z A kg bEE il
18 August 2018 Construction project for waste oil storage Implemented
—NENR  RBEmEFREERE 2B

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R 61



62

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
HERES ﬂii

B -

Al.

Emissions
A1.1 Air Emissions

The Group accounts for major emissions from its operations
in Xiaoyi, the PRC. The total plant area coverage (including
coal washing plant, coking plant, power and heating plant)
for the Group was 314,333 m?.

The coal washing, coke production, electricity and heat
production generated various air emissions such as sulphur
oxides (SOy), nitrogen oxides (NO,), respiratory suspended
particles (PM), and benzpyrene that were controlled via
newly installed environmental protection facility. They
were also closely monitored and on-site emissions were all
below the permissible level set by the applicable national
standards, including but not limited to:

e (GB16171-2012 Emission Standard of Pollutants for
Coking Chemical Industry

° GB13271-2014 Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for
Boilers

The environmental monitoring reports showed that the
average concentration level of various indicators such as
PM, ammonia, cyanide, NOx, and SO2 were all below the

permissible levels set by the above-mentioned standards.

Passenger cars operated on gasoline and other on-site
mobile machinery operated on diesel were used for daily
business operations. Their combustion generated several
air emissions include NOx, SOx, and PM. Due to lack of
data, only SOx could be calculated from the consumption of
gasoline and diesel, with a total emission of 18.30 kg during
the reporting period.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions Al.2 BEREHH

Scope 1 GHG emissions were generated directly from
the consumption of fuel for stationary combustion and
fuel for mobile combustion. Scope 2 energy indirect
GHG emissions were not generated by the Group as self-
produced electricity and heat were used for the Group’s
own consumption. Other indirect (scope 3) GHG emissions
included business air travel, municipal freshwater and
sewage processing, and paper waste disposed at landfills.
Due to lack of date, emissions from business air travel were
not calculated.

There were 577,220.43 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent
(tCO2) GHG (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation during the
reporting period. The overall intensity of the GHG emissions
for the Group was 0.99 tCO;. per tonne of coke produced,
or 3.23 tCO,. per Megawatt-hour (MWh) of electricity
produced.

The hotspot for GHG emission is located within the heating
plant, with the efforts paid to invest in cleaner technologies
and emission reduction, continuous reduction of GHG from
heating plant was observed in 2018. The GHG emissions
from the power plant had increased due to an increased
production capacity during the reporting period. (Figure 1)
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Figure 1 GHG emissions by activity sources in 2016, 2017
and 2018
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Table 2. Annual GHG emissions K2 FEEREREHHE
Total GHG
GHG Emission Sub-total emission
(intCO) (intCOy)  (in percentage)
Scope of GHG BEREENE PNt BERER
emissions Emission sources (UM —E kil (B8R ¥
RERBHHEE HEHORIR EE5) EE3) (ABD )
Scope 1 Direct emission Combustion of gasoline (Note 1)
HE1ERIR FTRIRE (1) 547.53
Combustion of diesel (Note 1)
SmmE (1) 2,490.11
Boiler for Coking
ElLRE 121,664.00
Boiler for Power Generation
HEME 110,772.00
Boiler for Heat Generation
ERME 341,221.00 576,694.64 99.91%

Scope 2 Energy indirect
emission (Note 2)

BE 2R REEER (W 22)

Scope 3 Other indirect emission

HEAMRARZ LR

Total
@t

Notes:

Not applicable
TEA

Electricity used for processing fresh

water and sewage (Note 1)
RIEXAKRKBE (Hit1)
Paper waste disposed at landfills

(Note 1)

MBS RIERER (1)

7 Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of the
Main Board Listing Rules and their referred documentation
as set out by Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited,
unless stated otherwise.

2 The Group did not involve in scope 2 energy indirect emission

since it generated electricity and heat on-site and did not
purchase energy from external entities.
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A1.3 Hazardous Waste

A1.3 EZEY

The Group generated a total of 429.48 tonnes of hazardous
waste during the reporting period, with an overall intensity of
0.73 tonnes of hazardous waste per kg of coke produced,

AEBRREHRNELES £
429 48R EEY)  BERED
EESTRERAQTIEEEZE

or 2.4 tonnes of hazardous waste per Gigawatt-hour (GWh)

of electricity produced.

Table 3. Annual hazardous waste generation and
treatment methods

Annual waste

W RAEEBETRRBENR24
WEEEY -

HOGEELZEEFEYREE
TiE

hazardous waste per tonne of coke produced, or 1.4 tonnes
of hazardous waste per MWh of electricity produced.

Production waste were all transported to external sites for
100% recovery for making building bricks. Office waste
mainly included waste papers, and it was assumed that
the purchased paper during the reporting period was all
consumed and finally disposed of at landfills. For organic
waste, the group continues to send leftover food from the
canteen to nearby farms as animal feed and make organic

fertilizers for office gardening.

amount
Hazardous waste (in tonnes) Waste treatment method
FERYE
BEREY (LAME ) BEYRE
Tar residue 14.32 Mixed with refined coal for coking
FRE BB ETRIL
Asphalt residue 7.67 Mixed with refined coal for coking
=iy HEERRS TR
Crude benzene slag 31.90 Mixed with refined coal for coking
HAEE EAERBRETRIL
Biochemical sludge 10.04 Mixed with refined coal for coking
HE5R EREERESETEL
Waste from desulfurization 364.82 Mixed with refined coal for coking
it B R R EIEERAEITREL
Waste oil 0.73 Reused for lubrication of coal loaders
& BREEEREE
A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste Al1.4 BZEY
The Group generated a total of 251,219 tonnes of non- AEBRRERNEEEREF
hazardous waste from production processes during the EEAHB1210EZEY
reporting period, with an overall intensity of 0.43 tonnes of HEREDEESWEHRKR043

WEEEY  SLEEBKEBE
NE1ABEEREY -

EERYZIEREINLHZE LA
1E100% B A RE LR TE -
WAZEMRIEER - BEAR
EHNMBRRE2NERARE
RNEIRISRIR - W B HEEY) -
AEEHEBEBREFHRRIME
BIZRAEBMEAR  UREES
BIERAMERAZEE A%
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A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions
Direct air emissions such as those listed under section A1.1

were controlled by installing the state-of-the-art pollution

HERES ﬂii
Table 4. Annual non-hazardous waste generation and K4 BEELZREBFYREESZE
treatment methods
Annual waste
amount
Non-hazardous waste (in tonnes) Waste treatment method
FEREYE
BEED (LAmEST) BEYIRIR 7 %
Coal gangue 22,747 Sent to building materials manufacturers for recovery
AR EEREMHEERETEY
Fly ash 101,657 Sent to building materials manufacturers for recovery
R EEREMHEERETEY
Boiler slag 126,814 Sent to building materials manufacturers for recovery
i EEREMHEERETEYR
Waste office paper 1.49 Landfilled
WAERER [mEE:

msﬁ#ﬁﬂ
THRRILE 2SR IEHRE
%ﬂﬁ&ﬁﬂmmi W5 A1

control equipment. Regular sampling and monitoring GATSES - THE MR RE

activities were arranged to ensure its proper functioning.
In-house training on the proper use and maintenance of
equipment has also been provided by the environmental

service provider.

A1.6 Wastes Reduction and Initiatives
The non-hazardous production waste has been re-used by
downstream industry, to ensure reduction on virgin materials

consumption and resource saving, which also brings

economic benefits for the Group.
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A2. Use of Resources A2. EiRfER

A2.1 Energy Consumption

The Group did not purchase external electricity. A total
of 99,295,481 Kilowatt-hour (kWh) was sourced from its
own power plant for internal consumption, with an overall
intensity of 0.17 KWh of electricity per kg of coke produced,
or 0.56 kWh of electricity per KWh of electricity produced.

Table 5. Annual electricity consumption

Electricity consumption

A2.1 BERBFE
AEETEINEE N - AEEE
5199295481 FTEE I REEH
BRER BRASERE  £E
ZETRERZABELRES
0I7TTER XELABTREE
hzBERZER056 TRE o

#*5. FEEHH

Consumption (in kWh)

EEE HRE (AT RS
Coal washing plant SRR R 3,953,750
Coking plant X 34,493,185
Power plant BEM 23,099,569
Heating plant 2R 34,852,257
Others (e.g., for logistics) HAth (%) 2,896,720
The Group total REBBE 99,295,481

Due to the business nature, the Group also consumed
energy sources—coal gas and raw coal for its production. A
total of 136.19 million m® of coal gas and 419,288 tonnes of
raw coal were consumed during the reporting period. Other
types of energy consumed included gasoline and diesel.

MREBEE  KNEBEITEH
BER-ERAREE  AREE-
RBEEBRAN EAEEAEH
1361988 A KEAR
419,288 [ B o H 4t 82 R B 4%
AL E IR A e o

Table 6. Annual indirect energy consumption 76 FEAEETREH

Other energy sources Direct consumption (in litres) Consumption (in kWh)
H ARz BEEOHHE UUHED) HFE (LT REFE)
Gasoline 203,118.64 1,799,966.95
T

Diesel 951,627.55 9,514,696.24
eS|

The Group total

REEBE 11,314,663.19

Note: Conversion factors were made reference to IEA Energy
Statistics Manual and 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories.

Wit - BRREZZERRELRT
FFMR-BENFELTIREE

CEBBEZHZEREEEIET -
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A2.2 Water Consumption

The total water consumption for the Group was 856,925
m?, with an overall intensity of 1.47 m® of water per tonne of
coke produced, or 4.80 m® of water per MWh of electricity
produced. Water was sourced from municipal tap-water. No
issues on sourcing water were reported during the reporting
period.

Table 7. Annual water consumption

Water consumption

A2.2 Bk

REEBAKE £856,9253 77
K- EEBBERAKkzATE
BIATNARIEEETRRE
NEAKZBEERAB80ILF K -
KIREMBEK e REREHRA -
I 8 3R & SR BUKIRRE @ o

x7.FERKE

Consumption (in m?)

AXE SHFE (LA 775K 5T)
Coal washing plant SRR 143,732
Coking plant X 565,455
Power plant BEM 67,663
Heating plant 2R 80,075
The Group total REBBE 856,925

The major source of wastewater for the Group’s operational
sites was from production wastewater such as coal
quenching, as well as domestic wastewater. Wastewater
treatment facility was upgraded during the reporting period.
All wastewater has been monitored and its parameters (e.g.,
pH, suspended solids, total phosphorus, total nitrogen,
volatile phenol, polyaromatic hydrocarbon, benzene, BOD,
COD.,) were within the permissible level set by GB16171-
2012 Emission Standard of Pollutants for Coking Chemical
Industry.

A2.3 Energy Use Efficiency Initiatives

Due to the combustion processes in boilers, heat recovery
technology has been considered as one of the best energy
efficient technologies to be adopted. During the reporting
period, the Group has upgraded its waste heat boiler. This
ensures a temperature reduction of waste flue gas below
150 Degrees Celsius, while making full utilization of the
waste heat from the flue gas.
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A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

The Group continuously conserves water resources and
recycles water whenever possible. A new rain-water
collection pond project is expected to further save water
resources once constructed.

A2.5 Packaging Material

The Group’s operation did not involve any significant use of
packaging materials.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

Following the issuing of several major policies by local
government, the Group has formulated and implemented
various controlling schemes to control its impacts on the
environment. The Group will continuously monitor its air
emission, solid waste generation, wastewater discharge,
and noise level to ensure minimum impacts on the
surrounding environment.

Table 8. Significant impacts of activities on the
environment and improvement suggestions (as shown
by inspection results by Xiaoyi Environmental Protection
Agency), and control schemes implemented during this
reporting period

Activities with major impacts

A2.4 [F Kz 512
AEBBEHYKER  TRA
BEE UK ER - —EIRKIE
HIE B TEER AR — P ET A
IKEIR

A2.5 BEHNH
REBEBBNS RAMKEFE
RBEME -

A3. RIERBARER

A1 FERNHIRBEMZEARE

EEHWHTRABEEEARR
& AEBCHELERSEE
BT 5 - B EEEIRBERK 2
FE - AKEBFEENEAR
HmE - EEWES - Bk
BEBEKRY  DEFREERE
HREBRRERZTE

KOIFEHIRREMZEARE
RAZEZ (WEZRREZE
HERAZH)  URREEH
AFFEBZ Z/TE

Control schemes
(corresponding
to the item number

on the environment Improvement suggestions in Table 1)
BHAEE

HRBEENEAZEZTED REEE (HER1BERR)

Coal and other raw materials exposure To control and supress the dust 4
causing dust 2] R 1K

B M E MR F B8 R EE R IR EE

Coke oven gas SO, emissions Purification to control SOQ emissions 1,7,10

ERER —STHIER R AR =

Flue gas from coke oven To monitor real-time emissions 10

FEER B B RIHERR

Fugitive emissions on-site To control the emissions 4,11, 16

RIS EFHE I BE R

Wastewater from production To improve wastewater treatment capacity 6

HEREK REREKERIE 8

SO, and NO, emissions from Coal gas purification 1,7,10

benzene furnace BRI

FERELDRAELDIER
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SOCIAL

1. Employment and Labour Practices

The Group stringently complies with national and local laws
and regulations concerning employment and labour practices,
including but not limited to the followings:

Labour Law of the PRC
Labour Contract Law of the PRC
Regulation on Paid Annual Leave for Employees

Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour

No non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare had been identified during the reporting period.

B1.

Employment

There were no major updates on relevant human resource
policies, such as recruitment policy, compensation and
dismissal policy, promotion policy, and working attendance
policy. The Group ensures employees’ benefits and welfare
have been provided under the above-mentioned laws
and regulations. Employees are entitled to paid annual
leave, sick leave, marriage leave, maternity leave, paternity
leave, injury leave, compensation leave and breastfeeding
breaks. The group continues to enforce “Everyone is equal
regardless of the position hold” as one basic principle when
dealing with recruitment, promotion, rewarding, and penalty
system.

During the reporting period, the Group had conducted
thorough market research, to adjust and increase the base
salary for all employees. In addition, a more comprehensive
remuneration system has been established, and future
adjustment of base salary is now based on three major
categories of each employee:

o Position salary (including both general and over-time
salary)

e Working age
J Education level
The Group has a relatively low staff turnover rate, especially

for management-level positions, due to very generous
welfare offered to them.
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B2.

B3.

B4.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group highly values the importance of providing a safe
and accident-free working environment for employees,
personal protection equipment has been provided to all
frontline staff. The occupational health and safety policy
and its implementation continue to ensure that the Group is
in compliance with the Production Safety Law of the PRC,
and relevant regulations such as the “The supplementary
requirements and evaluation criteria for the standardized
production of hazardous chemicals in Shanxi Province”.

Development and Training

Although the Group has no formal policy on development
and training, the Group provided comprehensive career
development and training to employees. A wide range
of topics such as internal occupational health and safety

training were provided to employees.

Along with the implementation of new environmental
protection facilities, on-site training has been provided
by contractors to ensure the proper function of the newly
installed equipment, topics including but not limited to:

° Structure and mechanism of the facility;

o Facility operation and maintenance; and

o Proper selection and usage of spare parts and

auxiliary materials.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly follows relevant laws and regulations such
as the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of
the PRC, the Law on the Protection of Minors to manage
labour practices. Screening and background check have
been performed when recruiting new employees.

No child labour, forced, or compulsory labour was reported
and/or identified within any sites of the Group during the
reporting period. There are no major risks associated with
incidents of child labour, forced or compulsory labour within
the Group’s operation sites.

B2.

B3.

B4.
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2. Operating Practices 2. HEER

B5, H#EHER
RERERRERBITEREY
BEAEN EERTFEME
R EERE - {emi

B5. Supply Chain Management
There were no major updates on the Procurement Policy
and Standardized Purchasing Procedure, which continue to
lay out key areas on risk assessment of major suppliers, to

ensure a secure supply of raw materials.

When applicable, the Group specifies detailed clauses
within contracts to ensure business partners have
implemented adequate management policies regarding their
social and environmental impacts. For example, within the
Environmental and Energy Property Management Contract,
the Group requested that both parties shall comply with the

REM B2 R 2 HE -

RERE  NEBEFTHANZH
AR - ARERETS A IERH 5L
EHHERREFEERENER
BRE - flmn - RRERERYE
EEANT  AREEXIINE
HBBTRERRFERTE

safety and environmental protection requirements:

e The service provider shall set up a management e RBHEHERUEEZR
committee to ensure safety production; EEUBRELEERE

e The service provider shall submit to the Group’s o EBEAKEBMEBEERRE
supervision whenever the Group observes a potential REHEDAREAEE
risk; BE

o The service provider shall arrange its personnel to o MRBEHEMALZHEAER

T%'$‘EEI%E1 I3
Al

receive necessary training offered by the Group; and

an

e The Group will send designated personnel to conduct o FKEEBREETASE
on-site surveys to monitor the service providers’ TRZAENETRBH
performance. BRI
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmEF

Product Labelling, Health and Safety, and Advertising
Product labelling, health and safety, and advertising were
not applicable due to the business nature of the Group.

Quality Assurance

There were no major updates on the product responsibility
policy in 2018, which continues to guide the general quality
assurance and quality control processes. The laboratory
continues to closely monitor key quality parameters such
as water content, ash content, sulfur content, volatile matter
content of the raw coal. Sampling methods strictly follow
national standards such as GB482-1995, GB481-93, and
GB475-1996. Other national standards were also followed
during quality assurance and quality control processes,
including but not limited to:

e (GB/T4000-2008 Coke — Determination of reactivity and
strength after reaction

e (GB/T5447-2014 Determination of caking index of
bituminous coal

e (GB/T214-2007 Determination of sulphur in coal

e (GB/T212-2008 Proximate analysis of coal

e (GB474-2008 Preparation of coal sample

No non-compliance outgoing products were reported during
the reporting period. All incoming raw coal were checked
by the quality department, when low-quality raw coal was
detected, they would be mixed with other higher quality coal

for further production.
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Data Protection

The Group acknowledges the importance of protecting
privacy and confidentiality of relevant stakeholders. The
Group implements various schemes to prevent data leakage
and misuse or abuse of customer sensitive information, such
as implementing anti-virus protection practices regularly. No
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to privacy matters
had been identified during the reporting period.

Intellectual Property
Due to the nature of the Group, no policies on intellectual

property rights protection were formulated.

B7. Anti-corruption

B8.

The Group requires that all employees shall conform to
the Law Against Unfair Competition of the PRC, Criminal
Law of the PRC, and other laws, regulations and regulatory
documents related to commercial bribery. The Group’s
Legal Department continues to implement a monitoring
system to ensure zero tolerance of corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, money laundering, and any other unlawful

activities.

The Group has not aided, abetted, assisted or colluded with
an individual who has committed, or conspired to commit
any unlawful activities. No non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group relating to corruption, bribery, fraud and money
laundering had been identified during the reporting period.

Community Investment

The Group strives to implement corporate social
responsibility and actively participates in public welfare
activities. During the reporting period, the Group had
participated in the National Poverty Alleviation in Rural Areas
and generously provided a total donation of RMB 400,000
for poverty alleviation in two villages in Lin county, Shanxi

province.
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To the shareholders of Huscoke Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Huscoke Resources Holdings Limited)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huscoke Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 83 to 195, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of

significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the “Basis
for Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated financial
statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Accounting for interest in an associate

The Group has not accounted for its interest in an associate, EDB Holding
Limited (“EDB”), using the equity method in the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. As explained in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, as EDB has not yet completed
the audit of its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, the management
could not obtain reliable audited financial information of EDB and its
subsidiaries to account for the Group’s interest in EDB using the equity
method in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard (*HKAS”)
28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. This investment was
accounted for on cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements therefore do not comply with HKAS
28 so far to account for the Group’s interest in associate using the equity
method. Had the Group’s interest in EDB been accounted for using the
equity method, certain elements in the consolidated financial statements
would have to be adjusted. The effects on this non-compliance however
have not been determined.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
In addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” 4

section, we have identified the following key audit matters:

HREZEE
AREZSRNREES CEXAE  RARYE
FEGAHRGSMBERRERERZER %
FEEREESHEAMBRRERETERYL
ERERZESTRE BEETHZSREREM
BEER -BRTIREER AR MO FER
BECHENTHREEREE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

MWE - BERREZHE

How the matter was addressed in our audit
ZEEEERTNMEE

VR BT RA A B HHEMES - 12 R 141F4

Relevant disclosures are made in notes 3, 12 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment (the “PPE”), net of accumulated
impairment and depreciation, was approximately HK$570.6
million which represented approximately 85% of the total
non-current assets of the Group. In view of the continuous
improvement in operating results for the year, an impairment
assessment on the Group’s cash generating units (the
“CGUs”) was performed to which the PPE belonged at
the end of the reporting period. Based on the results of
the assessment, a reversal of impairment loss of HK$99.1
million was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2018.
RZZE-NFF+ZA=+—H0 9% BELRZXE (Y
X BERERED ZREENRZARERTER HA
570,600,00087C ' 5 BEEEFRBEELTELES% - R
FAREEERENE  BESEHRBERRME BER
REMBZECEFEM ((REELBM]) EITRENE -
BEAGEER BHE_T-\F+_A=t—BLFE R
18 5 P HERR R (B85 ¥ 7 121 99,100,000 8 7T ©

An assessment of the recoverable amounts of the CGUs
was performed by using a value-in-use approach based
on discounted cash flow calculations. In this assessment,
significant judgement and estimation by management
are required to determine the key assumptions, including
sales growth rates, production capacity utilisation, pricing,
production costs and the discount rates applied in the
discounted cash flows.
SEEECHERAKBERRRERFE LR ' f
Bz REEE - ETIENER  EEEREREX
FIET R fhEt  AEERRER - AREEERE ERERX
EE FERFUARMRReREMBzUTRE -

BEEFEREE

Management has engaged independent professional valuer

whose work has been relied on in estimating recoverable

amounts of the CGUs to which the PPE belonged at the end

of the reporting period.

ERECEZEBYEXMEM UBRBRSHRME  BE
FEMBERSEF B AN ESEEH A -

Our key procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of the PPE included:
BERDE BELREAETEZIERFBE

- Evaluating the management assessment of reversal

indicators with reference to external business
environment of coke industry and operating results of
the Group;

- HEEEEL2EERTEIIIEEBRER
IS B T B B RR IR PR AT

E£HE

- Evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity

of the valuer;

- FHEMRERZTEE  EHRFERLE:

- Assessing the appropriateness of the work of the valuer

by making enquiries on the bases of valuation and

obtaining corroborative evidence on the input data; and
- HEEERELSHARREMBABIRZEE  ®Mar

fREEMIEZRE Y &

- Considering the relevance and reasonableness of key

assumptions and methods used, and the relevance and
accuracy of the source data used.

- ZRHERBRRMAGESEZREHBERAE  kKMA
[RIGEIR R AR RO
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

HREREHEE)

Loss allowance in respect of trade receivables and
prepayments, deposits and other receivables
BFHEZBRIIRFRURBNRIE - REREMERIRR 2B
BiE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAELPNTRE

Relevant disclosures are made in note 3, 19, 20, 21 and 39 .

HEERE RT3 1920~ 21 R 39 fEH »

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had trade receivables
and prepayments, deposits and other receivables amounting
to approximately HK$367.1 million and HK$365.8 million
respectively. Loss allowance amounting to approximately
HK$52.9 million and HK$12.5 million has been made on trade
receivables and prepayments, deposits and other receivables
respectively.

RZZ-N\FF+ZA=1+—H  BEEEZESREKIEZAK
FRFE - e REAEIIR D 5445 367,100,000 7T &
365,800,000/ 7T - EREEHE 5 EUIRFARFERNFR -
Re o E R UOIR 3 RIE B 18 B4 40 52,900,000 7 7T K
12,500,000 7 T, °

Loss allowances for trade receivables and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit losses
to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ and debtors’ repayment history, collaterals
pledged and financial position and an assessment of both
the current and forecast general economic conditions, all of
which involve significant degree of management judgement
and estimation.
BHRBIRTRANRIE - e R EMEUIRR 2 ERERE
DEREBBUEAFHRIBTEL 12EAEREEEE
B HEEZSCEEELR BB HRIREARE
EFPREBARNCH CEMERLRIBMLA RSB
RIAITRB —REEMRR < FTEREE - EREEHFREKR
1B 2 B T2 AR R b5t

Our key procedures in relation to management's impairment
assessment on trade receivables and prepayments, deposits
and other receivables included:
EEREREHE SRR R RIFAMFIE - e RE MR
IRFUBEN A T BREFBEE

- Assessing whether items in the trade receivables ageing
report were classified within the appropriate ageing
bracket by comparing, on a sample basis, individual
items in the report with the relevant sales invoices and
credit terms;

- BESRUIRSIRRERET 2 ERIEE BAEHEEESR
MEEGREALE  MEFEERETZHEERS
FREEERKBENRN

- Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables, amount due
from the non-controlling shareholder and prepayments,
deposits and other receivables by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, assessing the
validity and value of the assets pledged, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual losses
recorded during the current financial year and assessing
whether there was an indication of management bias
when recognising loss allowances; and

- HETEEERUEKAEBAEER  EBEAIR
BREEBNBERCERNL FREREEZARULEE -
AEBEBREEAR A AMORMATEEER @R
BRRESERMYMREEARS cEREBERRTGERE
FLE 5 R UORTR - A IE R AR AR R IA LA K TR 3R -
R REMBUIRT . BREERE 2RI - LR
RERBERIGEEEASLERE: &

- Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability of
trade receivables and prepayments, deposits and
other receivables with reference to historical utilisation
pattern of prepayments and deposits and credit history
of trade debtors including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and ageing
analysis.

- SEENREARES2BEHRRAULE HERIRK
ZEERE (BEEBNONTEMNN KELE RES
BRIRE D) FEEHRUBIRRRFENTIE - RER
HA KR FGER A THRE 2 &1 -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises information included in the Company’s 2018
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” section above, the Group should have accounted for its interest in
an associate, EDB, in accordance with HKAS 28. We have concluded that
the other information would be materially misstated for the same reason with

respect to the information therein affected by such departure.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED

WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group’s internal control.
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B N B BT R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE REMREZGENRREREZEE(Z)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going ¢ HERRAEAELLETER 2 BREME
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence Hatwm  WIREMER Z BZRE AT
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or EAGFEREHYABERBEEZENTET
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to - magy EEERELE2ENE
continue as a going concerm. If we conclude that a material uncertainty KEREE - NESRBFEERTHEEN -
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the AENEEZEMBETREERAELR
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such RENBHRERP o BERE BEBER
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are BERTR 8 -T:.E FRALAFEREE
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s MZEM®RE -  EEH4E uﬁ%ﬁﬁf\\ﬁi%
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to EGiiEi= E?@JJ:FHHX S EORE - A
cease to continue as a going concern. AREGSBERTHES ESEEER

Fige o

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the o FEBHEAMERR 2 BEIRHA &
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and AR BEEEEN UREE Hﬂk#ﬁ
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying REBAARBMBERIZMEIR -
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial o 5t BSEEERAEK IS 2 HKEHE
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to RAESRBEE 2 B%EE - Xﬂﬁ Gk
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are BREXER - BZAEEE LENH
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group NEEEZ TEHBEZERRELHNERMT -

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BAABBBHEENRE KRR
BREREER ERESEERDME
EZAERERBRE o

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among &ZEEE
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant &
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that Bl A 5543
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we ZENAEEEARAERIER  HAZTSEH
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, A AMB It 2 HEBEEK  WERFESEBM

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may BAABEMBRASTETEBYEZBEREM
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, =& » JA K% 4E F‘ﬁ Py e (Em) o

related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B RN S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law and regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is:

Chan Wai Man
Practising Certificate number: P02487

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEEEWSER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
it TET TET
REVENUE WA 5 1,478,049 1,330,791
Cost of sales HEMAK (1,232,228) (1,117,808)
Gross profit ES 245,821 212,983
Other income and gains, net Hipg A Rz o F 5 5 44,953 45,419
Selling and distribution costs HE R R (137,637) (146,429)
Administrative expenses ERER (103,301) (83,804)
Finance costs BER 6 (2,200) (8,015)
Other operating income, net EfgalA - 558 29,243 21,528
Reversal of impairment loss on items of mE - FBELEEEE
property, plant and equipment AEERER 12 99,053 84,977
PROFIT BEFORE TAX PRBL A& A 7 175,932 126,659
Income tax (expense)/credit R (X)) /e 10 (29,951) 5,254
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERA 145,981 131,913
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME HEth2 @ (FE) s
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be EpMBgTENIEE
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent BazEM2mE
periods: (B518) /W
Exchange differences on translation of BIEBTEES 2
foreign operations ABRESR (28,592) 16,456
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME AEERMZE (BB)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Wz BRBE (28,592) 16,456
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR rEEXHKSAR
THE YEAR 117,389 148,369
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SeEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
liria TER TET
Profit for the year attributable to: AL AREERR
Owners of the Company /NI 2N 128,391 117,898
Non-controlling interests el da 30 17,590 14,015
145,981 131,913
Total comprehensive income attributable to: B2 H A%
Owners of the Company ARREBA 102,377 132,824
Non-controlling interests FEIE R b 15,012 15,545
117,389 148,369
EARNINGS PER SHARE BREF 11
Basic HAR HK4.92 cents Bl HK4.54 cents /&1l
Diluted BE HK4.74 cents Bl HK4.52 cents & ll

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B ISR 2R

At 31 December 2018 R =2 —/\&+=-A=+—8

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$'000
it FHBT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB MR 12 570,644 495,154
Goodwill B 13 - -
Interest in an associate R—EEE R 2R 15 101,804 -
Available-for-sale financial assets T ESHEE 16 - 1,115
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFABRZ
profit or loss TREE 17 1,508 -
Deferred tax asset BERBEE 26 = 12,646
Prepayments BRI IE 20 - 1,771
Total non-current assets FEREEELTE 673,956 510,686
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories & 18 85,377 54,744
Trade receivables B 5 IR R 19 367,083 267,037
Prepayments, deposits and other BRNRE K2k
receivables HAth e iR K 20 365,808 214,404
Tax recoverable A e IAE - 8
Cash and bank balances Re MRTER 22 18,894 69,655
Total current assets B EERSE 837,162 605,848
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Trade payables B 5 ERIRN 23 237,326 158,188
Other payables, accruals and deposit HipETIRK - BRr A
received REWIEZES 24 625,982 474,201
Convertible bonds AR ES 31 43,526 -
Tax payable AN E] 5,150 -
Total current liabilities mBAEASE 911,984 632,389
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFHE (74,822) (26,541)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EEZZERABER 599,134 484,145
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B RS IR &=

At 31 December 2018 A = —\F+=-A=1+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
Hrst FEx FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables and deferred income Hofth JE T IR SRR R YA 24 8,205 8,455
Other borrowings Hipfg & 25 18,188 18,188
Deferred tax liability EERIEAE 26 11,253 106
Convertible bonds AR ES 31 - 41,427
Total non-current liabilities FERBEEERE 37,646 68,176
NET ASSETS EEFHE 561,488 415,969
EQUITY fiz #E
Equity attributable to owners of the Company RRABER AEIERE
Share capital L% 27 27,264 25,966
Reserves & 485,737 350,902
513,001 376,868
Non-controlling interests R E S 30 48,487 39,101
TOTAL EQUITY PrrER R 561,488 415,969

The consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 195 were approved

and authorised for issue by the Board on 28 March 2019 and are signed on

its behalf by:

Director

BEF

Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang
B X L

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

Director

EF

FBBENBAZGAMBRERENR-F—N=A
“tN\BEREFEHERRETE  LHTIE
EFHREREE:

Mr. SO Chiu Fung

BR#ELE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

Atributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARE
Reserves
#h
Share  Exchange Capital ~ Convertible Non-
Share Share  Contributed Special Other option  fluctuation  redemption bonds  Accumulated controlling
capiial  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve losses  Subtotal Total interests Total

EREE GERD  E0EE TAREA
e RBEE  AARR  RIRE  EHER i h itk HE  ZiEE i &t HERER &
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS000  HK§000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HKS000  HK$000
Tin Tén  TEn TR TR Tin Tén  TEn TR Tin Tin Tén  TEn TR
(Nokej) Notei) — (Notei)
() (W) hEi)

At 1 January 2017 RIE-tF
-A-A 24,036 U136t 1T 18,236 (9,788) 3,565 81231 85 550200 (1906083 220574 244610 229% 267,605
Proitfor e year RERRH - - - - - - - - SRS ITEB T8 1015 13191
Other comprehensive income  AEFE{2E
forthe year: Y :
Exchangediferenceson SN EEAEES
translafion of LHBEE
foreign operations - - - - - - 14,926 - - - 14,926 14,926 1530 16,46
Total comprehensive income  AEF2ENAEE
for the year - - - - - - 14,96 - - 117,898 132,824 132,824 15,545 148,369
Transactons with owners: — EEEAZRS
Comversion of convertble AT ERER
bonds 1980 - sg . . . . - (000 S . . -
Transfer of equity component B4 E&EHE
fo acoumulated losses REZHEE
upon extinguishment - - - - - - - - (137) 187 - - - -
Exinguishmentof the 2016~ EEEZZE-A
Convertible Bonds FUBRES - - - - - - - - (13) 13 - - - -
Recogniton of the 2017 B -Ft
Convertile Bonds FUBRES - - - - - - - - 38 (368) - - - -
Lapsed share options BRi EREE - - - - - (1076) - - - 1076 - - - -
Acquisiion of non-controling E—THEAF
interests of a subsiciary LHERiER - - - - (566) - - - - - (566) (566) 561 ()
Total ransactions with owners  ERAAZ X 54% 1,930 - 548,120 - 566) (1,076) - - (549832 858 (2.4%) (566) 561 (5
At 31 December 2017 RZE-tF
T2h=1-R 25,966 341361 1,689,847 18,236 (10,354) 2509 96,157 8 3668 (1787307) 350902 376,868 39,101 415969
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN IN
Reserves
i
Share  Exchange Capital - Convertible Non-
Share Share  Contributed Special Other option  fluctuation ~ redemption bonds Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Subtotal Total interests Total

BREE JER®  4rRE TR
BE RBEE  SABE  HHEBRE  AUGR B (i fife  EHEE  ZHER i & FhRER it
HK§000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEn TEn TR T TR TEn TEn TR T TR TEn TR TR T

(Notes) — (Noted) — (Nokeii)
() (wsti) (i)
At1 January 2018 RZE-N§
-A- 25,966 341361 1,689,847 18,236 (10,354) 2,509 96,157 85 368 (1,78730) 350902 376,868 39,101 415,969
Profit for the year TEEET = = - - - - - - - 128,391 128,391 128,391 17,590 145,981
Other comprefensive loss ~ AEEAf2E
for the year: BE:
Bxchange diferenceson ~ BHNERHTEE
tranglafion of LHRER
foreign operations - - - - - - (26,04) - - - (26,014) (26,014 2578 (285%)
Total comprehensive (oss) KB 2R (BE)
oome for e year KseE = s . = = - s . I 1K AN 7/ BT 'V T £
Transactions wihowners: ~ EEEAZXS
Share allotment kg 1,298 32,458 - - - - - - - - 32,458 33,756 - 33,756
Dividends tonon-controlling MR ER RS
interests ke - - - - - - - - - - - - (5,626) (5,626)
Total ransactions with owngrs &R AZRHEE 1,298 32,458 - - - - - - - - 32,458 33,756 (562) 28130
At 31 December 2018 RIE-)\E
t2A=1-H 27,264 373819 1,689,847 18,236 (10,354) 2,509 70,143 8 368  (1,658,916) 485,737 513,001 4g 487 561,488
Notes: Mt -

(i) The contributed surplus represents the excess of the value of shares converted (i)  RIFEFRE—N/—FREEE0(1)E  FA

upon conversion of the 2008 Convertible Bonds over the nominal amount of the BERIER M FF N\ F A RREFF LR R
ordinary shares issued pursuant to section 40(1) of the Bermuda Companies EEELEFTEAREE S ZERENEME
Act 1981 and the credit arising from the capital reorganisation. EZHR

(i) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of (i) S EIEHE L AR AR I Bk (7 & H.2 5%

the shares of the subsidiaries at the date when the shares were acquired by GEEHELL GG REETZREGEEZ EFE -
the Company and the nominal amount of the Company's shares issued for the
acquisition.

(i) The other reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the — (iii) EMGEEIZE M AELLEES 1R ER
consideration paid and the relevant share of carrying value of the subsidiary’s WENE L AR EFEIREELE B HSE
net assets acquired from the non-controlling interest. o

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HKS$’ 000 HK$ 000
FTEx FET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Profit before tax BR B AT 4 A 175,932 126,659
Adjustments for: I
Finance costs Bi5E 2,200 8,015
Interest income FEWA (22) (21)
Depreciation e 42,286 46,464
Reversal of impairment loss on items of mE - BEREBIEE
property, plant and equipment RERBERE (99,053) (84,977)
Write-back of inventories provision BOGFERE - (3,654)
Loss allowance of trade receivables, net 25 EWIR B EEE  F8 154 411
Reversal of impairment loss of prepayments, net  JBfFIBR BB EE - F5E - (6,112)
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEKERBEER 2 WE
plant and equipment - (658)
Gain on debt restructuring EREE 7 W = (8,801)
Loss arising from amendment to convertible B RREREE ZEE
bonds - 188
121,497 77,514
(Increase)/decrease in inventories BTE(GEM),w (35,077) 6,737
Increase in trade receivables B 5 N TR (117,772) (25,523)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and B FUA © 1R K E A R UOR ZOE
other receivables (37,332) (7,136)
Increase in an amount due from the P Wi FE R i AR PR R I 3 N
non-controlling shareholder (1,324) (140)
Increase in financial assets FVPL/ BAREABGZEREE/
available-for-sale financial assets AHEE SR EEE N (393) (16)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables L S EMRRE M, O ) 91,452 (46,697)
Increase in other payables, accruals and Hip IR - BRRUE - EdiRE
deposits received and deferred income R 3 FE U A 32 133,262 95,477
Cash generated from operations EEAREEB RS 154,313 100,216
Interest paid BERFE (101) (2,129)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BREBNEH 8 (56)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REQEXBREFH 154,220 98,031
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
liria FEx FET

INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Purchases of items of property, plant BEWE  BEREE

and equipment BH 12 (47,367) (21,457)
Acquisition of an associate Ui — i = A A 15 (23,040) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interest W BE JE AR M = (5)
Increase in other receivables due from FEM e AR AR R 2

the non-controlling shareholder H At JiE JOHR SR 2 A0 21 (134,592) (104,863)
Interest received B B 22 21
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ARREXR RS FHE (204,977) (126,304)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH RERASEBWHL

EQUIVALENTS B (50,757) (28,273)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning BEMYV e R

of the reporting period ReZEEY 69,655 97,931
Effect of foreign currency rate changes, net [ExFE s HE 55 (4) 3)
Cash and cash equivalents at BEMRCRER

the end of the reporting period RBeZEEYD 18,894 69,655
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH RERREEENZ

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS BRI
Cash and bank balances BeMRTHER 18,894 69,655

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATION AND GROUP INFORMATION
Huscoke Holdings Limited (formerly known as Huscoke Resources

Holdings Limited) was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted

company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the Stock

Exchange. The registered office at the end of the reporting period is

located at Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12, Bermuda

and the principal office at the end of the reporting period is located at

Room 2301, 23/F, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Admiralty,

Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group were involved in the following activities:

- coke trading business;

- coal-related ancillary business; and

- coke production business.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

ARREEER

MEERAERAR (REANEEREREA
RABDRBREAMKUABREERA
Al HIRMEBZM Em e RBEHR
AWM EEREZNSE D B Canon's
Court, 22 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM12,
Bermuda M BB ¢ ESEBESFNEH L
F 123182301 E °

RAFEE - NEEY RIA TR

- RBRREZEH:

- RREEMERY &

- EREEXRH-

ERMBERRZEN
ARBTEMBRBZHENT

Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
AL, BRITEER AREEERE
£ EEM I AR A Aok TEXK
Direct Indirect
BE B
Rich Key Enterprises Limited” British Virgin US$1 100% - Investment holding
Islands/
Hong Kong
EECERRDA RBRETES/ e REER
N
Pride Eagle Investments Limited*  British Virgin US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Islands/
Hong Kong
HERERR A" RBRETES/ 13%7T REZER
N
Huscoke International Group Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading of coke
Limited Hong Kong
NEEREEERAR BB/ BE 10,0007 7T BEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATION AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

DEAREEEN (B)

FHNEATZEN(E)
ARBEZEMBRRZHBIT : (&)

(continued)
Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
Ak, BRITEER RATEIERRE
=L EE I ot i AR A Bat TEXK
Direct Indirect
BE kS
Herong Resources Limited Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading of coke
Hong Kong
MBERERLD A BB/ BE 10,0007 7T BEER
Ocean Signal Limited Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 - 100%  Assets holding
Hong Kong
BHERDA BB/ BE 10,0007 7T BERA
Joy Wisdom International British Virgin US$1,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited* Islands/
Hong Kong
BHRBEBRARLA" EBRNES/ 1,000 7T REZEK
BE
Huscoke International Investment Hong Kong/ HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited Hong Kong
MEBRKRERRRAA BB/ BB 187 REFER

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

1. CORPORATION AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

REAREEMEN (&)

FHNBARZEN(E)
ARBETEMBLRRZHBNT : (&)

(continued)
Issued
Place of ordinary/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered equity attributable
Name operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
B AV BRTEBER AREELRE
=1 EEE AR A Bt TEXH
Direct Indirect
B F 3
GRG Huscoke (Shan Xi) Ltd The PRC/The PRC HK$715,000,000 - 90%  Coal-related ancillary
(“GRG Huscoke”)* (Note i) business; coke
production and
coke trading
LS ERZERERAR hE, hE 715,000,000 7 RS
(T&EME)) (W) ERAERBESE
%
Wealth Guardian Holdings British Virgin US$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited* Islands/
Hong Kong
EHERBRAR" EBRAEE/ 1%L RERRK
BiE
Good Guardian Investments British Virgin US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited* Islands/
Hong Kong
EHEREBRAR" EBRAEE/ 1%L REERK
BiE
Fruitful International Investments  Hong Kong/ HK$10,000 - 100%  Investments
Limited Hong Kong
ELEBRREBRATF B/ BE 10,0007 7T ®E
Joint Bloom Enterprises Limited*  British Virgin US$1 100% - Investment holding
(Note ii) Islands/
Hong Kong
ARECERARRR (Hiti) EBRAEE/ 1%L REERRK
BE
True Tycoon Limited* (Note if) Cayman Islands/ US$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong
HETBRAR " (BEti) HEHR B e RERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.1

CORPORATION AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

*

The statutory financial statements of these subsidiaries are not audited
by Mazars CPA Limited, or another member firm of the Mazars global
network.

Notes:

(i) GRG Huscoke is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture company established
in the PRC.

(i) The companies were incorporated during the year ended 31 December
2018.

(i)~ None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of
the reporting period, or at anytime during the reporting period.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for the year and
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recorded net current liabilities
of approximately HK$74,822,000 (2017: HK$26,541,000) and
consolidated accumulated losses of approximately HK$1,658,916,000
(2017: HK$1,787,307,000). The Group also recorded consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 December 2018 of approximately
HK$145,981,000 (2017: HK$131,913,000) though it was principally
derived from reversal of impairment loss on items of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$99,053,000 (2017: HK$84,977,000).

In view of these circumstances, the Directors considered the Group’s
future liquidity, its operating results in recent years and its available
sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern. In this connection,
the Directors have taken into account of the following measures and
factors to assess the validity of the adoption of going concern principle:

(@) On 18 February 2019, the Company and Rontac Resources
Company Limited, the holder of the 2017 Convertible Bonds (as
defined in note 31) with principal amount of HK$43,277,000,
entered into an agreement to extend the maturity date of the 2017
Convertible Bonds for one year to 31 August 2020 with all other
terms and conditions remain unchanged. The extension is subject
to approval of Shareholders at a special general meeting (“SGM”)
to be held on 9 April 2019. Further details are set out in notes 31
and 41(a) to the consolidated financial statements.
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2.1

BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

(b) The Directors will consider to improve the financial position of the
Group (i) enlarge the capital base of the Company by conducting
fund raising exercises such as share placement or (ii) obtain bank
facilities when necessary.

(c) Management has used its best endeavor to improve the Group’s
operating results to attain positive operating cash flows. The
Group’s operation has been recovering in light of continuous
improved market demand for coke production in the PRC during
the year. A gross profit of approximately HK$245,821,000 (2017:
HK$212,983,000) was recorded for the year ended 31 December
2018. The Group continued to generate net cash inflows from
its operations during the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Directors believe that the recovery momentum will continue and
the operation will keep contributing positive cash inflows to the
Group in the foreseeable future.

(d) Included in the current liabilities of the Group as at 31 December
2018 is an amount of approximately HK$214,700,000 (2017:
HK$199,108,000) in relation to contract liabilities from contracts
with customers within HKFRS 15, majority of which will be
recognised as revenue when the performance obligation is
satisfied. Taking into account the estimated costs to be incurred
in generating such revenue with reference to gross profit ratio
of around 16% for current year, the management considered
there is no significant cash outflow impact to the Group for such
amount in the foreseeable future.

After taking into account the above measures, the Directors consider
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due, and accordingly, are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.2

2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the 2017
consolidated financial statements except for the adoption of the
following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group and
effective from the current year. A summary of the principal accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/revised

HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transaction

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle: HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

to HKFRSs

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to HKFRS 2: Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for the
effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement
of cash-settled share-based payments; share-based payment
transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax
obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from
cash-settled to equity-settled.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.3 ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs (continued)
Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle
HKAS 28: Measuring an associate or joint venture or its

subsidiaries at fair value

The amendments clarify that the election to measure associates or joint
ventures at fair value or retain the fair value measurement applied by
investment entity associates or joint ventures can be made separately
for each associate or joint venture at the relevant date.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements since the Group is not eligible
to measure its interest in an associate at fair value.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22: Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate
to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income
(or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the
transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognised the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration.

The adoption of the interpretation does not have any significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments
The following terms are used in these consolidated financial
statements:

e FVPL: fair value through profit or loss.

e FVOCI: fair value through other comprehensive income.

e Designated FVOCI: equity instruments measured at FVOCI.

e Mandatory FVOCI: debt instruments measured at FVOCI.

HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39 Financial Instruments. Recognition and
Measurement for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
It introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities, impairment for financial
assets and hedge accounting.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.3 ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (continued)
In accordance with the transition provisions in HKFRS 9, comparative
information has not been restated and the Group has applied HKFRS 9
retrospectively to financial instruments that existed at 1 January 2018

(i.e. the date of initial application), except as described below:

(a)

The following assessments are made on the basis of facts and
circumstances that existed at the date of initial application:

(i) the determination of the business model within which a
financial asset is held;

(i)  the designation of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVPL or, in case of financial assets, at Designated FVOCI;
and

(iii) the de-designation of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVPL.

The above resulting classification shall be applied retrospectively.

If, at the date of initial application, determining whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
would require undue cost or effort, a loss allowance is recognised
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) at
each reporting date until the financial instrument is derecognised
unless that financial instrument has low credit risk at a reporting
date.

For investments in equity instruments that were measured at cost
under HKAS 39, the instruments are measured at fair value at the
date of initial application.

There is no difference between the previous carrying amounts of

financial assets under HKAS 39 and those upon adoption of HKFRS 9
at 1 January 2018.

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has no significant effect on the classification

and measurement of the Group’s financial liabilities.
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2.3 ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs (continued)
HKFRS 9: Financial Instruments (continued)
The following table reconciles the original measurement categories and

23
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carrying amounts under HKAS 39 to the new measurement categories
and carrying amounts under HKFRS 9 for each class of the Group’s

financial assets as at 1 January 2018.

BEEMS
AEDBERIRAERESHMHREREAE

BERGHERERATR

FETHHAENERIRABECHIRA TR -

Measurement category and
carrying amount under HKFRS 9
BERMBREERFE IR

ETEs BRIREE
Carrying amount Amortised
under HKAS 39 cost FVPL
EEEEL
Measurement category BB g ERIE 395 £ 395K BARE
under HKAS 39 BHTHEDE ETIREE BIEM A FTABE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FETT FAT
Available-for-sale financial assets THLESHEE
Private club debenture (Note i) FLAGETES (Hiti) 1,115 - 1,115
Loans and receivables (Note i) Bt REWHE (F7:Eii)
Trade receivables 2 5 U iR 5K 267,037 267,037 -
Other receivables ol YR K 158,983 158,983 -
Cash and bank balances ReMBTER 69,655 69,655 -
496,790 495,675 1,115
Notes: Wit -
(i) The private club debenture that was previously classified as available- (i) FEHABEBARLELHEEZMABAH

for-sale financial assets measured at FVOC| amounted to approximately
HK81,115,000 was classified as financial assets at FVPL at the date
of initial application since it does not meet the criteria to be classified
as Mandatory FVOC! and was not designated as Designated FVOC! in

accoraance with HKFRS 9.

(i) These items continue to be measured at amortised cost because, at the (i)
date of initial application, the Group's business model is to hold these
investments to collect the contractual cash flows and the cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest on the principal

amount outstanding.
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2.3 ADOPTION OF NEW/REVISED HKFRSs (continued)

HKFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 replaces, among others, HKAS 18 and HKAS 11 which
specified the revenue recognition arising from sale of goods and
rendering of services and the accounting for construction contracts
respectively. The Standard establishes a comprehensive framework for
revenue recognition and certain costs from contracts with customers
within its scope. It also introduces a cohesive set of disclosure
requirements that would result in an entity providing users of financial
statements with comprehensive information about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the

entity’s contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to apply the cumulative effect transition
method and recognised the cumulative effect of initial adoption
as an adjustment to the opening balance of components of equity
at 1 January 2018 (i.e. the date of initial application). Therefore,
the comparative information has not been restated for the effect of
HKFRS 15.

In addition, the Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively only to
contracts that were not completed at 1 January 2018 in accordance
with the transition provisions therein. The adoption of this standard
does not have a significant impact on the measurement and recognition
of revenue of the Group but additional disclosures have been made
throughout these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHBRMGE

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements is historical cost, except for financial assets at
FVPL, which are measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year
as that of the Company using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and profits
and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases.

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from owners of
the Company, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income and within equity in the consolidated statement
of financial position. The non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This choice of measurement basis is

made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.

Allocation of total comprehensive income

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the owners of the
Company and the non-controlling interest even if this results in the non-
controlling interest having a deficit balance.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in ownership interest

Changes in the Group's ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the

owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest determined at the date when control is lost and (ii) the
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests at the date when control
is lost. The amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to the disposed subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the parent had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Any investment retained in the former
subsidiary and any amounts owed by or to the former subsidiary are
accounted for as a financial asset, associate, joint venture or others as

appropriate from the date when control is lost.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group reassesses
whether it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that

there are changes to one or more of the elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented
within these notes, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. The carrying amount of the
investments is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual
basis, if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

24 IEEHBRMEE)

GARBEEE(Z)

HERREEEE
REBERMBAR Z HAEESZE (LT
BRKREZHE) IHFRER D AR - 2
BB gas 2 IREES THE  ARBR
HRMBRARCHHESEE - JFITiE
S AESEAMMNRIUKEZRRE
ZEZEMZRERNESTER LB
BRAREHEBA

AR EREHHE AR 2 2B Bl
ERERNCUREZARERRNKEE
HEEAMEEEMRERSCANEL
BRANZMBARCEE (BREBE) R
BEARERFFERERRREEHEE
AZRABEZ ZRFAE - KRS HEN
BRAANEMEZEREHERZTE 8%
ENBARCERLERBEESAEL
FIREREEAR - BEHRAEERE -
AT B LR RRE 2 EFRE LA B
DRIMBER LR EMEE - ARIS
TREE BHEQR  fELFRIEM (W
ER) -

MEAR
MEAREASEMEHER - WAKE
AXYARECAEBEXEMEZAANED
HOUERNEREHZLERIENTE
ZEOR - AAKESZERERZHE -
HEFERBRLER ZHEZ-BXZ
BTEHREY AKEKEHNFLER
LHWRE R BEHIE -

RARBEFBMRRK (RZEMZ25D A
B D RIRE AR AR £ R RER B
ReMBEEZRAESRATEREE
AIRE ZREERERNEEHHEE K
MEeH - MBARNXEALAATRENR
e B A E AR o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control of those policies.

The Group’s investment in associate is accounted for under the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment or a portion
thereof is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the
post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the investee’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment. Except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the investee, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses when the Group’s share of losses
of the investee equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its interest in
the investee, which includes any long term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the investee.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate is measured as the
excess of the cost of investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquired associate.
Such goodwill is included in interests in associates. On the other hand,
any excess of the Group’s share of its net fair value of identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of investment is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as an income.

In the Company’s statement of financial position which is presented
within these notes, an investment in associates and joint ventures
is stated at cost less impairment loss. The carrying amount of the
investment is reduced to its recoverable amount on an individual basis,
if it is higher than the recoverable amount. The results of associates
and joint ventures are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use. Repairs and maintenance are
charged to profit or loss during the year in which they are incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost, which comprises the related
construction and borrowing costs, if applicable, less any identified
impairment loss. The cost of construction in progress will not be
amortised until they are put into use and are transferred to a specific
category of property, plant and equipment when the construction is

completed.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as set out
below from the date on which they are available for use and after taking
into account their estimated residual values, using the straight-line
method. Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis and depreciated separately:
Leasehold land under Over the lease terms
finance leases
Buildings Over the shorter of the term
of the lease of the land
and 50 years

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms

Furnaces and infrastructure 25 years
Plant and machinery 8 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included

in profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Financial instruments SRMIE
Financial assets ETHEE
Recognition and derecognition WBRRAKILED

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments and
on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i) the Group’s
contractual rights to future cash flows from the financial asset expire
or (i) the Group transfers the financial asset and either (a) it transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
asset, or (b) it neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not retain control

CREENEEBEARERBRET
ZANBX—FTBERR 5 E 2 HE®R -

TREERKIBRANDEREE()AKHE
RERESBEERARREREZANEN
(N AKREEREREE (A E
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FEH (b)) AREREER D NRE

BEERBREZBAMNDERRDFER

of the financial asset. EETEREBHECRMEE ZIEHE -
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership MASEREEEeREERBRCEX

of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the
financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset,
the Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and measurement

Applicable from 1 January 2018

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a significant
financing component) are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in
the case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets. Such
trade receivables are initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i) measured at
amortised cost; (ii) Mandatory FVOCI; (iii) Designated FVOCI; or (iv)
FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continueq)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial assets
are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the
Group changes its business model for managing them, in which case
all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
annual reporting period following the change in the business model.

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of

the following conditions and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) itis held within a business model whose objective is to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;

and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses arising from impairment,

derecognition or through the amortisation process are recognised

in profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include cash and
bank balances, trade and other receivables, deposits paid and
amount due from the non-controlling shareholder.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueq)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continueq)

2

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not measured
at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL, financial assets resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies
and financial assets that are otherwise required to be measured
at FVPL. They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain
and loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets. Dividend or
interest income is presented separately from fair value gain or
loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near
term;

(i)  part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking on initial
recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract or not
a designated and effective hedging instrument.

The Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at FVPL
include private club debenture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M B RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueqd)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and measurement (continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2018

Financial assets are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the

case of financial assets not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are

directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

The Group classified its financial assets into one of the following

categories before 1 January 2018:

)

2)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables including trade and other receivables,
deposits paid, amount due from non-controlling shareholder
and cash and bank balances are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market and are not held for trading. They are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, except
where receivables are interest-free loans and without any fixed
repayment term or the effect of discounting would be insignificant.
In such case, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
loss. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition over the period to maturity.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition, impairment or
through the amortisation process are recognised in profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial
assets that are either designated at this category or not classified
in any of the other categories of financial assets. They are
measured at fair value with changes in value recognised as a
separate component of equity until the assets are sold, collected
or otherwise disposed of, or until the assets are determined to
be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
reported in other comprehensive income shall be reclassified to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the liability
is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value plus, in the
case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL, transaction costs that
are direct attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
accruals, other borrowings and convertible bonds. All financial
liabilities are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9

Applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECL on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost to which the impairment requirements
apply in accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount equal to
the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition. If the credit risk on a financial
asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present
value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the difference
between the contractual cash flows that are due to an entity under the
contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument while 12-month
ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12

months after the reporting date.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on the following one or more shared credit risk
characteristics:

(i)  past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(i) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since initial
recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance are recognised

as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that the Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets any of the following

criteria.

(i)  information developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held
by the Group); or

(i) thereis a breach of financial covenants by the counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk on a financial assets has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are

more than 30 days past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Low credit risk

A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) ithas alow risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term; and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in
calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
include observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider.

(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

(f)  the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount
that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items under HKFRS 9
(continued)

Werite-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has no
reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual cash flows on
a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a
policy of writing off the gross carrying amount based on historical
experience of recoveries of similar assets. The Group expects no
significant recovery from the amount written off. However, financial
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking
into account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.

Applicable before 1 January 2018

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether
there is objective evidence that financial assets, other than those at
FVPL, are impaired. The impairment loss of financial assets carried
at amortised cost is measured as the difference between the assets’
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flow
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Such
impairment loss is reversed in subsequent periods through profit or
loss when an increase in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
subject to a restriction that the carrying amount of the asset at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, a cumulative
loss comprising the difference between its acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and current fair value, less any
previously recognised impairment loss in profit or loss, is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. Impairment
losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity
instrument are not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent
increase in fair value of available-for-sale equity instrument after
recognition of impairment loss is recognised in equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Convertible bond

The component of the convertible bond that exhibits characteristics
of a liability is recognised as a liability in the statement of financial
position, net of issue costs.

On the issue of the convertible bond, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using a market rate for a similar bond that
does not have a conversion option; and this amount is carried as
a current liability on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on
conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option
that is recognised and included in shareholders’ equity, net of
issue costs. The value of the conversion option carried in equity is
not changed in subsequent years. When the conversion option is
exercised, the balance of the convertible bond equity reserve is
transferred to share capital or other appropriate reserve. When the
conversion option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance
remained in the convertible bond equity reserve is transferred to
accumulated profits/losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or

loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Issue costs are apportioned between the liability and equity
components of the convertible bond based on the allocation of
proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments
are first recognised. Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bond are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of
work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable
value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
equivalents represent short-term highly liquid investments which are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Revenue recognition
Applicable from 1 January 2018
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services
The Group engaged in the manufacture and sale of medium coal,
coke and by products, sales of electricity and heat and transportation

service.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or services
promised in a contract with a customer and identifies as a performance
obligation each promise to transfer to the customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if both of

the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either on its
own or together with other resources that are readily available
to the customer (i.e. the good or service is capable of being
distinct); and

(b) the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the
contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or service is distinct

within the context of the contract).
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to
a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains
control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue
over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as the
asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining when
the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the concept of
control and such indicators as legal title, physical possession, right to
payment, significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, and

customer acceptance.

Sale of medium coal, coke and by-products are recognised at a point
of time at which the customer obtains the control of the promised asset,
which generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered
to customers and the title is passed.

Sale of electricity and heat are recognised at a point of time when they

are consumed by the customers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2018 (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 (continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)
Service income of transportation services is recognised at a point of
time when the goods transferred are received by customers.

Interest income

Interest income from financial assets is recognised using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the assets while it is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount net of loss allowance) in case of
credit-impaired financial assets.

Applicable before 1 January 2018
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue and costs, if applicable,

can be measured reliably and on the following bases:

(a) the sales of medium coal, coke and by-products, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyers, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) the sales of electricity and heat, when the electricity and heat are
consumed by the customers;

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(d) transportation services are recognised when the services are
rendered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants after 7
November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the vesting
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at

the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless
there are also service and/or performance conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting
condition, the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if
the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is
recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as
measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised
for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for
the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on
the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented in the currency of

Hong Kong dollars, which is also the Company’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
The results and financial position of all the group entities that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency (the
“foreign operations”) are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

e Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the end of the
reporting period.

° Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rate.

e All resulting exchange differences arising from the above
translation and exchange differences arising from a monetary
item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign
operation are recognised as a separate component of equity.

e Onthe disposal of a foreign operation, which includes a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal
involving the loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to
the foreign operation that is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the separate component of equity is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the gain or loss on
disposal is recognised.

e On the partial disposal of the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation which does not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences recognised
in the separate component of equity is re-attributed to the
non-controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

° On all other partial disposals, which includes partial disposal of
associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control, the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to assess whether there is any
indication that its property, plant and equipment and interest in an
associate, may be impaired or impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the smallest group of
assets that generates cash flows independently (i.e. cash-generating
unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised as an expense immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount of the
asset or cash-generating unit that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversal of impairment
loss is recognised as income in profit or loss immediately.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As lessee
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant lease.

Lease incentives are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of
the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased asset. Contingent
rentals are recognised as expenses in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by

employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contribution to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
in Hong Kong are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of
the Scheme held separately from those of the Group in an independent
administrated fund.

Contributions to the state-managed retirement benefit schemes in the
PRC, which are calculated on certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs, are charged as expense when employees have rendered
services entitling them to the contributions.

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the
year as adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowed. It
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, any deferred tax arising from initial
recognition of goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is recovered or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been

enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 24 FEEHBEME(Z)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investment in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income over the years necessary to match
the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss
over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each holding company, subsidiary and

WEE)
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2.4 SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueqd)
Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the

entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a holding company of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members

who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in

their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes subsidiaries

of the associate and a joint venture includes subsidiaries of the joint
venture.
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2.5

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported
in the consolidated financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker for the purpose of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class
of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or provide
the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued the following new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant
to the Group and are not yet effective for the current year, which the
Group has not early adopted.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle’

HKFRS 16 Leases’

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments’
Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee benefits’
Amendments to HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures’
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with

Negative Compensation’

Amendments to HKASs 1 and 8 Definition of Material’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
3 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the first

annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
4 The effective date to be determined

24
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2.5 FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs (continued)

The Directors are in the process of assessing the possible impact on
the future adoption of these new/revised HKFRSs. So far, the Group
has identified some aspects of the new standards which may have
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. While
the assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16, the
actual impacts upon the initial adoption of the standard may differ
as the assessment completed to date is based on the information
currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be identified
before the standards are initially applied in the Group’s interim financial
information for the six months ending 30 June 2019. The Group may
also change its accounting policy elections, including the transition

options, until the standards are initially applied in that financial report.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16, which will be effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2019, significantly changes, among others, the
lessee accounting by replacing the dual model under HKAS 17 with
a single model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use and
lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created by all leases with
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. For lessor accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially carry forward
the lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor
continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases,
and to account for these two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16 also
requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees and lessors.

The initial application of HKFRS 16 will result in recognition of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for certain leases of the Company
that are currently classified as operating leases under HKAS 17.
Subsequently, depreciation (and, if applicable, impairment loss) and
interest will be recognised on the right-of-use assets and the lease
liabilities respectively. The total amount charged to profit or loss for
each reporting period is not expected to be significantly different from
the operating lease expense recognised under HKAS 17.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities.

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$11,253,000 (2017: approximately HK$106,000)
were provided for, in relation to the withholding tax on the distribution
of retained profits of the PRC subsidiary to be remitted out of the
PRC in foreseeable future. Further details are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

described below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group determines whether property, plant and equipment are
impaired or the impairment no longer exists and this requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which
these assets are allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose suitable discount rates in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Any change in
the business environment may lead to the change in expected future
cash flows. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as
at 31 December 2018 was HK$570,644,000 (2017: HK$495,154,000).
Further details are set out in notes 12 and 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Depreciation

The Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment over their
estimated useful lives, commencing from the date the property, plant
and equipment are ready for their intended use. The estimated useful
life reflects the management’s estimate of the periods that the Group
intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of the property,
plant and equipment. The depreciation will be changed when the
useful life is expected to be different from the estimate and would affect
profit or loss for the period in which such change of estimate takes

place.

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group's management estimates the loss allowance for financial
assets at amortised cost including trade receivables, amount due from
non-controlling shareholder and deposits and other receivables, by
using various inputs and assumptions including risk of a default and
expected loss rate. The estimation involves high degree of uncertainty
which is based on the Group’s historical information, recoverable
amount of collateral, past collection history of debtors, concentration
risk of debtors, the Group’s actual loss experience, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying amount of the
financial assets at amortised cost. Details of the key assumption and
inputs used in estimating ECL are set out in note 39 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units
based on their products and services and has the following reportable
operating segments:

(a) the coke trading segment — purchases and sales of coke and
coal;

(b) the coal-related ancillary segment — washing of raw coal into
refined coal for sale and for further processing, and sale of
electricity and heat which are generated as the by-products
during the washing of raw coal; and

(c) the coke production segment — processing of refined coal into
coke for sales, and sale of coke by-products that are generated
during coke production.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a
measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted profit/(loss)
before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss)
before tax except that interest income and sundry income, corporate
and administrative expenses, unallocated other operating income,
unallocated finance costs and income tax (expense)/credit are
excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and bank balances, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, tax recoverable, deferred tax
assets, interest in an associate and other unallocated head office and
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude other borrowings and convertible bonds for
corporate use, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group
basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted at cost plus a certain

percentage of mark-up.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4.
Segment revenue and results
For the year ended 31 December 2018

FTREBRARER

REQEEN(E)

BE-Z-N\FtZA=+-RLEFE

Coke Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary ~ Production Eliminations Total
oyl
ExES MBS HE ERERE HiH @it
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TiEx TR TR TEx TEx
Segment revenue EL/ON
- external sales —$MEE 35,884 91,119 1,351,046 - 1,478,049
- intersegment sales -DERHEE - 189,753 - (189,753) -
Other income Ht A - 41,316 - - 41,316
Total Bt 35,884 322,188 1,351,046 (189,753) 1,519,365
Segment results GEEL 315 (232,904) 504,755 (854) 271,312
Interest income and sundry FIE M AR
income 3,637
Corporate administrative ARIEEER
expenses (103,301)
Unallocated other operating AAOMEMEEHA
income 6,484
Unallocated finance costs ROBEHBER (2,200)
Profit before tax BR A& Rl 175,932
Income tax expense FisHFY (29,951)
Profit for the year AEER 145,981
The revenue of coal-ancillary segment includes revenue from B BENE DB ABREERRSEKRA

transportation service of HK$9,042,000 (2017: HK$7,233,000), sales
of electricity and heat of HK$71,508,000 (2017: HK$73,441,000) and
sales of by-products of HK$10,569,000 (2017: HK$28,945,000).

9,042,000 7T (ZF —+t & : 7,233,000
L) HESE KA ATIG08,000% T
(ZZ—+F:73441,000/8 1) R#EE

= m U A 10,569,000 T (ZE —+ 4 -
28,945,000/ 7C) °
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RBESBWEHRE)
Segment revenue and results (continued) PEBAREER(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE_Z—tH5+T-_H=1T—HItFE
Coke  Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary ~ Production  Eliminations Total
eiEl
ERES WES R EREE 58 &5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THBT TAL T TR

Segment revenue PEBA
- external sales —HINEE 32,130 109,619 1,189,042 - 1,330,791
- intersegment sales -DEREE - 285,959 - (285,959) -
Other income HiplA - 36,749 - - 36,749
Total war 32,130 432,327 1,189,042 (285,959) 1,367,540
Segment results NEEE 1,466 33,935 171,015 (1,287) 205,129

Interest income and sundry FIES WA RFEBRA

income 8,670
Corporate administrative ARIERER

expenses (83,804)
Unallocated other operating AOMEMLEHA

income 4,679
Unallocated finance costs AT BER (8,015)
Profit before tax BRI A& A 126,659
Income tax credit FiEHige 5,254
Profit for the year AEERF 131,913
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RESBEEH(E)

Segment assets and liabilities
At 31 December 2018

TREERER

RZE-NF+ZA=+—H

Coke  Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary Production Total
iR AEE
ERES MELE BREE @t
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
SEGMENT ASSETS PEEE
Segment assets PEERE 755 260,471 793,263 1,054,489
Corporate and unallocated assets DEIRADRERE 456,629
Consolidated assets GAREE 1,511,118
SEGMENT LIABILITIES PEEE
Segment liabilities NEEE 4,302 402,208 352,505 759,015
Corporate and unallocated liabilites AR AN EEE 190,615
Consolidated liabilities BeaE 949,630
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—tF+=ZA=1+—H
Coke Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary Production Total
eSriik
ERES MBS EREE Bit
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FEL TEL AT
SEGMENT ASSETS PEEE
Segment assets NEEE 3,223 513,293 303,608 820,124
Corporate and unallocated assets AR RANEEE 296,410
Consolidated assets RABE 1,116,534
SEGMENT LIABILITIES PEEE
Segment liabilities NEEE 2,535 268,746 303,361 574,642
Corporate and unallocated liabilites 2B RANEEE 125,923
Consolidated liabilities GARAE 700,565
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4, RBEDEEW(E)
Other Segment Information HitzEEH
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z-\F+ZA=+—HLEFE
Coke  Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary Production Total
R iAE
ERES KB E BREE @it
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TET TEr FHT TET
Additions of property, plant and NEME - BER&
equipment - 10,612 29,644 40,256
Unallocated iy 7,111
47,367
Depreciation e - 6,605 29,765 36,370
Unallocated L 5,916
42,286
Unallocated interest expenses on AOEMATE
discounted bills, other borrowings HibEER AR ES
and convertible bonds ZHERE 2,200
Provision/(reversal) of loss allowance & 5 IR G B &G,/
of trade receivables, net (BmE) - ¥ - 3,799 (3,645) 154
Provision/(reversal) of impairment nE BERSEHEBNE
loss on items of property, plantand ~ E5f2 s / (EE)
equipment - 268,943

(367,996) (99,053)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RESBEEH(E)
Other Segment Information (continued) HitiAEER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BE_Z—+tF+A=T—RHLFE
Coke Coal-related Coke
Trading Ancillary Production Total
BRI
SxE5 lE»E BREE Bat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THx T
Additions of property, plant and NEME  WERZE
equipment - 16,289 1,780 18,069
Unallocated Al 3,388
21,457
Depreciation nE - 39,820 188 40,008
Unallocated v 6,456
46,464
Unallocated interest expenses on AOEUAZE
discounted bills, other borrowings HinEERTARES
and convertible bonds ZHMERX 8,015
Provision/(reversal) of loss allowance & 5 JEURIR SR BB B,/
of trade receivables, net (%m) - ¥ - 912) 1,323 411
Reversal of loss allowance of BNFEBERERE - 38
prepayments, net - (1,098) (5,901) (6,999)
Unallocated ARE 887
(6,112)
Reversal of impairment loss on items 1% - BiE XX EEE
of property, plant and equipment HEBERD - - (84,977) (84,977)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueqd)
Geographical Information

(@

(b)

Revenue from external customers

The Group’s revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
and capital expenditures are predominantly attributable to
a single geographical region, the PRC, which is the Group’s
principal place of business and operations during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. Therefore, no analysis by
geographical region is presented.

The revenue information is based on the locations of the
customers.

Non-Current Assets

REDEEH (E)

HEEH

(a) FKENHBEFZHE
HE_Z-\FER-_ZT—+F+_A
S+—HEFE AEBZRA R
SoEE BEREBE UREAR
TBAEDKEE—E - BPE (K
CEFTBEBNEEDD) - At I
E2RUR D

WABRTIREEF REHED

(b) FREBEE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —BtF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong 5 3,764 2,563
The PRC B 566,880 494,362
570,644 496,925

The non-current asset information is based on the locations of the
assets and excludes interest in an associate, financial instruments
and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers
Revenues from external customers individually contributing 10% or
more of the total revenue from the Group are as follows:

BRFRDEEENIRBEEEME
gy BTBERN—HEE QA
2GS SRMIANEERERE -

EHEEEFZER
REIBEE 2 WA BRI E R AER LB
AZ10% KA ERIERMT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Coke Production Segment: EREEDE:
Customer A HEA 327,365 —*
Customer B XFB 190,857 -
Customer C ®FC 184,444 —*
Customer D ZFED —* 683,271
702,666 683,271

*

This customer did not individually contribute 10% or more of the total
revenue from Group in 2018 or 2017.

ZEFRZF—NFR=ZF—+F
FIE Bt K EBAGWA 10% 8L L o
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5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the value of services
rendered during the year.

An analysis of revenue and other income and gains is as follows:

DONSES L PN L 62
BAEFACEREM 2 FEREEAR
REBBREZTMMEHRSE 2 EE -

WAREMRA Rz 2 AT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
=3 FEx FET
Revenue from contracts with customers BBV EER
within HKFRS 15 E1557HERZ
BEFEHWA
Transportation service B R 9,042 7,233
Sales of electricity and heat HEE R 71,508 73,441
Sales of medium coal, coke and HERE - BR
by-products REIEm 1,397,499 1,250,117
1,478,049 1,330,791
Other income and gains, net Hibg AR W - F5
Interest income from bank deposits, RITFERZFIBIA -
calculated using effective interest method RABRMEETHE 22 21
Gain on disposal of items of property, plantand  HE¥W% - FE k&
equipment BE 2 W - 658
Gain on debt restructuring EBEH W 25(i) - 8,801
Loss arising from amendment to ERTATRRER T
convertible bonds EEZER = (188)
Government grant* BT Bh & 41,316 36,085
Sundry income HEHA 3,615 42
44,953 45,419

* Government grant have been received for supplying heat in the PRC.
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.

The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is based
on fixed price and recognised at a point in time.

The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended 31 December
2018 that was included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
year is approximately HK$170,341,000.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

Y EBRRTEHRERLRBBEDE o B
BHZEE A ERIFM L LARER -

ERHBREENE SHREANZEFS
OMAT R EE B B LR R AR
i

FHzaHEELEP  £170,341,0007
TR-_ZEZ—-NE+-_A=+—-AILEEH®
RERA -
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FINANCE COSTS 6. HKEHR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HBBRASMWET
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Interest on discounted bills B EEFE 101 2,129
Interest expenses on other borrowings EBECHEMEENSMX - 44
Interest expenses on convertible bonds BRZAERESFFEMT 2,099 5,842
2,200 8,015
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BREAER
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEBzBRBANEFNE,/ GIA) T&
HigFH
2018 2017
—E-N\E T—+F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
Bzt FEx FET
Cost of inventories sold HEFEMA 1,232,228 1,121,462
Auditor’s remuneration ZERIE & 1,050 1,600
Depreciation e 12 42,286 46,464
Operating lease payments in respect of T RERAMEE SRS
leasehold interests in land and rented ISR ERIA
properties 4,484 4,413
Employee benefit expense EERMAZ
(including directors’ remuneration): (BEEZENS)
Wages and salaries TERE® 71,957 61,450
Pension scheme contributions RKBRETEIHER
(Note i) (K1) 23,360 12,549
95,317 73,999
Write-back of inventories provision (Note i)~ B EITF & &4& (H1:7ii) - (3,654)
Loss allowance of trade receivables, B o RKIRFEERE 39
net (Note i) SEEE (W a2 i) 154 411
Reversal of loss allowance of prepayments, &+ B E B & EH#E - 20
net (Note i) FE (et i) - (6,112)
Reversal of impairment loss on items of Mm% BERSEEE 12
property, plant and equipment EEERE (99,053) (84,977)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BE K&
equipment 2 W - (658)
Fair value changes on financial assets at BARBERABREZER
FVPL/available-for-sale financial assets BE/MHEESH
(Note iii) BEZANEEY
(&t iin) (393) (16)

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R 137



138

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)
Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group had no forfeited
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes

in future years.

(i) The balance is included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated profit or

loss.

(i)~ These balances are included in “Other operating income, net” in the
consolidated profit or loss. The “Other operating income, net” also
included reversal of accruals of HK$29,397,000 for the year ended 31

December 2018 (2017: HK$15,827,000).

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing
Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

BRIGEDER (&)
Wiat -
() R-F-NFR-_F—+F+-H=+—

H - 25 (8] 30 4F 7] /7 (F HB A K AR R
EHEE T BRB L -

(i) ABRIAAGEE R [HEKTIA -

(i) ZERBEFALGEBRET [EMELZY
A FEI R [RMASEWRA » JFEE IR
FABZ=F—)\F+=-A=+—HIF
J& 2 # 0] JE 5 5 78 29,397,000,% 7T (— F
—+ 4 1 15,827,000;57T) -

EEHe

R ETREN - BB A BERIZE383(1)(a) *
(b) C)ROERRA (BEESHEER)
BB 2RHB I AFEEEETMMT -

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —T—+F

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FEx FET

Fees 2,663 2,309
Other emoluments:

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind > EB M E WE T 3,472 3,170

Pension scheme contributions RORAE RTS8 29 36

3,501 3,206

6,164 5515

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8. EEMe#)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind contributions Total
e EE RIER
ik REMEF BELE @it
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TER TER TER
2018 —E-N\F
Executive Directors: HiTES:
Zhao Xu Guang B 845 3,315 18 4,178
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick (re-designated &= (R =ZF—N\F
as non-executive Director on MANBHREAEHRT
9 April 2018) EE) 212 157 5 374
So Chiu Fung (appointed on ExEMZE-N\F
7 September 2018) NAtBEZAE) 394 - 6 400
Li Baogi (appointed on 9 April 2018 EBm(R=F-NF
and resigned on 7 September 2018) HANBEZERR
—T-N\§NAEtH
BHE) 543 - - 543
1,994 3,472 29 5,495
Non-executive Directors: FHTES:
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick 'O (RZE-N\F
(re-designated on 9 April 2018) MANBRE) 131 - - 131
Huang Man Yem BEXE 180 - - 180
311 - - 311

Independent non-executive Directors: BIFHITES :

Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie ME A 120 - - 120

To Wing Tim, Paddy HKR 120 - - 120
Lau Ka Ho (resigned on 14 December ~ 2IRXR (R=T—N\F

2018) TZATHBEE) 114 - - 114
Wang Wei Hsin (appointed on THIRZZE-NF

19 December 2018) TZAThBEZME) 4 - - 4

358 - - 358

2,663 3,472 29 6,164
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8. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued) 8. EBMe#)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind  contributions Total
e EH RIRER
e REMREF SRR BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTHET TET TEX
2017 S e
Executive Directors: HITES:
Zhao Xu Guang B 823 2,585 18 3,426
Wong Siu Hung, Patrick Y 845 585 18 1,448
1,668 3,170 36 4,874
Non-executive Directors: FHTEE:
Li Baog FEB(N_T—+F
(retired on 2 June 2017) NAZBRAE) 101 - - 101
Huang Man Yem BEXE 180 - - 180
281 - - 281
Independent non-executive Directors: B FHTES :
Lam Hoy Lee, Laurie bl 120 - - 120
To Wing Tim, Paddy a) O 120 - - 120
Lau Ka Ho AR% 120 - - 120
360 - - 360
2,309 3,170 36 5,515

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no emolument

of any director was waived or agreed to waive and no emolument was

paid by the Group to any director as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

HE_Z-N\ER=F—tF+H
St—HEFE BEEERELRER
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four*
Directors (2017: two), details of whose remuneration are set out in note
8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2017: three) highest paid employees, who are not a Director, are as
follows:

IEEREHER
REEZIERAFHEERENA ARF
EE(CT—LHF WME)  EHFMHEH
REXHEE AFEHT R (ZF—L
FZRIFARREZZREFEEZH
LESEE U

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—£F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EZBREDEN 677 1,522
Pension scheme contributions RIREFIFH B R 11 38
688 1,560
Number of employees
EEEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 T 702 1,000,000/ 7T 1 3

*

Including Li Baoqi who was appointed as executive Director on 9 April
2018 and resigned on 7 September 2018 and So Chiu Fung who was
appointed as executive Director on 7 September 2018.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no emolument
was paid by the Group to any of the above one (2017: three) highest
paid individual as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as there were no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

The income tax provision in respect of operations in the PRC is
calculated at the applicable tax rates of 25% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof while no provision for
the PRC profit tax was made for the year ended 31 December 2017 as
the PRC subsidiary had available tax losses brought forward from prior
years to offset the estimated assessable profits.

10.

Y BBRFER (KRR -_FE-N\FOAARE
FHERNTEERR -E—NNENA+H
BHE) REFR# (RR-—F-NNFANALH
BZIBHITEE) -

BE-_Z-NER=ZF—tF+=H
ST -BEFE - AEEHEREE L
—Z(CE—+F ZZ)EaF AN
FAMSIEAZBMARSE B 2 2E) B
BimE -

P&

AREALBERRTEHN  HREBE
“NER-F-—LF+-A=1—H
B EABE BN SR RBHE -

BRATEEBZABRBEEINRITER
AP REREN SRR F ARG ER
B R iR25% AN EEE  MEARE
R E+Z A=+ -BIEFELER
FEFGHELEE ERFERERA
BRERAFEAETHBERRTEN 2R
BEE -
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10.

—NET-A=+—RALFE

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. Fi8Hi (&)
2018 2017
—E-N\E —+F
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
Hret FET FET
Current — Hong Kong B —& B
Overprovision in prior years BAFEBERE - (161)
Current - The PRC B H — R
Charge for the year AEETH 5,440
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR - 7,122
Deferred tax EIERIA 26 24,511 (12,215)
Total tax expenses/(credit) for the year AEEBHRBERY (HE&) 29,951 (5,254)

Included in deferred tax charge for the year was approximately
HK$11,886,000 (equivalent to RMB10,000,000) (2017: Nil) in relation
to provision for 10% withholding tax of approximately HK$5,063,000
(equivalent to RMB4,500,000) on dividend attributable to the Group of
approximately HK$50,634,000 (equivalent to RMB45,000,000) out of
dividend declared by GRG Huscoke of approximately HK$56,260,000
(equivalent to RMB50,000,000).

A reconciliation of tax applicable to profit before tax at the statutory
rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense/(credit) at the effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory
tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

AEERMETHIEERAL A11,886,000
Bt (FBERN AR 10,000,0007) (=%
—tF ) RESEMESTRAKEL
56,260,000 7T (185 7 A K # 50,000,000
J0) & AR5 B FE 6 iR 8 4950,634,00078
7T (VB E R A R ¥ 45,000,0007T) #) 10% 78
7% 8 5 495,063,000/8 T (SR ARE
4,500,000 7T) 467 °

BARBRERDDHBE QB FMaE#
B EEBMEAE R RMER 2B
EHEEERBREFECHBERY, (KE)
ZH IR LA&L%RT(EW%EEE%)E@E
BRHEZHIRMT

2018 —E-N\E
Hong Kong The PRC Total
BB ]| e
HK$’000 % HK$’000 % HK$’ 000 %
i i i
(Loss)/profit before tax B (E8) /&7 (30,029) 205,961 175,932
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEHERAEZHE (4,955) 16.5 51,490 25.0 46,535 26.5
Expenses not deductible fortax A H1 2% 6,053 (20.0) 5,304 26 11,357 6.5
Income not subject to tax BARB WA (1,204) 3.9 (26,780) (13.0) (27,984) (15.9)
Tax losses utilised from previous BB BREHIEE 2
periods - - 188 (58  (11,809) (67)
Withholding tax on undistributable R EIFE 2 5% 7k
profits of the PRC subsidiary w5z BnE - - 11,886 5.8 11,886 6.8
Tax (credit)/expense at the BASEERHEE
Group’s effective rate HE(EE)/Fx (106) 0.4 30,057 146 29,951 17.2

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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10.

11.

INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRiSHi (&)
2017 —T—+tF
Hong Kong The PRC Total
i t e
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
T T T
(Loss)/profit before tax BA (B8) /&7 (21,117 147,776 126,659
Tax at the statutory tax rate REEHEFEZHE (3,484) 165 36,944 25.0 33,460 26.4
Expenses not deductible for tax Al 1% 2 B 3,489 (16.5) 3,351 23 6,840 54
Income not subject to tax BRRE WA 6) - (24,347) (16.5) (24,353) (19.2)
Adjustments in respect of current i {F HIf N 8351 78 2 F
tax of previous periods (161) 08 7123 48 6,962 55
Tax losses recognised BERBEER - - (12,321) (8.3) (12,321) 9.7)
Tax losses not recognised RERNESE 106 (05) - - 106 0.1
Tax losses from previous HRBTHETERE
periods utilised - - (15,948) (10.8) (15,948) (12.6)
Tax credit at the BASEBEEREHE L
Group’s effective rate HEHS (56) 03 (5,198) (35) (5,254) @)
EARNINGS PER SHARE 1. B8REF

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$128,391,000 (2017: HK$117,898,000), and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 2,608,007,725 (2017: 2,596,625,258) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is based on the profit for the
year attributable to owners of the Company, adjusted to reflect the
interest and loss arising from amendment to the convertible bonds.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year,
as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at
no consideration on the deemed conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

IREABFNSEIRERNRREE AR
AR5 F1128,391,0008 7T (Z T —+
F 117,898,000 7T) - LR FEARD #1T
3 % h0#E 7 19 812,608,007, 725 % (=&
—+4F 1 2,596,625,258 %) 5t & ©

BE-Z-NER-ZZF—+tF+=ZA
S+ HUEFESREERADRART
BBEANEGEAFERNTE  LEAEU
RBUEET AR ESFEE T EREE
T ESRERRTE ARGEELA
BAEF OB AFNEETEEKREE
IRBEFERLBRMAEETESEER
AEBRBRZEERERT AR ME
FHE -
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11.

EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31

December 2018 and 2017 is based on:

11. BRE
HEHE T

ME)

NERZB—+F+ZA

ST RUFEZEREERNZ KEMT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TER FET
Earnings: AR
Profit attributable to owners of the Company HESREXBFERA
used in the basic earnings KRS ANEIEEF
per share calculation 128,391 117,898
Add: Loss arising from amendment to mE - BRIARRESMEEZ
convertible bonds B8 N/ATE A 188
Add: Interest expense on convertible bonds Mk AR ESFBHY 2,099 5,842
Profit attributable to owners of the HEGREERFER
Company used in the diluted earnings RRARHEE AEIEREF
per share calculation 130,490 123,928
Number of shares
REE
2018 2017
—E-N\F§ —E—+F
Shares: Bt
Weighted average number of ordinary shares AEERERBNRAZ
in issue during the year used in the basic FREETETBER
earnings per share calculation MFEFHE 2,608,007,725  2,596,625,258
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of B85 2 — X @R NEFHE :
ordinary shares:
Convertible bonds (Note) R ES (K 5E) 144,256,976 144,256,976
Weighted average number of ordinary AEEREERTRA
shares used in the diluted earnings LA PR N 19 &
per share calculation 2,752,264,701 2,740,882,234
Note: Share options were not considered in the effect of dilution as it had Wit : AREEZF-/F+ZA=1+—HAK
no diluting effect on the basic earnings per share for the years ended —EFE—+FF A=t —HUTFE#F
31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 and were ignored in the BREFEBFIGESEGTE  KERGE
calculation of diluted earnings per share. THRERRBELE WHHELGRE
BRFIGAREZE -
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% BRERRE
Land Furnaces Plant Furniture Construction
and  Leasehold and and  Computer and Motor in
building improvement infrastructure  machinery  equipment fixtures vehicles  progress Total
THRET BENENR RERER REREE  EERE  BARRE AE ERIR EoH
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T TR Tt T T T Tt T T
CosT AAE
At 1 January 2017 RZE-t45-f-H 351,586 - 462,339 524,451 69,370 842 45,484 - 1454072
Additions HE - 1,653 - 16,619 697 304 2,184 - 21457
Disposals e - - - - - - (872) - (872)
Write-oft ik - - - - - (791) (1143) - (1934)
Exchange realignment EHBE 17786 - 23,387 26,968 3528 5 2026 - 73,900
At31 December 2017 and e
1 January 2018 TZAZ+-BR
Z5-\%-F-R 369,372 1653 485,726 568,038 73,59 360 47879 - 1,546,623
Additions HE - - 2,458 7617 1,007 15 4215 319% 47367
Exchange realignment EiE (17,365) - (22963 (27,111) (3513) - (2,284) (1706)  (74942)
At31 December 2018 RZE-N%
TZA=1-H 352,007 1,653 465,221 548,604 71,089 375 49810 30289 1519048
ACCUMULATED ZIERAE
DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2017 RZE-t5-f-A 112,149 - 415,278 404,381 68,218 786 40411 - 1041223
Provided for the year EnER 10875 451 2,340 30,564 261 59 1914 - 46,464
Disposals i - - - - - - (828) - (828)
Write-off i - - - - - (791) (1,143) - (1,934)
Reversal of impaiment loss REEERR (8,157) - (72,988) (3,5%6) (172) - (74) - (84.977)
Exchange realignment EHBE 5746 - 19,142 21,166 3454 4 2,009 - 51,521
At31 December 2017 and KZF-t%
1 January 2018 TZAZ+-BR
Z5-\5-F-R 120,613 451 363772 452525 71,761 58 42289 - 1,051469
Provided for the year EnBER 9,774 563 19,464 9,837 294 74 2290 - 42286
Provision/(reversal) of impaiment B ERE/ (EE)
loss 123,606 - (255727) 2918 (2.587) 1 243 5493 (99,083)
Exchange realignment EiBE (12,787) - (4493 (23,391) (3.252) (1) (2.081) (293)  (46298)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N%
tZA=1-H 241,206 1,004 123,016 468,889 66,216 182 274 5,200 948,404
NET CARRYING AMOUNTS RERE
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N%
t-A=1-H 110,801 649 342,205 79,715 4873 243 7,069 25,089 570,644
At 31 December 2017 RZE—t%
tZA=1-H 248,759 1,202 121954 115513 1,834 302 5590 - 495,154
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13. GOODWILL 13. BHE
HK$'000
FAET
Cost: KAE :
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, RZZE—+F—H—RB ZZ—+tF
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 +ZA=+—-8 -ZFE—-N\F—HF—H
RZZ2—-NF+HA=+—H 2,269,645
Accumulated impairment: ZEHRE
At 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017, RZE—+F—H—HB ZF—+tF
1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 +ZRA=+—H 22— N\F—A—H
k=E—N\F+=-A=+—H (2,269,645)

Net carrying amount:
At 31 December 2018 and 2017

R

RZZE-NFR=ZT—+F+=-A=+—H -

14. IMPAIRMENT TEST ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

For the purpose of impairment testing, property, plant and equipment
have been allocated to two cash-generating units, being the coal-
related ancillary segment and coke production segment. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018
and 2017 allocated to these units are as follows:

WE - BERREREH
RBEAEME VX BERREED
EEMEREELEM DRERABHMNE
NEREREENR -R_T-\FR=
F—tHEt-_A=1T—HB NEEZUFE
2% BELEREBZIREENT :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Coal-related ancillary segment B BENB A 81,449 355,144
Coke production segment ERAEEDE 432,926 88,849
Unallocated KAl 56,269 51,161
570,644 495,154
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14.

IMPAIRMENT TEST ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

Coal-related ancillary cash-generating unit

At 31 December 2018, the recoverable amount of the coal-related
ancillary cash-generating unit was determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a 5-year period (2017: 11-year period) which is assessed
and approved by senior management with reference to the physical
conditions of property, plant and equipment at the current status
and the expected obsolescence and retirement based on prior year
experience. The pre-tax discount rate to the cash flow projections was
25.2% (2017: 21.7%).

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the coal-
related ancillary cash-generating unit as at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing:

Budgeted manufacturing capacity utilisation rate — The rate is
determined on the basis of the average actual utilisation rate achieved
in prior years, decreased gradually for tightening of production safety

and environmental protection measures.

Discount rate — The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to
the coal-related ancillary cash-generating unit.

Raw materials purchase costs, production costs and product selling
price inflation — The basis used to determine the value assigned to
costs and price inflation is the forecasted inflation indices of the budget

year.

Coke production cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the coke production cash-generating unit
as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017 was determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a 5-year period (2017: 7.5-year period)
which is assessed and approved by senior management with reference
to the physical conditions of property, plant and equipment at the
current status and the expected obsolescence and retirement based
on prior year experience. The pre-tax discount rate to the cash flow
projections was 27.6% (2017: 19.2%).

14. W% BERRERENR (£)

BRriEBENEREEEEN

RZE-—NFF+ZA=+—8 ERIEH
MBReELEMZ RO SRS RIER-
BEEHENE RARBSREEER
SEYE  WELRE B2 BB RN
FEBBEFELREN 2 RERBMER
Fratfl Rt ERESF M (ZE—+ 4
NEBHE) CHBEERER RS RER
BMET ReREBAHABRES
252% (ZF—tF : 217%) °

RZZE-N\F+ZA=+t—HERZZ—+t
FHA=1T—R RREENBRSE
RBNzEREBEFENEZERATIER
ReATHAEEBETRENSERE
ReneB@AMEZEEEERE:

REERERX-RBEFEERZTY
EREREXREEMEE 2L  TAK
BUBLEZZIRFREERMES D

REIR K — P A 2 B3R 2 [ MR B B AR B B
BREELBMUZHERR

EMHRERAS AEXKAREREER
R-BENREKARERBIREERE
RzEE NEEFEZRABRER

EREERSELEN
R-E-NF+-_A=Z+-BR-_T—+
FHZA=Z+—H EREERCELE
Lz E e REEREEHES L
KARRERE2EZEME BELHRER
AIZERRRAARIBBEBEFELR L E
IR E R IR B et i R E R E 5 FHMH
(ZE2E—+tF:75FHH) 2 KBEZR
CREBIMET BeRET@A 2 FA
B R B27.6% (ZF—+H4F 1 19.2%) o
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Pt 75 R 2R B R

—NET-A=+—RALFE

IMPAIRMENT TEST ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)
Coke production cash-generating unit (continueqd)

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
coke production cash-generating unit as at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing:

Budgeted manufacturing capacity utilisation rate — The rate is
determined on the basis of the average actual utilisation rate
achieved in prior years, increased gradually for expected revival and
improvement in market.

Discount rate — The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to
the coke production cash-generating unit.

Raw materials purchase costs, production costs and product selling
price inflation — The basis used to determine the value assigned to
costs and price inflation is the forecasted inflation indices of the budget
year.

In light of the favourable market circumstances of coke production, the
coke production segment recorded operating profits during the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. The recoverable amount of the
coke production segment as at 31 December 2018 was approximately
HK$432,926,000 (2017: HK$88,849,000).

On the contrary, the coal-related ancillary segment recorded operating
losses during the year ended 31 December 2018 as a result of
continuous tightening of the production safety and environmental
protection measures on the coal-related ancillary business by
the relevant governmental body in the PRC which significantly
diminished the Group’s revenue from coal-related ancillary segment.
The recoverable amount of the coal-related ancillary segment as
at 31 December 2018 was approximately HK$81,449,000 (2017:
HK$355,144,000).

Based on the results from the discounted cash flows, the Directors
considered a reversal of impairment loss on items of property, plant
and equipment of HK$367,996,000 (2017: HK$84,977,000) in the coke
production segment and additional impairment of HK$268,943,000
(2017: Nil) in the coal-related ancillary segment were recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

15. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 15. R—EBEQT2ES

2018 2017

—E-N\F —F—tF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FHBT FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost JE TR - AR 101,804 -

Details of the associate at the end of the reporting period are as RIEBR 2 BE QR FENOT

follows:
Proportion of value of
Place of Principal place of  registered capital indirectly
Name of associate incorporation business held by the Company Principal activities
NSRS
BeENRER 17 B S 3 B TEEEE MR A EE G L fl TEEK
2018 2017

RS =
EDB Holding Limited (‘EDB")  Cayman Islands The PRC 20.5% - Software service provider
EDB Holding Limited ([EDB]) F2#E HE YR ERS
Note: Wit -

The Group has the power to appoint two out of nine directors of EDB in
accordance with the Articles of Association of EDB, therefore the Group is
deemed to have significant influence over EDB.

In July 2018, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the
“Purchaser Subsidiary’) entered into sales and purchase agreement (the
"SPA’) with an independent third party (the “Vendor”) in which the Purchaser
Subsidiary agreed to buy 10% of the Enlarged Issued Shares (defined below) of
EDB, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with principal subsidiaries
engaged in provision of software services in the PRC, at consideration of
approximately HK$33,756,000 (the "SPA Consideration”) by allotment of
129,831,263 ordinary shares of the Company (the “Consideration Shares’) to
the Vendor at the market price of HK$0.26 each (the “Acquisition’).

In July 2018, the Purchaser Subsidiary entered into share subscription
agreement (the "Subscription Agreement’) with EDB, its major shareholder
and the ultimate beneficiary of EDB to subscribe for 13,556,527 ordinary shares
of EDB, representing 10.5% of issued shares of EDB (the “Enlarged Issued
Shares’) at consideration of RMB60,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$68,048,000) (the “Subscription’). The details of the Acquisition and
Subscription were disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 20 July
2018.

P EEFREIRIEEDB.Z A EZAAIZ (FEDB
NEEEPZHE B AL 7S EDB A
TTREAZET)

R-ZF—NNFE+H AR5 —RIfEEEHER
Al ([ErMBAT) E—EEVE=h ([BF))
FVEEGZ ([EEGZE) A+ ERHEL
AREEEEDB(—FRASEEFMATLZ A
7 BAFZHE L ol R B FEFE B AR )
10%AEBEACZETRG (EELTX)  RIEHAE
33,756,00087 ([ BEE G#E])  ©5EBTE
18 0.26 7 7T 6] B 7 7 % 129,831,263 8 7 1 7]
TR ([REREB)) 1T ([KEBEBE)) -

RZF-—NE+HA BEFHELFHEETFZR
FEDBREDBZ LT AT LR 17558 3
([FBIH#E])  UFBEDBZ 13,556,527 K &
B 15EDBE #7152 10.5% ([AERA E#
TR#®/) - K1EAAKK60,0000007T (1HER
#768,048,000;87C) ([FBBEHE]) - W fEE B K
FEEREZHBERARNGAHE-F—\F+H
ZtAZRERHE -
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15.

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Note: (continued)

Under the SPA and Subscription Agreement, the Vendor and EDB will be
obliged to compensate to the Purchaser Subsidiary when the guaranteed profit
of EDB and its subsidiaries ("EDB Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2018, subject to audit of the consolidated financial statements of EDB Group
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs cannot be achieved. Besides, there is
protective clause in which the Purchaser Subsidiary can request the Vendor
and the major shareholder of EDB together with its ultimate shareholder to
repurchase partial or all the sale or subscribed shares when certain conditions
occur. The Consideration Shares are pledged to the Company until all the post-
acquisition obligations of the SPA and the Subscription Agreement are satisfied.
Details have been set out in the Company's announcement dated 20 July 2018.

The Acquisition and the Subscription were completed on 30 November 2018
when the Consideration Shares have been issued to the Vendor and the sale
shares and subscribed shares of EDB have been transferred and issued to the
Purchaser Subsidiary. As the Group is deemed to have significant influence on
EDB, EDB is considered as an associate of the Group.

According to HKAS 28, the Group should account for its interest in the
associate, EDB, using the equity method. As EDB has not yet completed the
audit of its consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018 prepared in accordance with HKFRSs, as stipulated in the SPA and the
Subscription Agreement, it is not expected to be completed before the date of
publishing the annual report of the Company. The management cannot obtain
reliable audited financial information of EDB for accounting for the Group’s
interest in EDB, using the equity method, as at 31 December 2018 which is
instead at cost of approximately HK$101,804,000 (Note 15).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has settled RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$23,040,000) in accordance with the terms of the Subscription
Agreement. The outstanding consideration of RMB40,000,000 (equivalent to
other payable approximately HK$45,008,000) was recognised as other payable
{o an associate (Note 24).

As the Group has not accounted for its interest in an associate with the equity
method, no reconciliation of financial information from the gross assets and
liabilities of the associate to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest
in an associate as at 31 December 2018 in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the breakdown of the Group’s share of results and
other comprehensive income of associate for the year ended then ended in
accordance with HKFRSs were disclosed.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 16. JHEELMEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —EB—tF
HKS$’ 000 HK$'000
FHERT FHEL
Private Club debentures, at fair value BARBEINRZLAGHES - 1,115
These investments were reclassified as financial assets at fair value ZEREN T —N\F—A—BEHEMN
through profit or loss on first adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018 ERUBRELEORESHOEALEA
with details set out in note 17. REFABZCEREE  FRINMT
17 °
17. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL 17. BOREFABRZEREE
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZT—+F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FAT FHL
Mandatorily measured at FVPL: wHRAAEF ABRE
Private club debenture (Note) LAGFES (W) 1,508 -
Note: The private club debenture was valued with reference to quoted price in WiF : BABHERIRZZENE 2 HIERE -
active market.
18. INVENTORIES 18. B
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZT—+F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FAT FHL
Raw materials R % 44,439 28,677
Work in progress TR 35,691 15,036
Finished goods SR o 5,247 11,031
85,377 54,744
19. TRADE RECEIVABLES 19. EBEKIES
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
0= FHER THET
Trade receivables: 2 5 IR :
—third parties %= 159,262 104,756
- related companies —BEAL 35(b)(ii) 86,683 40,462
- non-controlling shareholder — IR R 21 170,076 177,150
416,021 322,368
Bill receivables W E & 3,938 -
Loss allowance EiE R 39 (52,876) (55,331)
367,083 267,037
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19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair

values.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance) by

invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

19. BEZBUWIRN ()
BHREAIRR ZIREERE A ERE -

RBEMKR REZAH2II2EHEK
IRAR GO ERERE) 2RO T :

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FHBT FET

Within 3 months =EAR 171,992 25,735
3 to 4 months =Z2{#AA - 1,179
Over 4 months BB {E A 195,091 240,123
367,083 267,037

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit risks and loss

allowance for trade receivables are set out in note 39 to the

consolidated financial statements.

FRAREEERRLE 5B KIRSNER
BB ENER AP BRRME39

20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. FAMRIE - RERHBWIRR
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$'000
Bzt TR FET
Other receivables due from the Non- FEUFEERRAR 3R 2
controlling Shareholder Hfth JE USR5 21 273,368 156,385
Prepayments and other receivables due  FEUREE N 7 2 FB 5038 Rk
from related companies H h fEUIR 5K 35(b)(ii) 11,464 6,419
Prepayments, deposits and other FEWE b A+ 2 FERFRIA -
receivables due from other parties Be R HE M EBIRT
(Note) (B1:t) 93,502 66,515
Less: Loss allowance i EBIEEE (12,526) (13,144)
365,808 216,175
Less: Current portion Ji : BNERE (365,808) (214,404)
Non-current portion — prepayments FERNERED » —FE R - 1,771
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20. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

21,

(continued)

Note: The balance included prepayments to suppliers of raw materials for
the coal-related ancillary and the coke production businesses which
are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and are to be settled with future
purchases.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables approximate
their fair values.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recognised loss allowance
of HK$12,526,000 (2017: HK$13,144,000) on the balances. The
movement in the loss allowance for the balances during the year is
summarised below. The comparative amounts represent the loss
allowance for impairment losses recognised under HKAS 39.

HEARE - e REMBWIRRK (£)

Wit RHEERKXIEENEREXLER
BN TREMHEERZENAE  TE
B T BUUKRFEEXST

e MHEMRURRZREERERRE
B o

+
T

>

RZZE-—NF+-A=+—B K£EEH
EHmREEE#E 12526008 T (ZF
—+F 113,144,000/ 7T) - FR - £z
EEBEZHHMAN T LR BERER
BEPENENERERAZNEGFEY
R -

2018 2017
“2-N\F  —TtF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTER FET
At beginning of the reporting period P& E 13,144 18,484
Increase in allowance R - 2,645
Reversal of allowance B iERE - (8,757)
Exchange realignment b 5 B (618) 772
At the end of the reporting period R EER 12,526 13,144
AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER  21. FEUEIZAR IR R FUE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HisF FERT FET
Current B1HR
Trade receivables from the FEERBRR 2
non-controlling shareholder (Note 19) B S RENRIR(HF19) (i), (i), (iv) 170,076 177,150
Other receivables from the FEERRIRE 2
non-controlling shareholder (Note 20) H b FEWIR K (B7aE20) (i), (i), (iv) 273,368 156,385

ANNUAL REPORT 2018 F#R

153



154

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

21.

AMOUNT DUE FROM THE NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

(continued)
Notes:

(1)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

The balances are trade in nature, non-interest-bearing and have a credit
term of 120 days (2017: 120 days), which are similar to those granted to
major trading customers of the Group.

The balances are advances to the non-controlling shareholder, which are
non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand.

As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount due from non-controlling
shareholder of HK$333,5635,000 was governed by a repayment agreement
and an asset pledge agreement dated 1 March 2017 and 23 March 2017
respectively.

On 6 March 2018, these agreements were renewed to cover these
balances due from the non-controlling shareholder plus aggregate
amounts due from affiliates of the non-controlling shareholder of
HK$46,881,000 as at 31 December 2017 (Note 35). Pursuant to the
renewed repayment agreement, a monthly repayment of RMB50,000,000
would be made by the non-controlling shareholder from August 2018
onwards after the new plant started operation, and that the entire amount
would be setiled within 12 months. The pledged property, plant and
equipment under the renewed asset pledge agreement were valued at
HK$1,369,272,000 at 31 January 2018.

On 31 December 2018, the Group entered into a debt transfer agreement
with the non-controlling shareholder,  Z 17 & £5 & B X S | 2% 5 R
23 7] (“Xiaoyi ILNG”) and Shanxi Jinyan Energy Technology Company
Limited (1l 71 % & 6 )5 F} /& IR 22 7]) (“Energy Technology”) (the
“Debt Assignee’), and the ultimate beneficiary of the non-controlling
shareholder, pursuant to which the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder and Debt Assignee agreed to assign the trade and other
receivables from the non-controlling shareholder of approximately
RMB365,826,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$411,627,000)
together with aggregate amounts due from its affiliates of approximately
RMB36,477,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,044,000) to the Debt
Assignee (together the "Assigned Debt’) (the “Debt Assignment’).

According to the Debt Assignment, the Assigned Debt is interest-bearing
at 5% p.a. and the Debt Assignee shall repay the Assigned Debt within 1
year from the date of the Debt Assignment together with accrued interest.
A conversion right is also granted to the Group which can partially or
fully convert the Assigned Debt to not more than 12% of the enlarged
registered capital of the Debt Assignee by subscription of new registered
capital or transfer of existing registered capital held by Xiaoyi ILNG
within 1 year from the date of the Debt Assignment. The Assigned Debt
is secured by 12% registered capital of the Debt Assignee held by Xiaoyi
ILNG and the personal guarantee from the ultimate beneficiary of the
non-controlling shareholder. If the Group exercises the Conversion Right
upon or prior to the expiry of the Debt Assignment, the accrued interest
for converted portion of the debt will be waived and the pledged property,
plant and equipment from the Debt Assignee will be released. As at 31
December 2018, the trade and other receivables from the non-conirolling
shareholder and aggregate amounts due from affiliates are approximately
HK$443,444,000 (Note 21) and HK$91,849,000 (net loss allowance
amounted to HK$6,298,000) (Note 35) respectively.

Further details of the Debt Assignment are set out in the Company's
announcement dated 3 January 2019. The Debt Assignment is subject to
the fulfilment of certain conditions including the approval from the Stock
Exchange and the approval of shareholders of the Company at a SGM.

The carrying amounts of the above balances approximate their fair
values.
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21.

FEUSEE R IR SRR IE (42)

(1)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Lt
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FEIRIRHE 2 7 E 460 5 I E R IR
BB 2 7] 50 B 48 5546,881,000/8 7T ° 1R 15
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22. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 22, MERBITHE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF ZT—+F
HKS$’ 000 HK$'000
FAT FHEL
Cash and bank balances Re MRITHET 18,894 69,655

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
and time deposits of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$718,000 (2017: HK$200,000). RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances approximate their
fair values.

RBERR AEEUARBHEZE S
R RAT T U R E B17F 3 4 718,00078 7T
(ZZ—+4%:200,0007T) - ARERT
BREBRAEMEN  ERE TR
0E & AR 0] R 4508 - HIE R FEEERE
AEEREFRERBETIIEZEL 28
TERARBAVLAHEME -

BITRERBEFAZRITERMN XL IS
FEHRBANE - EHEREREETRARE
PR A-RXEZEALEF RFLKE
EZARESFEME TRAEBEHE
HMERMERRFE - RITBEFHEAL
B MR EBRFRT -

ReMRTEFIRAEEARAEEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

23. TRADE PAYABLES 23. BESEMAIRR
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tfF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables due to other parties BEREMALZEZEMIKER 231,893 152,959
Trade payables due to related companies ENEERR 2B ZEMIRR 5,433 5,229
237,326 158,188
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting RBEHR REZEHAECEFSEN
periods, based on the invoice date, is as follows: IRAZIREB DTN
2018 2017
“E-N\E  ZT—tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Within 3 months =EAAR 152,193 50,185
3to 4 months =ZWEA 1,582 4218
Over 4 months A E A 83,551 103,785
237,326 158,188
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled BORMNER R ER—KMNI120B R
on 120-day terms. BB
The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair values. BHRMNEFCIEREELRAERSE -

1 56 HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MZEZERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

24. OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED 24, HEMFIRTR - BERE - EWRER
AND DEFERRED INCOME EEWA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
it FET FAT
Other payables and accrued charges Hin IR R B & 369,416 278,235
Amount due from an associate e — el B & A RIFRIB
(Note i) (Hsi) 15 45,008 -
Contract liabilities (Note i) BREEW i) 214,700 199,108
Deferred income (Note i) REWA (B 32 0ii) 5,063 5,313
634,187 482,656
Less: Current portion Ji - BNERER (625,982) (474,201)
Non-current portion JERNER R 8,205 8,455

The carrying amounts of the other payables and accrued charges

Htt RSN Rt B2 REEEA R

approximate their fair values. AEERE -
Notes: Hist -
(i) The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable 30 working () FHABERELR  £ERARZEGE
days after the completion of the Subscription Agreement. TR0 LEAZST -
(i) Contract liabilities (i) EHEE
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and decreases REBHBEREERE 15 HENAE
both occurred within the same year) of contract liabilities from contracts ZENEEZENBEZE (TAEHEA
with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year are as follows: FREANFENRRLEEZEZE)WT -
2018
—E-NF
HKS$’000
FiET
At 1 January R—H—H 199,108
Recognised as revenue B ARHMA (170,341)
Receipt of advances WER 196,698
Exchange realignment [E 2 % (10,765)
At 31 December RFZA=+—H 214,700
As at 31 December 2018, none of the contract liabilities that are expected RZF-NF+ZA=+—H FHER
{o be settled after more than 12 months. HEiB1210F1#EEZEHBEBREET
(i) Deferred income represented government grant to subsidiaries in the (i) BERAEREREREANZARTH

PRC with attaching conditions to be complied with, in respect of the
construction of atmospheric monitoring system, which will be recognised
as other income when all the required condlitions are complied with.

WEBR Az BT E (WHEETIRIE)
BRI ERE RN ETHERBE
A -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

25. OTHER BORROWINGS

25. HittfEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Maturity HK$’ 000 rate Maturity HK$'000
BIRAI=E ) TExT  BRAX g FTET
Non-current JFENER
Unsecured other borrowings ~ EEIFEMEE ~ 3.51% p.a. 2020 18,188 5.27%pa. 2019 18,188
£5351% FR527%
18,188 18,188
Analysed into: LR
Other borrowings repayable ~ 7E{EE 2 E
e
Inthe second year afterthe  ZARREHKE
end of reporting period E-FREE 18,188 18,188

Other than a borrowing with the carrying amount of HK$5,807,000 as
at 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$5,807,000) which is denominated in
USS$, all other borrowings are denominated in HK$. The carrying values

of other borrowings approximate their fair values.

As at 31 December 2018, included in other borrowings were loans

from a former Director, who resigned on 7 September 2018, of
HK$1,751,000 (2017: HK$1,751,000) and a Director of GRG Huscoke

of HK$3,195,000 (2017: HK$3,195,000).

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

BN -—E—-N\FE+_AE—SREEAE
5,807,000 7T (=& — 4 : 5,807,000/%
TO) 2B E AR EN - FrEEAMEE
BB HaEEZREEREARE
15 o

RZZ—NF+-A=Z+—B it AHf
BEA—BAAARAIESR (ER=2—N
FNAEHET) 281,751,000 L (=
T—+%F:1,751,0008 ) heEME—
HEEZEH31950008 T (ZE—tF
3,195,000/87T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

25. OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)
During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group has

been negotiating with lenders and certain creditors of the Group to

restructure and extend the Group’s indebtedness. Details are set out

below:

(i)

On 15 March 2017, the Group secured agreements with lenders
of other borrowings and certain creditors to waive a total
amount of HK$7,132,000 comprising principal amounts of other
borrowings of HK$6,000,000, accrued interests of HK$632,000,
and other payables of HK$500,000. One of the lenders agreed
to waive the interest charged on the loan balance from 1 January
2017 onwards. It was further agreed that the remaining balances
of other borrowings and other payables after the waiver of
HK$22,955,000 are to be settled partly by cash of HK$4,417,000
with the remaining balances to be settled by cash or by issue of
new shares or securities of the Company.

On 27 July 2017, the Group secured agreements with lenders of
other borrowings to extend the repayment date to 31 December
2017. In December 2017, the Group entered into agreements
with the lenders to further extend the repayment date of other
borrowings to 31 August 2019. These arrangements resulted in a
gain of HK$1,669,000 recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

As a result, a gain on debt restructuring in aggregate of
HK$8,801,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2017.

On 28 December 2018, the Group entered into agreements with
lenders to further extend the repayment date of other borrowings
under the same terms for 1 year to 31 August 2020.

25.

AEEER - FHEHINTX:

RZZE—+tF=ZF+HA A£EH
HEE s ERARE TEEAGL
s AR 48%E7,132,0008 T © B
EEAMEEA$%6,000,00057T - JE
=7 B.632,0007% 7T I H b JE AT IR 3K
500,000 EF —B2ERAER
EMeE _T—+F—F—BiEKHN
ZERBRERE - RNEb B 2 HinE
B T Ho i JE 15 1R 512 #4258 22,955,000
BLIhE-—FSRELSBUARS
4,417,000 LER - MBABEKARS
K BETAR BB BREHEN o

NZZE—+E+A-++RA KEE
HEMEEZERARLHZE N
EREEAPE-_Z—+E+ A
S+—B-RZZE—+E+-A &K
SEEEFAFTIBBEANE-—FTR
HMEEzEZRRE_Z—NEN
A=+ —HB -ZELHREREEZ
Z—+tF+-A=Z+HIEFEZE
SRR EE 1,669,000/ 7T ©

AY HE-_T—+&F+-_A=+—
AEFE EREdHzhazs H
8,801,000/ C TN B FERR ©

W-E—NE+-A=+/\R &%
BRERATLGH - ARAER R
SRR 88 ARER—
FE-E-FE)\A=+-A-
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26. DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax liability

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR RN

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & ZE =

26. EIEFIA
EERIEEE

Depreciation

allowance in
excess of Undistributable
related profits of the
depreciation PRC subsidiary Total
BEEETE H BB A A
ZITERE ZARDIKEF #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—+F—AF—H - - -
Deferred tax credited to FRFABREZELERE
profit or loss during the year 106 - 106
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—tF+ZA=t—H
1 January 2018 kRZZE-NE—-F—H 106 - 106
Deferred tax charged to profit FRBRIER 2 ELTE
or loss during the year (106) 11,886 11,780
Exchange realignment R - (633) (633)
At 31 December 2018 R-ZE-NE+=ZB=+—H - 11,253 11,253
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding BERPRCEMRET L NPT 2N
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign BROERBIMEEEST R ZKEZK10%

investment enterprises established in PRC. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is therefore liable
for withholding taxes on dividends distributable by the subsidiary
established in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 December 2018, deferred tax liability in respect of HK$11,253,000
(equivalent to RMB10,000,000) (2017: Nil) has been provided. In the
opinion of the Directors, the remaining undistributed profits of the PRC
subsidiary of HK$498,240,000 (equivalent to RMB442,801,000), at the
present time, are required for financing the continuing operations of the
entities and no distribution would be made in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, no provision for deferred taxation has been made in this
respect.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

ZEHAR - BRAAETE _FENF—A—
RRAEM TERR_TTLF+_A
AEZBH - MPEERIEEE

=+-
BB AARE 2 TR A

Al K

ZEHMEAGEER -RAKEMNE &

A EA10% -
S ZHBA

AEER AR BEK
AR-ZETNF-A—HUK

Ef BN KBRS EN -

A —
N
)\_

—N\F+-A=1+—0B BfEHE

LR IE & BB 11,253,00078 7T (FBER A
R #100,000,00070) (ZE— L& : &) ©
EEZRE BATBEMNBRRAZHBTTS

R i 711498,240,0008 7L (FHE R AR
442,801,0007T) BT B ERBFELE -
THEAELSARETEDR - At &
FLULfE L IRE R TR
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26. DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax asset

26.

EERE ()
BERIBEEE
Losses
available for
offsetting

against future
taxable profits

At 1 January 2017

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018

Deferred tax charged to profit or loss during the year

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$145,062,000
(2017: HK145,062,000) and none in the PRC (2017: HK$138,111,000)
that are available indefinitely and within five years from the year of
losses, respectively, for offsetting against future taxable profits of the

companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
tax losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the above amounts can be utilised.

A AR
RIRFERBL % F
ZE8
HK$'000
FHT
RZZ—+%—H—H -
FTABRCRIERIE 12,321
325

F-tFT=A=1t-BR
—EF-N\F¥-H-H 12,646
ERNKER 2 ELHE (12,731)
85

R-ZZE-NF+ZA=1+—H -

AEBREREELEZHBEEERB
145,062,000 L (=& —+ F :
145,062,000 % 7T) 2 1 8 70 B 2 A4 L 1B
BB (ZZ—t4F 138,111,000 T) * &
AAEERAENEEFERFANRER
HEEBBZRRZRRERBGF

TER AR EERERECHAEE

PRLEEE-
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. =&
Shares [:2h]
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—+F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Authorised: EIE
20,000,000,000 (2017: 20,000,000,000) 20,000,000,000 % (= Z —+4F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 20,000,000,000 %) &= #% {8 0.01
(2017: HK$0.01 each) BT (ZZ—+ 5 8REEO0.01
BT 2 BRI 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAE
2,726,456,521 (2017: 2,596,625,258) 2,726,456,521 ¢ (ZZ—tF :
ordinary shares 2,596,625,258 it ) & i@ A% 27,264 25,966
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows: ARABRAEH IBEMT
Number
of shares Share Share
in issue capital premium Total
2817 i)
ROEE &N B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET BT TET
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—tF—H—H 2403625258 24,036 341,361 365,397
Issue of shares upon conversion of the 3. — T\ E Al # T (E
2008 Convertible Bonds (Note i) He BTG (B75#7) 193,000,000 1,930 - 1,930
At 31 December 2017 and RZTE—+F
1 January 2018 +ZHA=+—-8k
“E-N\F—H—H 2596625258 25,966 341,361 367,327
Share allotment (Note 7)) W 10 B % (f7 et i) 129,831,263 1,298 32,458 33,756
At 31 December 2018 RZT—\F
+-A=1+—-H 2,726,456,521 27,264 373,819 401,083

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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27.

28.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Shares (continued)
Notes:

(i) On 20 January 2017, 193,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of
HK$0.01 each were issued at a conversion price of HK$2.00 per New
Share upon partial conversion of the 2008 Convertible Bonds for a total
amount of HK$386,000,000.

(i)~ Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement entered into between the
Company and an independent third party in July 2018, the Company
issued 129,831,263 ordinary shares at market price of HK$0.26 per share
as consideration for acquisition of issued share of an associate. (Note 15).

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option schemes and the share options
issued under the schemes are included in note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
share option scheme include the directors and employees of the
Group. A share option scheme became effective on 31 May 2002 and
expired on 31 May 2012 (the “2002 Scheme”). A new share option
scheme was adopted and became effective on 28 March 2013 (the
“2013 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2002
Scheme and 2013 Scheme (collectively, the “Share Option Schemes”)

will remain in force for ten years from the effective date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Share Option Schemes was an
amount equivalent to, upon their exercise, 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the respective dates of approval of the Share
Option Schemes. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options granted to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Schemes within any 12-month period was limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’” approval in a general

meeting of the Company.

27.

28.

RA (&)

B&4a (&)

Bt -

() R-ZF—+F—HF=+H F27
193,000,000/ &% EE 0.01E7T.2 ZE %
RE 7 51— FE )\ F i Hofig (8 5 14
77 + #8584 .3886,000,000% 7T % it 1418 B 47
R 1720087 °

(i) BEANGE—EBTE= TR =T/
FELHTVZRBRE ARGETES
HR0.26;8 T %17 129,831,263 R EE/R + (F
BUYE R ERAEE TR HE (B
i15) o

B
ARAIER MRS S LRBEA B HITZE
R IEEN R & B R P A2 28

B2
AARIRABRAESEINMERERE
BRINELERCAERSBEREEHE
REH- BREAEAE CEBERBEESR
EAEBZEERES - BRAETER
“EE-FRAZFT—HAER UR=F
——FRAZT-HER(=ZEZ=
&) - ADRERMFBRBEE
HERZZ—=F=-A=-+N\BEXR(=Z
—ZEHE]) - BREBHEEHBITN =
TR _FHER T =FiE (LEBE
BREARERTEI]) Herh Ak B A AR BB L - -

RIB R AR T SR B B I W R AT 8
BRBE ESHBEEETERESRN
ADBRLEBR R E 8 2 HBEHE
BATID B ELZ 10% © AR 15 B8 X B 2 =1 )
REFM1REASRBASEAERSEER T
ZERREATRTENDRSBERR
ARBAREABEEBHITRNZ 1%  BH
SR B — SR E B R MEAR AR AK
RAE LRBERRILE -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive Directors.
In addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or to any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5,000,000,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the grantee. Options may be exercised at any time
from the date of grant of the share options to the end of the exercise
period.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Directors,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange on the date of grant of the
share options; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings of the Company.

Under the 2013 Scheme, options were granted to eligible participants
and there were outstanding (but not yet exercised) options to subscribe
for a total number of 10,400,000 shares as at 31 December 2018,
representing approximately 0.4% of the issued share capital of the
Company at that date and the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. The outstanding options granted under the 2013
Scheme shall be subject to the provisions of the 2013 Scheme and
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Under the 2002 Scheme, there were no outstanding options at the
beginning and end of year ended 31 December 2018. During the year
ended 31 December 2017, 1,340,000 share options with exercise price
of HK$0.8 per share were lapsed at the end of the exercise period (i.e.
5 January 2017) in accordance with terms of the 2002 Scheme.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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B E (2)

BTARAIEZES FEMTHAB FTER
RAEAABEAT 2 BRAEERSESE
SMIEBITEE 2 FRBE Lo REM
12EAPERARBEERE  BULEH
TEEYFHEMBBEATIREBRARA
AR 2 AT 19 0.1% R B(E (IR1E
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 28.

2013 Scheme
The following share options were outstanding under the 2013 Scheme
during the year:

BigEEsE (2)

—E—=Fit3
FRCBE_T-ZFHEMRTEZE
MR ERRELA T

2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
INRET S B EE I 15 Bk B
TREE 28 1718 #A

HK$ HK$
per share ’000 per share ‘000
BRET TR BB Tk
At 1 January »—A—H 0.66 10,400 0.66 14,160
Lapsed during the year F KR - - 0.66 (3,760)
At 31 December R+—A=+—H 0.66 10,400 0.66 10,400

During the year ended 31 December 2018, no share options were
lapsed/exercised in accordance with terms of the 2013 Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 3,760,000 share options
were lapsed upon the cessation of employment of two participants in
accordance with terms of the 2013 Scheme.

BE-2-\F+-A=+—BILEE
BRBRSERE =T — =5 82 K
% X

HE-_E—t+tE+-_A=+—HLEE"
3,760,000 B AR IE — T —=F 5 &
ZHRBRNEILRAMABLEER K -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
2013 Scheme (continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at the end of the respective reporting periods are as

follows:

2018

Number of options

Exercise price per share

28.

BIREECE (2)

“EF-ZF5E ()

RERBE KRR ARITERRBEITE
BRITEHMT

—B-N\F

Exercise period

BROEHAE BRITEE TR
’000 HK$
TR BT
10,400 0.66 6 September 2014 to 5 September 2019

2017

Number of options

Exercise price per share

—E-MEAARBE_ZE-NFAALHA

Exercise period

Bk HEHE BRITEE 1T
‘000 HKS$
T BT
10,400 0.66 6 September 2014 to 5 September 2019

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

29. RESERVES
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for
the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 87 to 88 of the consolidated financial
statements.
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30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 30. BEEAKERERZEZEHNBLR
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling BEERFEREZ 2 ALENBEARZ
interests are set out below: FHIEERH T
GRG Huscoke SEHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—+F

Percentage of equity interest held by non- B+ = A=+—B Z IFRiiES i

controlling interests at 31 December feEa DL 10% 10%
2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+F

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FAT FET

Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling 7 Bt & JF42 iR i 25 2 AR F 25 F
interests 17,590 14,015

Accumulated balances of non-controlling RlE BB EERER R AR
interests at the reporting date 48,487 39,101
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

30. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL 30. BEEAKERES2EZEMB AT
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued) (&)
The summarised financial information of the above subsidiary, GRG TREH LB AR EME LKA
Huscoke. The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company BHE-FMEE AL REEFAQE
eliminations: LEIE e
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
FER FHET
Revenue A 1,478,049 1,330,791
Other income and gains H A R s 144,001 121,726
Total expenses R B (1,446,146) (1,299,542)
Profit for the year KEEHF| 175,904 152,975
Total comprehensive income for the year AEE2HWELE 150,107 168,272
Current assets TEEE 853,996 573,419
Non-current assets EREBEE 566,880 507,007
Current liabilities mEEE (961,520) (725,920)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (16,315) (5,313)
Net cash flows from operating activities RELEEBzREMEFHR 160,247 123,645
Net cash flows used in investing activities AREEXB s ReRnEFHE (159,529) (123,714)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash B & RIBEZEWEM,/ Gl D)
equivalents FEE 718 (69)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

31.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2016 Convertible Bonds

Pursuant to a subscription agreement entered into between Kailuan
(Hong Kong) International Co., Limited and the Company on 13 April
2016, the Company issued convertible bonds with a principal amount
of HK$43,277,000 (the 2016 Convertible Bonds) to Kailuan (Hong
Kong) International Co., Limited on 2 November 2016. The 2016
Convertible Bonds bear interest at 2.5% per annum, mature 1 year
from the issue date and are extendable for one additional year subject
to the agreement between the Company and the bondholder. The
2016 Convertible Bonds carry a conversion right entitling the holder to
subscribe for the Company’s shares at a conversion price of HK$0.06
per share.

The 2016 Convertible Bonds are convertible at the option of the holder
into the Company’s ordinary shares during the period commencing
from the seventh business day prior to the maturity date and expiring
on the date immediately before the maturity date, provided that the
conversion does not trigger off a mandatory offer obligation under Rule
26 of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers and the public
float of the Company’s shares shall not be less than 25% of total issued
shares of the Company, in which:

(i)  The bondholder has a right to convert up to 50% of the principal
amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds into the Company’s shares
at any time throughout the conversion period at its sole and
absolute discretion; and

(i)  The bondholder has a right to convert the remaining 50% of the
principal amount of the 2016 Convertible Bonds subject to the
consent of the Company.

The Company has a right to redeem the whole or part of the
outstanding 2016 Convertible Bonds at 100% of the principal amount
and accrued interest at any time before the maturity date by giving the
bondholder not less than 14 days prior notice during the outstanding
period.

On the maturity date, any of the 2016 Convertible Bonds not converted
or redeemed during the tenure will be redeemed at 100% of the
principal amount with accrued interest.

As a result of the share consolidation in May 2016, the conversion price
of the 2016 Convertible Bonds was adjusted from HK$0.06 per share
to HK$0.3 per New Share pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
2016 Convertible Bonds. The number of shares upon conversion would
be adjusted in accordance with the adjusted conversion price.

31.

AR ES

—E-AETHRRES

BERAE (FF) BRERDAERQ AR
—E-XFNA+ZRIVZRERE
ARNARZE-RET—AZBETEAE
B A43,277,0008 L2 R ES (ZF
—NFARRES) TRE (BB BRER
DAl ZE—REFARBRELFZEEBXE
FFE25% BRTAHE—FERIE 7
RARFREBESFHEABERBIINCR—
Fo T AFURREFME 2 LRk
SHEANEREERLKE0GHETRE
KRB AR

ZE-AFURREFTEISHANEL
EEXARREEEINHUAZI—BER
ZHE RBBAEAZERERAKRRT
LTER - ELRBTEBEEELAKE
REHTHZRAGETRFEENEML
RAERBRMN 2 RRBRETBEREA
AEBEETRN225%  HAp :

() EFHEARERBENADEANE
RERBBE T FUARES
REBEEE0% B ARDARN :
K

(i) BEFFEAGRIBE_T—AFA#
BEFASBZHTE0%  BFAR
AIAE

ARAEEREHAE 2 AR 100% A&
BN MEER 2D HAREE
T-ANFAUERES EAREFRAKE
ERRRESHAEARETLON14AZE
@A

REBE AR RESARLBRNED
B -REUNBRRESEHRASEL
100% (& [F 5T FI £) fE [E »

RR_ZE-"FRAETROEHM —F
—REAUBRESFZARERE-_T—X
FAARE S 2GR REH BE0.06%
THRAEZEGRIRG0.3IET - Rk 2K
DEEBRBEHAB L ABETHE -
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31.

—NET-A=+—RALFE

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

2016 Convertible Bonds (continued)

The fair value of the 2016 Convertible Bonds as a whole was
HK$38,340,000 on the issue date of which the fair value of the liability
portion of the 2016 Convertible Bonds was HK$38,190,000 and the
equity portion was HK$150,000.

On 30 December 2016 (the “2016 Amendment Date”), the Company
and Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co., Limited entered into an
agreement whereby the maturity date of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
was extended to 2 May 2018 (the “2016 Amendment”). Other than
the maturity date, all terms of the 2016 Convertible Bonds remain
unchanged. In light of the terms of the 2016 Amendment, the Company
reassessed the fair values of the 2016 Convertible Bonds at the 2016
Amendment Date. The values of the liability component and the
equity components at the 2016 Amendment Date were determined at
HK$36,835,000 and HK$150,000, respectively. The effect of the 2016
Amendment was a gain of HK$2,303,000 which was recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2016.

The fair values of the liability component of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
at the issue date and the 2016 Amendment Date were estimated using
an equivalent market interest rate for a similar note without a conversion
option. The respective residual amounts are assigned as the equity
components and included in the convertible bonds reserve.

On 22 December 2017 (the “2017 Amendment Date”), the Company
and Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co., Limited entered into an
agreement to vary certain terms and conditions of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds (the “2017 Amendments”). The amendments included but were
not limited to the following:

(i)  the maturity date of 2 May 2018 was extended to 31 August 2019;

(i) the conversion period was changed to the period commencing
from fulfilment of conditions precedent of the 2017 Amendments
up to 31 August 2019; and

(i) the holder of the 2016 Convertible Bonds will have the right to
convert 100% of the principal amount of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds at any time during the conversion period.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

31.

AR ES (E)
“E-RETRRESE)
ZE-ARFARREFNET H%ZW

B2 N 7 {H 5 38,340,00078 7T 0 E AR =
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31.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

2016 Convertible Bonds (continued)

Further details of the 2017 Amendments are set out in the Company’s
announcement and the circular dated 22 December 2017 and 15

January 2018, respectively.

The 2017 Amendments were approved at the SGM held on 5 February
2018 and other conditions were fulfilled on 5 February 2018.

The 2017 Amendments constituted a significant modification and
was accounted for as an extinguishment of the 2016 Convertible
Bonds and an issue of new convertible bonds (the 2017 Convertible
Bonds). In light of the terms of the 2017 Amendments set out above,
the Company reassessed, as at the 2017 Amendments Date, the fair
values of the 2016 Convertible Bonds and the 2017 Convertible Bonds.
The net effect of the 2017 Amendments is the recognition of a loss of
HK$188,000 charged to profit or loss.

The carrying amount of the liability component of the 2017 Convertible
Bonds as at 31 December 2018 was HK$43,526,000 (2017:
HK$41,427,000). The fair value of the liability component of the 2017
Convertible Bonds as at 31 December 2017 of HK$41,427,000, was
calculated by discounting the future cash flows at the prevailing
market interest rate at the end of respective reporting periods which
conducted by an independent professional qualified valuer, Ascent
Partners Valuation Service Limited, by using Black-Scholes Partial

Differential Equations.

On 8 March 2018, Kailuan (Hong Kong) International Co. Limited
transferred the 2017 Convertible Bonds to its immediate holding
company, Rontac Resources Company Limited, with all terms remained

unchanged.

There was no conversion or redemption of the 2016 Convertible Bonds
and the 2017 Convertible Bonds during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017 or subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

31.

T@kﬁ%%§
B-AFURKRES(E)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

31. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
2016 Convertible Bonds (continued)

An analysis of the liability and equity components of the 2016 and the
2017 Convertible Bonds on the issue date and the movements during
the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

31, WRKRES(E)

“E-ARETRRES ()

TE-RNFR T LEFUARESNE
TRHCAERESHD ZOMRBES
E-NFR-ZE—tF+-A=t—HIt

FEZEPHNT :
Liability Equity
component  component Total
BEHS B D fst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET TAET
As 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—HA—H 36,835 150 36,985
Interest expense before the ZE—EFEERIZ
2017 Amendments MBI 5,790 - 5,790
Transfer of interest expense FERTEEE
to other payable HERIRR (1,083) - (1,083)
Loss on extinguishment of the B ZE—ANFA R
2016 Convertible Bonds BEMELZBE 1,362 - 1,362
Transfer of equity component to EhEEzD I ERE
accumulated losses upon extinguishment ~ Z&tE5#E - (137) (137)
Extinguishment of the 2016 BHEkZZE—RF
Convertible Bonds AR ES (42,904) (13) (42,917)
Recognition of the 2017 BERRzZZE—+F
Convertible Bonds AR ES 41,375 368 41,743
Interest expense of the 2017 T tFUBRRESFZ
Convertible Bonds FERX 52 - 52
As at 31 December 2017 and RZE—+tF+-A=+—HBK
1 January 2018 —E-N\F—A—H 41,427 368 41,795
Interest expense of the 2017 Convertible =T —+F A BEEH 2
Bonds FER X 2,099 - 2,099
As at 31 December 2018 R-ZZ-/\F+ZA=1+—H 43,526 368 43,894
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32. COMMITMENTS 32, &Ik
(a) Capital commitments (a) BAREE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of FEBRREBREUTEARAIE

the reporting period:

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—+tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTER FTAERT
Acquisitions of plant and equipment: W BB M sk
Contracted, but not provided for BEI4 - EREE - 3,355
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) EBEHEEIE
As lessee EBERBA
The Group leases certain of its leasehold interests in land and REERELKEHELZHAEET -
properties under operating lease arrangements. Leases for WRYE SR YE ZBEH
properties are negotiated for terms ranging from one to ten years. BHEB—2TF -
At 31 December 2018, the Group had total future minimum lease R-E—-—NEF+-_A=+—H K&
payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as BERERHECLHBE 2 R RSE
follows: HE BT -
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TR
Within one year —&R 9,906 4,813
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_FEERF (REEEWFT) 24,217 5,766
34,123 10,579
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

33.

34.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities which have not been provided for in these financial
statements (2017: Nil).

LITIGATIONS

(a)

On 25 September 2015, F /1 25 & E fx 5 B R A 7] (Hangzhou
Relian Group Holding Limited) (“Hangzhou Relian”) issued a
writ of summons against () &K &R EFEEREE SBER R A
(Zhangjiagang Kanghui International Trading Limited) (“Kanghui
International”) and (ii) GRG Huscoke in relation to an alleged
breach by Kanghui International of an agency agreement (as
amended and supplemented by the supplemental agreement
dated 5 May 2014) (the “Agency Agreements”) entered into
on 30 December 2013 among Hangzhou Relian as the agent,
Kanghui International as the principal and GRG Huscoke as
the supplier and guarantor in relation to the supply of coke
by GRG Huscoke to Kanghui International through Hangzhou
Relian. According to the writ of summons, Hangzhou Relian
claimed against Kanghui International and GRG Huscoke, for a
sum of RMB4,318,000 (equivalent to HK$5,098,000), being the
outstanding sum payable by Kanghui International to Hangzhou

Relian under the Agency Agreements.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 37L& fi M /L F
B ARER has issued RE#JAE, pursuant to which, Kanghui
International and GRG Huscoke were liable to pay Hangzhou
Relian a sum of RMB4,350,000 (equivalent to HK$5,136,000).
There was no settlement on such balance during the year ended
31 December 2018. In the opinion of the Directors, adequate
provision has been made in the financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017. To the best knowledge
of the Directors, no further legal action has been lodged by
Hangzhou Relian up to the approval date of the financial
statements.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

33.

34,
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

34. LITIGATIONS (continued)

(b)

The Group received notification issued by LI 7AE KETHH AR
A Bt (Shanxi Province Taiyuan City Intermediate People’s Court)
(the “Court”) dated 20 May 2016 in which [l 78 EEX ¥17 B R Q
A) (Shanxi International Logistic Co., Ltd.) (“Shanxi Logistic”)
commenced legal action against GRG Huscoke. Pursuant to the
statement of claim, GRG Huscoke failed to deliver goods and
failed to repay the prepayment of RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$59,035,000) received from Shanxi Logistic in accordance
with the cooperation agreements entered into by Shanxi Logistic
and GRG Huscoke in March 2013, on 1 April 2014 and 1 May
2015 respectively. As a result, Shanxi Logistic demanded GRG
Huscoke to repay RMB50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$59,035,000)
plus profits forgone of RMB14,894,000 (equivalent to
HK$17,410,000) and related legal expense of RMB183,000
(equivalent to HK$214,000) up to 29 February 2016 as a result of
the non-delivery of goods by GRG Huscoke.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, a civil mediation
agreement (the “Civil Mediation Agreement”) was entered into
to confirm, among others, that the sums owed by GRG Huscoke
to Shanxi Logistic amounted to RMB65,077,000 (equivalent
to HK$76,659,000) as of 11 April 2016 and such sums should
be repaid on or before 30 May 2016. Subsequently, GRG
Huscoke, Shanxi Logistic, the non-controlling shareholder
and the controlling owner of the non-controlling shareholder
(collectively, as the Guarantors of GRG Huscoke) entered into a
settlement agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) regarding
the execution of the Civil Mediation Agreement. Pursuant to the
Settlement Agreement, GRG Huscoke shall settle RMB31,000,000
(equivalent to HK$36,500,000) by instalments by 31 December
2016, and monthly instalments of RMB6,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$7,100,000) from January 2017 onwards until the full
settlement of the outstanding sums (including interest accrued
and to be accrued thereon).

As at 31 December 2018, that the sums owed by GRG Huscoke
to Shanxi Logistic amounted to RMB57,877,000 (equivalent to
HK$65,123,000).

The Group has been in negotiation with Shanxi Logistic to re-
arrange the payment schedule under the Settlement Agreement.
To the best knowledge of the Directors, no further legal action
was lodged by Shanxi Logistics up to the approval date of the
financial statements. In the opinion of the Directors, appropriate
provision has been made in the financial statements as at 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

34.

B AR (4

(b)

/43
(&)
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AR e EMERFRARFR -
RERFE ¢2NBREBEILA
MREESENENHIN _E—=F=
A ZE2—HmFMA—AEK=ZE—H
FHA—HIUZEERRERTER
K (EETE 5B AR % 50,000,0007C
(185 759,035,000/ 75) ° E It » 1L
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(a)

—NET-A=+—RALFE

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 35. HREEALTZRS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere (@) BRUZEHBHREREMFRAFIL LR
in these financial statements, the Group had the following RERRIN  REBRNFABEREA
transactions with related parties during the year: TETIRS
2018 2017
—E-N\E Tt
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
fsF TR T
With the non-controlling shareholder: B FEHERARER -
Sales of electricity HEEN i 1,142 264
Purchases of refined coal RERE i - 169
Purchases of sundry materials REMREIH i - 382
Rental expense HeERY i 1,189 1,150
Disposal of items of property, HENE  BEREHEEE
plant and equipment i - 702
With a related company which is a HEENE
subsidiary of the non-controlling (RIEERBR L MBRE) :
shareholder:
Sales of electricity HEEN i 971 411
Transportation income ISl ON i - 1,051
With related companies which are EEE AT
associates of the non-controlling (RIEERBRR BEDR):
shareholder:
Sales of electricity HEEN i - 1,145
Purchases of raw coal RERE i - 115
With a related company which is held ~ E & A 7]
by a close family member of the (AERBRREREEAL
beneficial owner of the non-controlling EZHEBHE)
shareholder:
Sales of raw coal HERE i 35,884 -
Sales of coke HEHRIK i 44,238 -
Sales of by-products HERIEm i 4,063 -
Purchases of refined coal RERE i 45,558 29,616
With a company which is owned by $%I ZEBAEHE
a member of key management /NG
personnel of the Group:
Sales of by-products PERER i - 112
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

(continued)
Notes:

(i) The transactions were conducted on bases mutually agreed by
the respective parties, with reference to prevailing market rates
or prices similar to those transacted with the Group's third party
customers/suppliers.

(i) The rental expense was charged based on terms mutually agreed
between the contractual parties.

(i) The consideration was determined with reference to the carrying
amount of the property, plant and equipment.

Outstanding balances with related parties

(i) Balances with the non-controlling shareholder at the
end of the reporting period are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(i) A summary of the Group’s balances (before loss allowance)
with other related companies is set out below.

35. HERAEALZXRS(E)

(a)

(b)

(&)

Mt :

() REDEEBITOFAAGE 2%
s e LEY
HARBE= SRS HHEZR
B2 IEBISHT -

(i) B2EXTDETHTHAGEZ
AR -

(i) REDRZYE BERREZIK
HEEE °

HEEATZRERER
() MIFSHREIZRRR 2 &84
e BmAME2 -

(i) AEERAMEEEAR 2N
FREREER) ZBUEHENT -

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—£F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ki FET FATT
Trade receivables from related BB AR 2 2 5 8 WIR X
companies 19 86,683 40,462
Prepayments, deposits, WENE 2 ENRIE
and other receivables from e N H IR 3R
related companies 20 11,464 6,419
98,147 46,881

These related companies are affiliates of the non-controlling
shareholder.
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties (continued)

(if)

(if)

(continued)

With respect to the balances as at 31 December 2016, the
Group and the non-controlling shareholder entered into
an indemnity agreement on 1 March 2017, pursuant to
which the non-controlling shareholder undertook that if any
amounts were not settled by the respective parties at 31
December 2016, it would settle the amounts on their behalf
by monthly instalments of RMB10,000,000 after its new
coking plant started operation in October 2017.

The Group and the non-controlling shareholder renewed
the indemnity agreement on 6 March 2018 to cover the
balances outstanding from affiliates of the non-controlling
shareholder of HK$46,881,000 at 31 December 2017 under
the renewed repayment and asset pledge agreement as
detailed in note 21(iii). On 31 December 2018, the Group
entered into the Debt Assignment as detailed in note 21(iv).
Upon effective of the Debt Assignment, HK$4 1,044,000 will
be taken up by the Debt Assignee.

As at 31 December 2018, included in other borrowings
were loans from a former director of the Company of
HK$1,751,000 (2017: HK$1,751,000) and a director of GRG
Huscoke of HK$3,195,000 (2017: HK$3,195,000). Details
of the terms of these balances are set out in note 25 to the
financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, included in other payable was
loan from a former director of the Company of HK$509,000
(2017: HK$509,000). Details of the terms of these balances
are set out in note 24 to the financial statements.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

35. HEAEALZXRE (E)
(b) HEEBEALZKREBLERE)

(if)

(ii)

(%)

R_E-AFE+-B=t+—HBZ
EHmE  AEERIEERER
R-ZE—+F=F—B:i]VEE
e B IR IR R A
HERLER -_T—RE+A
—t+-BRASBEITNTESE
EHER —_E—+F+ATERR
FInE ERBRERBIEANE
HAR#10,000,000 TEEZ S
B o

AEBRIIFEBRBERA=ZZ—N
F=ZAANBERERZAEE
ETEEREERENZ
OB EE 21 PR s ) BT R =
Tt E+-A=+—RH¥FE
Bl RzEBRABZAEERS
#46,881,000/87TC - R=ZZ— N
F+-A=+—8 A&E@I L
BERERE GR K E21(v) T
i) NEBEEEENE
41,044,000 8 T HHREBZEA
HHE o

R-ZE-N\F+-A=+—8"
FFAEMEEALAR—RA
EZEH1,751,0008 T (=%
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35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

Commitments with a related party

On 30 May 2010, GRG Huscoke entered into a 10-year operating
lease arrangement ending 29 May 2020 with the non-controlling
shareholder to lease the land for the Group's production plants.
Total rental expenses paid to the non-controlling shareholder for
the year are included in note (a) above. The total operating lease
commitments due within one year and in the second to fifth years
as at 31 December 2018 were approximately HK$1,125,000
(2017: HK$1,181,000) and HK$459,000 (2017: HK$1,673,000),

respectively.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year was as follows:

(c)

(d)

35. HERAEALZXRS(E)

HEAEAL ZRIE
R-ZE—ZTERAZTH £ENE
HIFERBRETII0FLLHEER
H(EE-Z-ZEFAA=-TNAA
b)) URAEBEEERBE i -
AEEMTFHERBRR 2 AEHLE
BEHN EXHiE@ R_2FT—N\F
TZA=Z+-B R—ERARE=_ZF
FRFIHMEERERELED
A4 A1,1250008 L (ZE—+F :
1,181,000/ ) ) 459,000 L (=&
—+4F 1,673,000 7T) °

FEEIEEBEASZHMH
EERAMTIZEERREABNFALZ
MEmT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RUREMEA 6,135 5,479
Pension scheme contributions RORAEFRT B 58 29 36
6,164 5,515

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EEME 2 E—FFH
WMKMIEES

i
i
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS
(a) Change in liabilities arising from financing activities

36. ZAREMERMEE

() MEZBRELZAREH

Other Convertible
borrowings bonds Total
Hifg & TBRES kS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—A—H 25,813 36,835 62,648
Net cash flows BEenEFH - - -
Non-cash flows: FRERE
Gain from debt restructuring B EREE (7,669) - (7,669)
Interest accrued JE =78 44 5,842 5,886
Transfer of interest expenses  F| B F T & ZE H At
to other payable JE AR 5K - (1,083) (1,083)
Loss on extinguishment of the B Z T — R FE AR
2016 convertible bonds EFMELZER - 1,362 1,362
Extinguishment of the 2016 BBk ZE—RF
convertible bonds R E S - (42,904) (42,904)
Recognition of 2017 BERRZ-_T—1F
convertible bonds AmRES - 41,375 41,375
As at 31 December 2017and R=-Z—+F
as at 1 January 2018 TZA=t—HK
R=Z2-NF¥—-8F—-H 18,188 4,427 59,615
Net cash flows BeRE T8 - - -
Non-cash flows: FEERE -
Interest accrued EEtRE - 2,099 2,099
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F
+=A=+-A 18,188 43,526 61,714
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36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (continued)
(b) Major non-cash transactions

(a)

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, 129,831,263 ordinary shares of the Company
were issued to acquire the issued shares of EDB at the
market price of HK$0.26 per share during the year ended
31 December 2018.

In addition, the Group also subscribed for 10.5% issued
shares of EDB at cash consideration of approximately
HK$68,048,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB60,000,000), approximately HK$45,008,000 (equivalent
to RMB40,000,000) remained unsettled and was included in
other payable as at 31 December 2018 (Note 24).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the GRG
Huscoke declared a dividend of approximately
HK$56,260,000 (equivalent to RMB50,000,000). The
dividend payable to the non-controlling Shareholder of
approximately HK$5,626,000 (equivalent to RMB5,000,000)

was included in other payable as at 31 December 2018.

36.

GERERERME (F)

(b) EXHREXE

()

MG BEREMT 15
BE HE-_T-N\F+=A
=+ —HLEFE AAFAMN
MEESRKMH0.268 TH#1T
129,831,263 % & i Iz LA Y B8
EDB 2 B #1717 °

o REBRUNBRERE
#)68,048,000/8 7T (FHE R 4
AR #60,000,0007) R
EDBZ 10.5% 2 #1747
45,008,000 7T (HHEN AR
40,000,0007T) W AR Z A BEFA
RZZ—-—NF+ZA=+—B2
Hfth FE IR R (BT 5E24) ©

BE-T—-N\F+ZR=+—
ALEE ¢EMEEREEL
56,260,000/ 7L (IHE N AR
50,000,0007T) ° &R T 3E 4%
% B% 3 2 f% B 495,626,000 7T
(BER AR%5,000,0007T) 5t
ARZE-NF+=ZA=+—H
2 H A AR
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37.
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e M RR M

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

BERES2EMTA
REEHR BRSRTAZIREEDT

2018 —E-N\E
Financial assets PHEE
Financial
assets at Financial
amortised assets
cost at FVPL Total
REHR AR BAREFA
ke e mEE BRZEREE S
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTER FEx TBT
Financial assets at fair value through ¥ AREFF ABZ 2
profit or loss TRAEE - 1,508 1,508
Trade receivables Z 5 e UWIR K 367,083 - 367,083
Financial assets included in SPATENIIE - e Rk
prepayments, deposits and Hofth JE IR 5K 2
other receivables TREE 283,101 - 283,101
Cash and bank balances BeRIRITHER 18,894 - 18,894
669,078 1,508 670,586
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R 8 A A B0k
ZEeRmEeE
HK$’ 000
FiBT
Trade payables 2 S EMNIRK 237,326
Financial liabilities included in other payables STAE MR R R AT IR
and accruals ZERERE 339,795
Other borrowings HifgE 18,188
Convertible bonds ARRES 43,526
638,835
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

37. RERBSZEMIA(E)

2017 ZT—+F
Financial assets 2HEE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables  financial assets Total
BN Rk E AfEEE
YR 3% TREE 85
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESMEE - 1,115 1,115
Trade receivables 2 5 e WIR 5K 267,037 267,037
Financial assets included in STATENFIE - e Rk
prepayments, deposits and HAFEWIRF 2
other receivables TREE 158,983 - 158,983
Cash and bank balances Re RBTHEET 69,655 - 69,655
Cash and bank balances Re RFTHEEF 495,675 1,115 496,790
Financial liabilities ZHEE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
HRE AR IR
ZE@mARE
HK$'000
FHET
Trade payables 2 5 ETIRR 158,188
Financial liabilities included in other payables ST AE IR R R B AT RRIE
and accruals ZEMAE 228,722
Other borrowings HifEE 18,188
Convertible bonds ARRES 41,427
446,525
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38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL 38. ERIEZLARERDAEZREE
INSTRUMENTS
Fair value hierarchy DABEZREE
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of TEREINAEEZERIAEZARERE
the Group’s financial instruments: EHERE
Assets measured at fair value: BARBEHECEE
As at 31 December 2018 R-_FE-NF+-HA=1—H

Fair value measurement using
KATHREBEZAAREFE
Quoted
pricesin  Significant  Significant
active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
RNERT S DN EAFRH
Z8BE HEAE BEEE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B—F8) (=) (B=R) w3
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HKS$’ 000 HK$’000
FERT TER TER TERT
Financial assets mandatorily BEE AN B AER
measured at FVPL HEZEREE 1,508 - - 1,508
Assets measured at fair value: BARBEHECEE:
As at 31 December 2017 Ro-F—+F+-H=+—H
Fair value measurement using
KATIREZ ANERE
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
RIERT S EpNG| EART
2B BRE BRyRE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(F—E) (B=RE) (=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHT FHT
Available-for-sale financial assets HLESRHEE 1,115 - - 1,115

1 84 HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MZEZERER AT
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38.

39.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for
both financial assets and financial liabilities (2017: Nil).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Private club
debentures

The fair value of private club debentures is valued with reference to the

market price quoted on active market.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other borrowings
and convertible bonds. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, cash and bank balances, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are principally
denominated in RMB, US$ and HKS. The Group is exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from the monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in currencies other than functional currencies of the
respective group entities.

Certain of the Group’s liabilities are denominated in US$. The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the exposure of US$
against HK$. The Group considered the impact on the equity and profit
before tax from the change in US$, exchange rate was nominal at the
end of the reporting period since HK$ is pegged to US$.

The Group does not have any hedging instruments outstanding. The
Group will constantly review the economic situation and its foreign
currency risk profile, and will consider appropriate hedging measures
in the future as may be necessary.

38.

39.

EMTAZRRBERDAESREE (Z)
DAEBSFHRE(E)

AEERN HeREERERAGEMS
F-ERE_EZRYEAAETEES
RE-BIEBARBHZER(ZF—t
FE) -

BAREAAREZEMEE RABFT
A%
MWABMBEFZAREBENZERERTS
Z TS REMRE -

e¢MEREEAERBE
AEBEZIEZSRMIABEAMBERA
BRES ZEeRIAZIZEENRSE
SESAGRELERT -AREEET
EHtTRAEREEREE PIMEZRENK
R e RAMRKIER RERET

7 B HEMIRN - E R IR R &
AR ERRBEEEERS -

AEEcBTAZIEZRABRAINERE -
FERRERBDECAR EFERIN
mEEESEABRR K LA mT

ShEEEER

AEBEZEHEE BERRZHIEN
AR® XTRELHE ARERER
BERARGBEANBEERR IMESEEN
SNEREHET A INERR -

AEEETEREUERTHE ARERSX
TUSL A TR EE A 2 T B T A S SN LR
AEBRR ARBTEETES B0
HERRETE RSB HRERRR AR
Mz B8 -

AEEYBEMKRTEHPTA - XEH

BREBEEEERALEIERRAS -
IFE&EWEM%F%WM ZEPHEHE o
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)
Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and bank
balances, trade and other receivables and deposits and amount due
from the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates. Management
has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are

monitored on an ongoing basis.

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position, which is net of loss allowance,
represents the Group’s exposure to credit risk without taking into
account the value of any collateral held or other credit enhancements.

Cash and bank balances

The Group has limited credit risk with its deposits in financial
institutions, which are leading and reputable and are assessed as
having low credit risk. The Group has not suffered any significant
losses arising from the non-performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect this position to change in the future.

Trade receivables

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties
and related parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from trade receivables by

establishing maximum payment period.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. The
credit period is generally 120 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. Advances are required for certain customers. The Directors
consider that these arrangements enable the Group to limit its credit
risk exposure. As at 31 December 2018, approximately 46% (2017:
66%) and 80% (2017: 96%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest and the five largest customer respectively,
there was a significant concentration of credit risk. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances due from customers
other than the non-controlling shareholder (Note 21). Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. ERMBEAKREEEEREE (Z)

(continued)

Credit risk (continueq)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. Credit quality of a customer
is assessed based on an extensive credit rating and individual credit
limit assessment which is mainly based on the Group’s own trading
records.

The Group’s customer base consists of a wide range of clients and the
trade receivables are categorised by common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in
accordance with the contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified
approach in calculating ECL for trade receivables and recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date and has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors
and the economic environment. The expected loss rate used in the
provision matrix is calculated for each category based on the past
three years and adjusted for current and forward-looking factors to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the period over
which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s estimate on future economic conditions over the expected lives
of the receivables. There was no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the year.

The information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade
receivables using a provision matrix as at 31 December 2018 is
summarised below.

FEmRM(Z)

ESEKIRS ()
AEEZEERRIEZERPENER
TE -BEPZEEERNREBERZEEN
B R AE B 15 B PR BB A 1R RE AL - R Bl
FEREFHIIZEEANTEERT 2R
HECEIEL o

AEELEFPERBERZEP MESH
FEURFZARREREE IRKREPR
BANGRTSIN A BRI 2 8 AT
NEARERGFEEHREIRR 2 EY
FEEEBRRERAMLETE RERERY
REZHRACEBARIABRARBLE
BREABEEEFREREVRBREE
WHEBAZFEAMEERRREERS
fEHAE - BEEEARACESRBRE
DERNBE=FRSERETHE  LH
= A0 K A0 HE VR AR A R A IR AR M R R
SHRBE LB - E AR A RAK
58 1B 1 8 e 5% B 18 4 B 70 S0 R R R
MZEFRZER - FABERMIIEL
ZEABRLEZS -

FREERBER -_Z-NF+_-A
=t HERBBEEENE ZRUIRKE
HZRREEERZARAMT -

Gross
Expected carrying Loss Credit-
loss rate amount allowance impaired

REEER BIREE BERE FERE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

FET FET
Not past due PNl - 172,137 - No &
Less than 6 months past due wmE A6 EA 2% 7,997 171 No &
More than 6 months past due B HIE B 6 (E A 22% 239,825 52,705 No &
419,959 52,876
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of loss allowance) as
at 31 December 2017 which were neither individually nor collectively
considered to be impaired was as follows:

39.

SRmBEERREREE(ZF)

EERK (&)

EZERES (&)
RZE—+F+ZRA=+—08"  LFE7
S HREAREESERIRR (RER
BE) 2RO

2017

—E—+F

HK$'000

FET

Neither past due nor impaired 3f 38 A R OB (B 21,699
Less than 6 months past due w6 1E A 594
More than 6 months past due B EAEIRG(E A 215,768
238,061

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance as at 31 December
2017 were debtors with a carrying amount of HK$216,362, which were
past due but which the Group had not impaired as there had not been
any significant changes in credit quality and the Directors believed that
the amounts would be fully recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired as at 31
December 2017 related to a wide range of customers for whom there

was no history of default.

The Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables as at 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil), except for trade receivables from the non-

controlling shareholder.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recognised loss allowance of
HK$52,876,000 (2017: HK$55,331,000) on the trade receivables. The
movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables during the year
is summarised below. The comparative amounts represent the loss
allowance for impairment losses recognised under HKAS 39.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT

AEBR-T—+tF+=-A=+—AH2z%¥
SREKEFEHBEECAREAEET &
1B B 2 1R T (B 5 216,362 78 7T 2 JEUR IR
FREAREEERTEAMENLE:
MARRESRAZETIABAI2EKE -

R_ZE—+F+-_A=+—BAELHR
BREZEKIESEAHRLZ  EFERA
B EIER LR

RZE-NF+_A=+—8 A&£ET
ERESRUERFEEMERR (ZF
—tF &) WIEERBEZE FEKIE
RN o

R-E—N\F+-_B=+—8 A£EH
B 5 e WU 51 FE 7R 85 48 7 85 52,876,000 8
T (ZZF—+%F 55,331,000 7T) ° FA -
BHRKIES  ERBEEZHHALT -
HRSEEBEE B ERFE 305 HER
ZREEE BERE -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39. ERMBEAKREEEEREE (Z)

(continued)

Credit risk (continued) EERK (&)
Trade receivables (continued) EBEZERIRR ()
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BT FHET
At beginning of the reporting period R & ER 55,331 52,266
Increase in allowance BB N 6,429 1,323
Reversal of loss allowance BPIEERE (6,275) (912)
Exchange realignment BE 5 8 2 (2,609) 2,654
At the end of the reporting period RIREHR 52,876 55,331
Other receivables and deposits HERRARES

The Group considers that the other receivables and deposits have low
credit risk based on the debtors’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default.
Impairment on other receivables is measured on 12-month ECL and
reflects the short maturities of the exposures.

In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and whether the financial
asset is credit-impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical
actual credit loss experience on the debtors historical utilisation pattern
of deposits paid and the financial position of the counterparties by
reference to, among others, their management or audited accounts,
and adjusted for forward-looking factors that are specific to the
debtors and general economic conditions of the industry in which the
counterparties operate, in estimating the probability of default of these
financial assets, as well as the loss upon default in each case. The
management of the Group considers the ECL of these financial assets
to be insignificant after taking into account the financial position and
credit quality of the counterparties.

AEERR EMERKERRREHFE
FERR KEREBABBKENRE
HETEANRSREETRRNARE -
H At e YR sk 2 R E iR+ — {8 B FEH
BB BT RMATATERE 2 BRE -

REFRBEEEERINEEEERR
EERENSRAEABENREREER
AHREERER ~AEBECERYUEH
AZERBEAEHARAZNEERE
EFREREXZHEF2HMBMRR 12
E(HPBRE) EERERLERIRE L
BEBABEZABRERERRFHTEE
FEZITEZ —REBEBERELHE - A
AR EEREEZBOBEIUARZER
TZENEE BERRXHHTF ZHHMN
AREEERR AEBEEERR %
FeRMEBEZRAEERBRLAEX -
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B ISR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

39.

(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Amounts due from the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates
In estimating the ECL and in determining whether there is significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition and whether the amount
due from the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates is credit-
impaired, the Group has taken into account the historical actual credit
loss experience on the non-controlling shareholder and its affiliates and
their financial position with reference to their management accounts
and adjusted for forward-looking factor, the Debt Assignment and the
fair value of the Assigned Debt and the Conversion Right received
mentioned in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements, in
estimating the probability of default of the amounts from the non-
controlling shareholder and its affiliates, as well as the loss upon
default. The management of the Group considers that the credit risk
on the amounts is significant, however, their ECL is considered to be
insignificant after taking into consideration of the above factors.

There was no change in the estimation techniques or significant

assumptions made during the year.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of convertible bonds and other

borrowings.

The maturity profile of the financial liabilities of the Group as at the
end of the reporting periods, based on the contractual undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

SRmBEERREREE(ZF)

FEmMg (Z)
BRFZRRRREGE L THE
REFRBREERERMNEEEERAR
=B BT HERE AR 0N BRI A
BREABBRRFETEHREEHRHE
B ASECEEFERRRRABER
AZNEEREEBRERREMBIR -
WTHSEAERIRE SHABERERES
2B EISER A MR B K AT IR
2R 2 DAL (E (AR A B SRR MY A 21
i) - DAfEETRUOHERBRR REBEB A
AR ENBEARENEE ~&H

BRERAR ZEZBZEERRBEX
R B RN ERZR EEHEES

BRAB/LTERX

FAEEEMIIELC EARRYL B2

REBEZER
AEBZBEEREBERIAKES KA
HEEMERECHEMRBEEEME L
RIS 1 o

RIBERR BREFTOERBEENKZ
AEEERABIHBERNT

On demand
or less than 3toless
3 months 12 months 1to 5 years Total
BRERSH 3ZLR
LH3EA 1218 A 1855 w3
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TER FAET TET
2018 —E-N\E
Trade payables B 5 IR 121,344 115,982 - 237,326
Financial liabilities included in other 5+ A E A BT IR 3K -
payables, accruals and deposits [EETRIBEREWIRS
received ZEMEE 338,032 - 1,763 339,795
Other borrowings HifEE - - 18,188 18,188
Convertible bonds MR ES - 45,608 - 45,608
459,376 161,590 19,951 640,917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e VB RRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  39. 2FiEMEBEEBEREE (£)

(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) nEBELER (&)
On demand
or less than 31toless
3 months 12months  1to 5 years Total
RERY CEN
DR3EA 1218 A 1E5F 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
2017 —E—tF
Trade payables B 5 IR T 112,146 46,042 - 158,188

Financial liabilities included in other &+ A E b JE IR 5%
payables, accruals and deposits FEFHFRIB R B WiHZ

received FaA = 226,959 - 1,763 208,722
Other borrowings Hinfg & - - 19,813 19,813
Convertible bonds AR (S 75 - 1,082 44,172 45,254

339,105 47,124 65,748 451,977
Capital management BXRER
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to AEEEAER  HEER  AERALE
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to BAEBBECE ) BEBERZE
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and AULE UXHEEKEE FMEAZ
maximise shareholders’ value. MR (EE
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it AEERBEEBEACEOREBEE L
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics RREE ERHEEAREBIED 3@%
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the RERSIABRERLER AEETER
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital RRRIERE RS MRFRE 2 E $Eﬁ2
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the BEAHR - BHE_E-NFTZA=1—
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years Bk-_ZF—tF+_A=T—HILEFE"
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. VEFRERERZ BIR BRI -
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ARE MR R M EE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 39.

(continued)
Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt

divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes trade payables,

other payables, accruals and deposits received, other borrowings

convertible bonds and tax payable, net of cash and bank balances.

Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the Company. The

gearing ratios as at the end of the respective reporting periods were as

SRmBEERRRBUR (&)

BXEHE(ZE)

ASERREBFRRUNESNAEFRE
AECEERBLEEREARNRR - B
FREBRENKREMBTEFRZES
FERTIRAR - At AT IR IR - AT RBERE
Yize EMEE ARRES RENTUR -
BABRARBHEAARERE -N& B

follows: CHRERRZEERRLERNT
2018 2017
—2-N\F  ZE—tF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Trade payables 2 5 EMNIRK 237,326 158,188
Other payables, accruals and HAnFERIIRS - FERTRIB R
deposits received Bl 629,124 477,343
Other borrowings HifgE 18,188 18,188
Convertible bonds Ak E 5 43,526 41,427
Tax payable IR 5,150 -
Less: Cash and bank balances i RERRITER (18,894) (69,655)
Net debt B EE 914,420 625,491
Capital - Equity attributable to owners EAR-AKREER AEGRE
of the Company 513,001 376,868
Capital and net debt EARERFEE 1,427,421 1,002,359
Net gearing ratio FEEBELE 64% 62%
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 40. AP zBMBERRE
Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at RBERRBEERNRATHERAKR ZER
the end of the reporting period is as follows: wmr
2018 2017
S = s
Note HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
igz3 FAT FHL
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIBARZERE 152,122 104,247
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayment, deposit and other TBRFIE - Be REAM
receivables i Wb 5K 424 413
Bank balances BITHETR 13,909 66,171
Total current assets B EERE 14,333 66,584
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBEE
Other payables and accruals H e IR 51 R JE AT R 4,904 4,325
Convertible bonds AmRES 43,526 -
Total current liabilities DOEIN=EFEE-E 48,430 4,325
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS wE(8R) BEFE (34,097) 62,259
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES EE&AERAEBEE 118,025 166,506
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Amount due to subsidiaries TEfT BT B A Bl IE 167,420 188,402
Other payables and accruals H A FE IR 70 K JE 5+ 5008 666 666
Convertible bonds AR ES - 41,427
Total non-current liabilities FnBEEAE 168,086 230,495
Net liabilities BEFHE (50,061) (63,989)
EQUITY s
Share capital N 27 27,264 25,966
Reserves G (77,325) (89,955)
Total deficit EAl B R (50,061) (63,989)
Approved and authorised for issued by the Board on 28 March 2019 RZE-NF=AZT/\BEEEgiH#
and signed on its behalf by: REETE  UHTHEERRESE
Director Director
EF EE
Mr. ZHAO Xu Guang Mr. SO Chiu Fung
HEXEE Bttt
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+=-A=+—HIFZ

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

40. ADBzHMBRAK (E)

A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARBRELHENT -
Capital Share  Convertible
Share  Contributed Special  redemption option bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
Bk BREE ik
ROEE  #ARS  GARE  EERE fE  BERE  ZHER gt
HKS§'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
ThR ThL ThR ThL T Tk T TEL
(Note ) (Nofe i)
(it (i)
At1 January 2017 RZE-tE-A-A 341,361 141,727 17275 85 3,585 550,200 (2,094.968) (40,735)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive 25 EBERAEE
loss for the year 2EEREE - - - - - - (47,645) (47645)
Conversion of convertible bonds HaTARES - 548,120 - - - (550080) - (1,930)
Extinguishment of the 2016 BERZZE-1E
Convertible Bonds hkER - - - - - (13) - (13)
Transfer of equity component HRRERRAEE
o accumulated losses upon ZEHEE
extinguishment - - - - - (137) 137 -
Recognition of the 2017 BBt
Convertible Bonds TAREH - - - - - 368 - 368
Lapsed share options BAM B EE - - - - (1,076) - 1076 -
At 31 December 2017 and RZZ-tEtZA=1-8
at 1 January 2018 R ZE-N\F-F-H 341,361 1,680,847 17,275 85 2509 368 (2,141,400) (89,955)
Loss for the year and total comprehensive A EBERAFE
loss for the year 2EFRLE - - - - - - (19.828) (19.828)
Share allotment % 32458 - - - - - - 32458
At31 December 2018 WoE-MEZAZH-8 M9 16087 1720 & 2500 ¥ ey (1735
Notes: Wt -
(i) The contributed surplus represents the excess of value of shares () REBREZE-NN—FERGEE40(1)E

converted upon conversion of the 2008 Convertible Bonds over the
previous nominal amount of the ordinary shares issued pursuant to
Section 40(1) of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and the credit arising
from the Capital Reorganisation.

(i) The Company's special reserve represents the excess of the combined

net assets of the subsidiaries acquired over the nominal amount of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisition.

HUSCOKE HOLDINGS LIMITED MEZERAER LT
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BAEBIEI I~ FF )V F o] R (G55
HBZRGEEELEETEBRN TR
BZZFREFBEHELZER
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 HZ =T~ \F+-A=+—HIFE

41.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

In February 2019, the Group and Rontac Resources Company
Limited as the holder of the 2017 Convertible Bonds in the
principal amount of HK$43,277,093 entered into a conditional
extension letter. Pursuant to extension letter, the maturity date of
the 2017 Convertible Bonds be further extended for one year to
31 August 2020.

On 24 December 2018, the Group entered into the non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with Energy Technology
in respect of a possible investment in the Energy Technology
through acquisition or subscription of not more than 30% of its
share capital.

On 31 December 2018, the GRG Huscoke has entered into the
agreement with the Energy Technology, Z&m&EENEILTE
BR A 7] (“Jinyan Electricity”), Xiaoyi ILNG and ;8 5 £, pursuant
to which the Energy Technology shall replace Jinyan Electricity to
repay all outstanding indebtedness owned by Jinyan Electricity
to the GRG Huscoke. The outstanding indebtedness shall be the
outstanding sums which amount RMB402,303,023 as at 30 June
2018. Under the agreement, the conversion right is granted to
the GRG Huscoke. Upon full exercise of the conversion right, the
GRG Huscoke shall be entitled to convert the indebtedness into
not more than 12% of the enlarged issued share capital of the
Energy Technology. The Group will seek the required shareholder
approval at the SGM in accordance with Rule 14.76(2) of the
Listing Rules for the exercise of the conversion rights of the GRG
Huscoke.

On 18 March 2019, the Group entered into a framework
agreement with the GRG Huscoke and the Energy Technology,
pursuant to which the Group, the GRG Huscoke and/or
designated company within the Group intend to gradually invest
in the Energy Technology through a series of acquisition or
subscription such that the Group will be interested in not less
than 51% of the enlarged share capital of the Energy Technology
or having significant control of the Energy Technology.

4.

BEHKESH

(a)

RZZE-NEZA AEEHBRE
RARDA (fERZAE 543,277,093
BTz _T—tFUBRBREFEEA)
B RETER KT - BREBER K
-t FAURRERF SR
BE—FER—FE_T-_TFN\A
=t+—B-

RZZE-N\E+ZAZ+WB &2
AEERB BT L EERANR N 2R
RIETE RAEBARESNREY
TRRHE R Z 1A 30% AR 2 AT B IR & ©

RZE-N\FE+-A=+—H &5

ﬂ%@%ﬁﬂ&\%% REENK
EITERAR (258N - ERR
%&ﬁﬁ%ﬂi%* Bt BERH
RERBEEENEEREENRN
%%ﬂ?Z%B*% EEH -BEZ

- /\i/\ﬂ +E| 13_1 ﬁ‘%ﬁ
AR 402,303,023 TAREES
%%%'%@%%ﬁ%i“ﬂf o &
ENRR2ETELRER  BREE
BREBATBBERERCERD %
TRAZ12% - REBEHRE ETH
AIZE1476Q) 6 EMETHE LI
BERRESIAE ESKATZRER
T’HZ/E"

RZE-NE=ZA+N\B ££E-
SENE KRR L —HIER T
FOBM AKE 2EMER K
FEBRNZETARBEEERS BB~
RGBSR BB AR B RERRE -
FEBREBERRBABERBRA
ALRB1% 2 K EAEERREZ
BREHIE -
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES

=1
Gross floor Attributable
Name/location Lease term Type area interest
£,/ 13 HH 5l BEEE FEfL R
(sq.m.)
(FARXK)
Properties Held for the Group’s Own Use
AEERFBEERZYE
The People’s Republic of China
HEARHFIE
LWAEZEMEEREES SR 1% Medium term lease Cand | 29,148 90%
hHEEE Ckl
C  Commercial c EF
/ Industrial / T2
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LEHBHUE

Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=+—H8L&EE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—EB-N\F ZT—+F ZTE-RFE T-LF —T-NF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET FET FET FHET

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER

Revenue WA 1,478,049 1,330,791 792,518 461,384 598,618
Cost of sales SHE AR (1,232,228) (1,117,808)  (658,103)  (494,878)  (715,756)
Gross profit/(loss) T,/ (E£8) 245,821 212,983 134,415 (33,494)  (117,138)
Other income and gains, net HAth WA R as - % 44,953 45,419 58,891 94,152 36,812
Selling and distribution costs SHE RO A (137,637)  (146,429) (55,949) (23,094) (43,263)
Administrative expenses ERER (103,301) (83,804) (79,608) (97,155) (85,399)
Finance costs B 7% & F (2,200) (8,015) (1,582) (23,964) (21,862)
Other operating Hisg & A/

income/(expenses), net (A%) @ %58 29,243 21,528 12,758 (41,152) (28,193)
Reversal/(provision) impairment 1% - W= K& 8 B

loss on items of MEEERER

property, plant and equipment (B#E) 99,053 84,977 - (14,760)  (448,545)
Impairment of goodwill EERE - - - - (388,544)
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBIRTE R, (E18) 175,932 126,659 68,925  (139,467) (1,096,132
Income tax (expense)/credit st (Ax) /#H% (29,951) 5,254 (8,544) 8,732 190
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ZAFEE&F/ (F#E) 145,981 131,913 60,381 (130,735)  (1,095,942)
Attributable to: JE1h
Owners of the Company RATEAAN 128,391 117,898 55663  (110,474)  (989,409)
Non-controlling interests B ER 17,590 14,015 4,718 (20,261)  (106,533)

145,981 131,913 60,381 (130,735)  (1,095,942)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T FEMEHRE
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EE BERFERES
Year ended 31 December
HE+T-_A=+—HILEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-N\F ZF—tF ZFF —T-LFf —T-AOF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FATT FET FAET FET
TOTAL ASSETS EEBE 1,511,118 1,116,534 955,267 905,285 1,487,467
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHE% (949,630)  (700,565)  (687,662)  (893,941) (1,329,453)
NET ASSETS EEFE 561,488 415,969 267,605 11,344 158,014

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO RNATER AEGRE

OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 513,001 376,868 244,610 1,142 124,994

NON-CONTROLLING FIERES
INTERESTS 48,487 39,101 22,995 10,202 33,020
561,488 415,969 267,605 11,344 158,014
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DEFINITIONS
B

In this report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

RABER - RXESBMEN -

“AGM”
[RAFAE]

“Annual Report”

[F ]

“associate(s)”
(B8 AL

“Board”

-

“Bye-Laws”
IPNSIECEN

“CG Report”

[ERERRE]

“Company”

RN

“Companies Ordinance”

[PNCIEESN

“Director(s)”

[E%)

“ESG Report”

[RIR - HERERARSE]

“Group”
[R&EE]

TIFAZREETIRE

the annual general meeting of the Company
ARRBFTZRRBAFAE

This annual report of the Group prepared for the year ended 31 December 2018
AEEFGRBE_S - \FT_A=+—HIFEZFFH

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
B FmHRAME T2 RE

board of Directors of the Company

AREESFE

the bye-laws from time to time adopted by the Company
ARANERSH 2 A EMAA

the corporate governance report contained in this Annual Report from pages 41 to 57
AERENESTEMHZCEE RS

Huscoke Holdings Limited (formerly known as Huscoke Resources Holdings Limited),
a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, whose issued Shares are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange

MEERERLAR (RE/NEERERERLR) RERETMRIZERAR
HEBTRORBIMERLD

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BRI 622 F (R A&

the directors of the Company

KARES

the environmental, social and governance report contained in this Annual Report from
pages 58 to 74

AEREBETARMBZIRE HENERRE

the Company and its subsidiaries
ARFRENBAA
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DEFINITIONS

B&

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China

(&%) FEARANBEEARFTHE

“HKS” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

&l BREROEEEE BT

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

[ s Al Bt S P8 5 £ AR B

“Memorandum of Association” the memorandum of association of the Company

[EBERAM] KRR HBER KM

“PRC” the People’s Republic of China, excludes Hong Kong and Macau in this Annual Report

[ B FREARKNE  BAERTE - TRESE LR

“‘RMB” Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR FRBRREEEEARE

“SFO” Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

[R5 K& 15&H] BEREHIESTIE(EF LG

“Share(s)” ordinary share(s) of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company

R | AARRAHEFREEN BT LK

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

& [LSHESZEDN

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

[ Bt 32 P | BERABERHMER AT

“subsidiaries” a subsidiary (within the meaning of the Companies Ordinance or section 86 of the
Companies Act) for the time being and from time to time of the Company

Nioy=pNGil RATERRIE2HBAR (BARGIKRRIEL6FE 2 TER)

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of United States

By FERRETESET

“%” per cent

[%)] [Einid
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